Goodman Global Inc Form S-1/A April 05, 2006 Table of Contents

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 5, 2006

Registration No. 333-131597

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE

COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

AMENDMENT NO. 5

TO

FORM S-1

REGISTRATION STATEMENT

Under

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

GOODMAN GLOBAL, INC.

(Exact names of registrants as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 3585 (Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number) 20-1932219 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

2550 North Loop West, Suite 400

Houston, Texas 77092

(713) 861-2500

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code,

of each of the registrants principal executive offices)

Charles A. Carroll

President and Chief Executive Officer

Goodman Global, Inc.

2550 North Loop West, Suite 400

Houston, Texas 77092

(713) 861-2500

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies to:

Ben D. Campbell Gregory Ezring, Esq. Gerald S. Tanenbaum, Esq. **Executive Vice President** Raymond Y. Lin, Esq. Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP **Secretary and General Counsel** Latham & Watkins LLP **80 Pine Street** 2550 North Loop West, Suite 400 885 Third Avenue, Suite 1000 New York, New York 10005 Houston, Texas 77092 New York, New York 10022 (212) 701-3000 (713) 861-2500 (212) 906-1200

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after the effective date of this registration statement.

If any of the securities being registered on this form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box.

If this form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until this registration

statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

Subject to completion, dated April 5, 2006

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS

23,529,411 shares

Common stock

This is an initial public offering of shares of common stock by Goodman Global, Inc. We are offering 20,917,647 shares of our common stock, and the selling shareholders identified in this prospectus are selling an additional 2,611,764 shares. We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling shareholders.

Prior to the offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. It is currently estimated that the initial public offering price per share of our common stock will be between \$16.00 and \$18.00. We have applied to list our common stock for quotation on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol GGL.

	Per share	Total
Initial public offering price	\$	\$
Underwriting discounts and commissions	\$	\$
Proceeds, before expenses, to Goodman Global, Inc.	\$	\$
Proceeds, before expenses, to selling shareholders	\$	\$

Certain shareholders have granted the underwriters an option for a period of 30 days to purchase up to 3,529,411 shares of common stock. We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling shareholders.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. See Risk factors beginning on page 10.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares of common stock to investors on

, 2006.

JPMorgan

Merrill Lynch & Co.

Goldman, Sachs & Co.

Credit Suisse

Deutsche Bank Securities

Lehman Brothers

KeyBanc Capital Markets

, 2006

Table of contents

	Page
Prospectus summary	1
Risk factors	10
Cautionary notice regarding forward-looking statements	22
Market and industry information	22
<u>Use of proceeds</u>	23
Dividend policy	23
Capitalization	24
<u>Dilution</u>	25
Selected consolidated financial data	27
Management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations	31
<u>Business</u>	46
<u>Management</u>	64
Principal and selling shareholders	76
	Page
Certain relationships and related party transactions	80
<u>Description of other indebtedness</u>	81
Material U.S. federal income tax considerations for non-U.S. holders of our common stock	85
Description of capital stock	89
Shares eligible for future sale	93
<u>Underwriting</u>	95
<u>Legal matters</u>	100
<u>Experts</u>	100
Where you can find more information	101
Index to consolidated financial statements	F-1

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus or in any related free writing prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information different from that contained in the prospectus. We are offering to sell, and seeking offers to buy, shares of our common stock only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted.

Prospectus summary

This summary highlights important information about our business contained elsewhere in this prospectus. Because this is only a summary, it does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. Please review this prospectus in its entirety, including Risk factors, Management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, before you decide to invest. Unless otherwise noted, the terms company, we, us and our refer to Goodman Global, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Our company

We are the second largest domestic manufacturer of heating, ventilation and air conditioning, or HVAC, products for residential and light commercial use based on unit sales. Our activities include engineering, manufacturing, assembling, marketing and distributing an extensive line of HVAC and related products. Our products are predominantly marketed under the Goodman® and Amana® brand names. Goodman® is one of the leading HVAC brands in North America and caters to the large segment of the market that is price sensitive and desires reliable and low-cost climate comfort, while our premium Amana® brand includes enhanced features such as higher efficiency and quieter operation. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we generated net sales of \$1,565.4 million, an 18.8% increase as compared to 2004 net sales.

We currently sell our products through a North American distribution network with more than 700 total distribution points comprised of 136 company-operated distribution centers and approximately 140 primarily exclusive independent distributors selling our products in more than 600 of their locations. For the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately 60% of our net sales were made through company-operated distribution centers and our direct sales force with the remainder made through independent distributors. Our company-operated distribution centers in key states such as Texas, California, Arizona, Nevada and Florida, provide us direct access to large and fast growing regions in North America.

Industry overview

The U.S. residential and light commercial HVAC industry is estimated at approximately \$9 billion in annual sales and 11 million units shipped in 2004. We estimate that replacement products currently account for approximately 70% of industry sales, as older units within the large existing base of homes approach the end of their useful lives. The U.S. residential HVAC industry possesses several unique and appealing characteristics, including: (i) a consolidated and stable manufacturing base with the top five domestic manufacturers accounting for over 80% of unit sales; (ii) a fragmented two-tier distribution system consisting of both manufacturer-owned and independent distributors and contractors that sell and install the products for the consumer; (iii) the integral role of contractors in the consumer decision making process; (iv) high switching costs for contractors who have customized their operations to a specific brand to maximize efficiency; and (v) limited exposure to foreign imports due to high shipping costs, low direct-labor content and differences in consumer preferences for single room HVAC systems abroad versus central systems domestically.

The key legislation governing the HVAC industry is the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act of 1987 and related regulations from the U.S. Department of Energy, or DOE.

1

Energy efficiency in air conditioning products is measured by a Seasonal Energy Efficiency Rating, or SEER. Effective January 23, 2006, the federally mandated minimum efficiency standard for central air conditioners and heat pumps manufactured in the United States increased from 10 to 13 SEER, a regulatory change we actively supported. For the year ended December 31, 2004, approximately 90% of industry unit sales were from products that were below 13 SEER.

Our competitive strengths

We believe our competitive strengths include:

Industry Leader. We are the second largest domestic manufacturer of HVAC products for residential and light commercial use based on unit sales. We are a leader in the value sector and have a strengthening position in the premium sector.

Low-Cost, Value Leader Through Efficient Manufacturing. We believe we are one of the lowest cost manufacturers in the HVAC industry. Our engineering and design capabilities, lean manufacturing processes, high workforce productivity and raw material sourcing capabilities allow us to minimize costs while maintaining high product quality.

Well Positioned to Benefit from New 13 SEER Standard. We believe our low-cost manufacturing structure and value-brand position in the market is an advantage as the industry shifts to the generally higher priced 13 SEER federally mandated minimum efficiency standard for central air conditioners and heat pumps. With this shift, we believe consumers will become more price sensitive and the value sector will expand as a proportion of the total HVAC market on a unit basis. As a result, we will have a significant opportunity to grow our business and capture additional market share.

Proprietary Distribution Network. Our proprietary distribution network enables us to maintain close relationships with contractors, effectively communicate our selling proposition, capture incremental distribution margins and better manage inventory. Since January 2004, we opened 44 new sites resulting in an approximate 48% increase in our company-operated distribution center base.

Broad, High-Quality Product Line. We manufacture and market an extensive line of products, including split-system air conditioners and heat pumps, gas furnaces, package units, air handlers, package terminal air conditioners, evaporator coils and accessories. Our products feature up-to-date heat transfer technology and are designed to meet an increasing preference for higher efficiency products.

Strong and Extensive Independent Distributor Network. Our network of over 140 independent distributors, substantially all of whom are exclusive distributors, provides us access to major sales areas not addressed by our company-operated distribution centers. We utilize a consignment strategy with a majority of our independent distributors which allows us to place finished goods directly into the market to meet current demand without burdening our distributors with inventory carrying costs.

Consistent, Strong Cash Flow. We believe the level of our earnings combined with our modest capital expenditure and limited working capital requirements result in the generation of significant free cash flow. In addition, as a result of the acquisition of our business in 2004, we

2

have realized a significant step-up in the tax basis of our assets which is expected to result in a substantial amount of incremental annual tax deductions over the next 14 years.

Proven and Motivated Management Team. Our management team has significant HVAC industry experience and a strong track record of success. The senior management team led by Charles Carroll has over 110 years of industry and related experience.

Our strategy

We intend to increase operating profits and cash flows by continuing to strengthen our position in the residential and light commercial HVAC industry. Key elements of our strategy include the following:

Capitalize on Growth Opportunities from 13 SEER Transition. We have been designing and selling cost-effective and competitive 13 SEER products for more than ten years, and our low-cost leadership position enables us to price our products at a significant discount to our competition. Generally, 13 SEER products sell at a significant premium compared to 10 SEER products, and we expect the change in minimum efficiency standards to increase our average unit selling price as well as overall industry revenue. We have previously been successful increasing our unit volume market share during periods of transition to higher federally mandated minimum efficiency standards.

Maintain Low-Cost Leadership Position. Our value proposition is driven by low-cost design and lean manufacturing processes. We intend to maintain our cost leadership position by continuing to design low-cost products, increasing production efficiencies, improving our raw material and component sourcing and reducing our working capital investment, overhead and other expenses.

Realize Benefits of Recent Distribution Center Openings and Further Increase Coverage Density. As new distribution centers opened since January 2004 continue to mature, we believe we will increase our net sales and profitability without significant incremental capital expenditures. We plan to opportunistically expand our company-operated distribution center footprint in targeted North American markets and grow our market share.

Strengthen Independent Distributor Network. We maintain strong relationships with an extensive independent distributor network, which provides us efficient access to certain geographies not addressed by our company-operated distribution centers. We employ a number of programs to provide appropriate incentives to our independent distributors, while avoiding expensive brand marketing campaigns.

Continue to Enhance Brand Awareness and Understanding of Goodman Value Proposition to Contractors. We maintain a continuous effort to educate contractors about the quality of our product line and the economic benefits they can receive by choosing our products. We believe that contractors become increasingly loyal as they become accustomed to the installation and service of a particular product and brand.

Risks related to our business

Our ability to execute our strategy is subject to risks, including those that are generally associated with the HVAC industry. For example, weather fluctuations may adversely affect our operating results and our ability to maintain our sales volume. Our operations may be adversely affected by

3

increased competition and technological changes, significant increases in the cost of raw materials and components, a decline in our relations with key distributors, increased product liability and product warranty claims, costs of complying with environmental and other regulatory authorities and labor disputes with our employees. These and other factors described in this prospectus under Risk Factors may limit our ability to successfully execute our business strategy.

Recapitalization and recent financings

On December 23, 2004, Apollo Management, L.P., or Apollo, through its affiliate, Frio Holdings LLC, acquired our business from Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., a Texas corporation, which we refer to as the Seller, pursuant to which we acquired all of the equity interests of the direct and indirect operating subsidiaries held by the Seller and substantially all of the assets and liabilities of the Seller, other than certain excluded assets and certain excluded liabilities. We refer to this transaction throughout this prospectus as the Acquisition.

In connection with the Acquisition, affiliates of Apollo, certain trusts related to members of the Goodman family, which we refer to as the Goodman family trusts, and certain members of our senior management contributed approximately \$477.5 million in cash to us in exchange for equity, which consisted of \$225.0 million of our 9.5% Series A Cumulative Senior Redeemable Exchangeable Preferred Stock, or the Series A Preferred Stock, and \$252.5 million of our common stock. This amount was in turn contributed to our subsidiary, Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., or Goodman Global Holdings, as common equity, which we refer to as the Equity Contribution. The Goodman family trusts have invested approximately \$10.0 million and members of our senior management have invested approximately \$18.2 million in us. In exchange for the Equity Contribution, affiliates of Apollo, the Goodman family trusts and certain members of our senior management received a combination of our common stock and our Series A Preferred Stock. On December 23, 2004, in connection with the Acquisition, we issued \$250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 78% Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2012, or floating rate notes, and \$400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 78% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2012, or fixed rate notes, in a private placement under Rule 144A and Regulation S of the Securities Act which, together, we refer to as the December notes offering. In connection with the December notes offering, we refer to as the Transactions.

Additional information

Our principal executive offices are located at 2550 North Loop West, Suite 400, Houston, Texas 77092. Our telephone number is (713) 861-2500. Our website address is http://www.goodmanglobal.com. Information on our website is not considered part of this prospectus.

4

The offering

Shares of common stock offered by us 20,917,647 shares

Shares of common stock offered by the selling shareholders 2,611,764 shares

Common stock to be outstanding after this offering 68,889,837 shares

Use of proceeds We estimate that the net proceeds to us of this offering, after

deducting underwriting discounts and estimated offering expenses, will be approximately \$330.2 million. We intend to use all of the net proceeds to (i) redeem all of our outstanding Series A Preferred Stock with an aggregate liquidation preference and accrued and unpaid dividends of approximately \$255.5 million and (ii) redeem up to \$70.7 million in aggregate principal amount of our floating rate notes at a price of 102% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest up to June 15, 2006, the redemption date. We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of common stock by

the selling shareholders. See Use of proceeds.

Dividends We have never paid any dividends on our common stock and do not

anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the

foreseeable future. See Dividend policy.

Listing We have applied to have our common stock listed on the New York

Stock Exchange under the trading symbol GGL.

The number of shares of common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 47,972,190 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 15, 2006, and excludes 4,650,935 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options as of March 15, 2006 (of which options to acquire 1,360,610 shares of common stock will be vested upon consummation of this offering).

Except as otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus:

gives effect to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which we will file immediately prior to the completion of this offering, effecting a 7.580345-for-1 stock split of our outstanding common stock;

assumes an initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share, the midpoint of the offering range set forth on the cover of this preliminary prospectus; and

assumes no exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase 3,529,411 shares of our common stock from the selling shareholders in this offering to cover over-allotments.

Benefits to affiliates

The Goodman family trusts and Frio Holdings LLC, an affiliate of Apollo, are selling shareholders in this offering. The net proceeds to the Goodman family trusts and Frio Holdings LLC, from the sale of shares in this offering after deducting underwriting discounts, will be approximately \$9.2 million and \$29.7 million, respectively. In addition, Frio Holdings LLC, the Goodman family trusts and certain members of our senior management will receive approximately \$255.5 million in connection with the redemption of our outstanding Series A Preferred Stock with the net proceeds from the sale of shares by us. Messrs. Berg, Martinez and Civale, each affiliates of Apollo, and Mr. Goodman, an affiliate of the Goodman family trusts, are each directors on our board of directors and each approved this offering.

Risk factors

Before making an investment in our common stock, you should consider carefully the information included in the Risk factors section beginning on page 10 of this prospectus, as well as the other information contained in this prospectus.

6

Summary consolidated financial data

The following table presents our summary consolidated financial data. The following summary consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified by reference to, our Management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations and our consolidated financial statements and the notes included elsewhere in this prospectus, as well as other financial information included elsewhere in this prospectus.

The consolidated statement of operations data for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus, and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, which we refer to throughout this prospectus as GAAP. The 2004 financial data is a combination of the Predecessor and Successor statements disclosed in our consolidated financial statements except for earnings per share data which is derived directly from our consolidated statements.

		Year ended December 31,				
		2003		2004		2005
	(doll	(dollars in thousands, except share data				re data)
Consolidated statement of operations data:						
Sales, net(1)	\$ 1,19	2,671	\$ 1.	317,580	\$ 1.	565,406
Cost of goods sold		5,272	1.	024,426		243,408
Selling, general and administrative expenses	14	7,687		220,551		170,077
Depreciation and amortization expense	1	4,851		18,887		37,717
Operating profit	11	4,861		53,716		114,204
Interest expense, net	2	6,081		12,478		74,213
Other income, net		(331)		(1,406)		(706)
Earnings before income taxes	8	9,111		42,644		40,697
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes		1,745		(5,049)		15,817
Net income	\$ 8	7,366	\$	47,693	\$	24,880
Less: Preferred stock dividend				528		22,512
Net income available to common shareholders	\$ 8	7,366	\$	47,165	\$	2,368
			_			
Pro forma tax expense(2)	\$ (3	2,563)	\$	(21,069)		
Pro forma net income available to common shareholders(2)	\$ 5	4,803	\$	26,096	\$	2,368

7

Table of Contents					
		Year ended December 31,			
	2003		2004		2005
	(de	(dollars in thousands, except share da			
Per share data:					
Earnings per share					
Basic				\$	0.05
Diluted				\$	0.05
Pro forma tax effect(2)				\$	0.05
Weighted average shares outstanding					
Basic		47,931,770			
Diluted				4	8,182,096
As adjusted statement of operations data:(3) As adjusted net income				\$	15,072
As adjusted her income As adjusted earnings per share				Ф	15,072
Basic				\$	0.22
Diluted				\$	0.22
As adjusted weighted average shares outstanding				Ψ	0.22
Basic				6	8,849,417
Diluted					9,099,743
Statement of cash flows data:					· ·
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	\$ 150,807	\$	(18,558)	\$	105,519
Net cash used in investing activities	ψ 130,807		(10,530)	Ψ	(24,957)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	(167,856	,	1,494,677		(60,639)
Other financial data:	(,000	,	., ,		(00,000)
	¢ 120 042	ф	74.000	ф	150 607
EBITDA(4)(5)	\$ 130,043 \$ 16,801		74,009	\$ \$	152,627
Capital expenditures	φ 10,601	Ф	27,772	Φ	28,806

	A3 01
December	31, 2005

As of

Actual	As adjusted(6)
Actual	As adjusted(b)

(dollars in thousands)

Consolidated balance sheet data (at period end):		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 23,779	\$ 23,779
Total assets	1,621,537	1,627,466
Total debt, including current portion	961,375	899,950
Redeemable preferred stock	225,570	
Shareholders equity	107,815	424,020

⁽¹⁾ Sales are presented net of certain rebates paid to customers. See Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations and the notes to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

⁽²⁾ Represents the estimated tax effect on our results of operations in connection with the Acquisition. The predecessor company was incorporated under Subchapter S of the Internal Revenue Code with substantially all corporate earnings taxed at the shareholder level. The successor company is incorporated under Subchapter C of the Internal Revenue Code, and thus we have adjusted the income tax effect. The

tax rate used for pro forma purposes as a C corporation is 38.5%, which has been applied to earnings before income taxes.

(3) The as adjusted statement of operations data gives effect to this offering, at a price of \$17.00 per share, and the use of proceeds therefrom, and the payment of \$16.0 million to Apollo in connection with the termination of our management agreement upon consummation of this offering, as if this offering and the payment to Apollo was consummated at the beginning of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

Set forth below is an unaudited reconciliation of net income to as adjusted net income:

Year ended December 31, 2005

(dollars in thousands)

Net income	\$ 24,880
Adjustment to increase selling, general and administrative expenses(a)	(16,000)
Adjustment to decrease interest expense, net(b)	52
Adjustment to benefit from income taxes	6,140
As adjusted net income	\$ 15,072

8

- (a) The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses reflects a \$16.0 million non-recurring fee paid to Apollo in connection with the termination of our management agreement upon consummation of this offering. Net income also includes a \$2.0 million fee for the annual management fee paid to Apollo during 2005.
- (b) The decrease in interest expense reflects the decrease in interest cost of \$4.4 million as a result of this offering and the use of proceeds to pay down our floating rate notes, net of the write off of deferred financing costs of \$2.8 million and the premium paid to redeem the floating rate notes of \$1.5 million.
- (4) EBITDA consists of earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a measure commonly used in the HVAC industry, and we present EBITDA to enhance your understanding of our operating performance. We use EBITDA as one criterion for evaluating our performance relative to that of our peers. We believe that EBITDA is an operating performance measure, and not a liquidity measure, that provides investors and analysts with a measure of operating results unaffected by differences in capital structures, capital investment cycles and ages of related assets among otherwise comparable companies. However, EBITDA is not a measurement of financial performance under GAAP, and our EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. You should not consider our EBITDA as an alternative to operating or net income, determined in accordance with GAAP, as an indicator of our operating performance, or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities, determined in accordance with GAAP, as an indicator of cash flows, or as a measure of liquidity.

Set forth below is an unaudited reconciliation of net income to EBITDA.

		Y	ear ended	
		December 31,		
	2003	2004	2005	
		(dollars i	n millions)	
Net income	\$ 87.4	\$ 47.7	\$ 24.9	
Income tax expense (benefit)	1.7	(5.1)	15.8	
Interest expense, net	26.1	12.5	74.2	
Depreciation and amortization	14.8	18.9	37.7	
EBITDA	\$ 130.0	\$ 74.0	\$ 152.6	

(5) EBITDA for each of the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 was affected by the charges set forth below:

		Year ended December 31,		
	2003	2004	2005	
		(dollars in	millions)	
Non-recurring transaction expenses(a)		\$ 68.8		
Non-recurring, non-cash charge in connection with inventory step-up(b)		\$ 4.4	\$ 39.6	
Non-recurring product-related expense accrual(c)	\$ 15.0	\$ (10.0)		
Monitoring fee(d)			\$ 2.0	
Non-recurring supplemental incentive bonuses		\$ 4.0		

⁽a) Non-recurring transaction expenses represent expenses attributable to incentive compensation fees and transaction fees incurred in the fourth quarter of 2004.

- (b) Non-recurring, non-cash charge in connection with inventory step-up represents non-recurring expenses incurred in the fourth quarter of 2004 and the first quarter of 2005 related to the effect of the inventory valuation step-up resulting from the Acquisition.
- (c) Represents the establishment of a reserve for a non-recurring product-related expense accrual and the subsequent partial reversal of such reserve in September 2004.
- (d) Represents the annual monitoring fee to Apollo.

See Management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operation.

(6) The as adjusted consolidated balance sheet data reflects the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005, adjusted for this offering and the use of proceeds therefrom. A \$1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share would increase (decrease) each of cash and cash equivalents, and shareholders equity by \$20.9 million, assuming the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this preliminary prospectus, remains the same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

9

Risk factors

Participation in our offering of common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following factors, in addition to the other information contained in this prospectus, in deciding whether to participate in our offering of common stock. This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such differences include those discussed below.

Risks related to our business

Changes in weather patterns and seasonal fluctuations may adversely affect our operating results.

Weather fluctuations may adversely affect our operating results and our ability to maintain our sales volume. Our operations may be adversely affected by unseasonably warm weather in the months of November to February and unseasonably cool weather in the months of May to August, which has the effect of diminishing customer demand for heating and air conditioning and decreasing our sales volumes. Many of our operating expenses are fixed and cannot be reduced during periods of decreased demand for our products. Accordingly, our results of operations will be negatively impacted in quarters with lower sales due to such weather fluctuations. In addition, our sales volumes and operating results in certain regions can be negatively impacted during inclement weather in these regions. For example, during the summer of 2004, several hurricanes and other tropical weather systems struck the southeastern United States resulting in an estimated \$6.2 million reduction in our operating profit for 2004.

In addition, our quarterly results may vary significantly. Although there is demand for our products throughout the year, in each of the past three years approximately 55% to 58% of our total sales occurred in the second and third quarters of the fiscal year. Our peak production occurs in the first and the second quarters in anticipation of our peak sales quarters. Therefore, quarterly comparisons of our sales and operating results should not be relied on as an indication of future performance, and the results of any quarterly period may not be indicative of expected results for a full year.

Increased competition and technological changes and advances may reduce our market share and our future sales.

The production and sale of HVAC equipment by manufacturers is highly competitive. According to industry sources, the top five domestic manufacturers (including us) represented approximately 80% of the unit sales in the U.S. residential and light commercial HVAC market in 2004. Our four largest competitors in this market are Carrier Corporation, American Standard (which includes Trane® and American Standard® brand products), Lennox International, Inc. and Rheem Manufacturing Company. Several of our competitors may have greater financial and other resources than we have. A number of factors affect competition in the HVAC industry, including an increasing emphasis on the development of more efficient HVAC products. Existing and future competitive pressures may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations, including pricing pressure if our competitors improve their cost structure. In addition, our company-operated distribution centers face competition from independent distributors and contractors owned by our competitors, some of whom may be able to provide their products or services at lower prices than we can. We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competition and current and future competitive pressures faced by us may adversely affect our profitability and performance.

There is currently an effort underway in the United States by several companies to purchase independent distributors and contractors and consolidate them into large enterprises. These consolidated enterprises may be able to exert pressure on us to reduce prices. Additionally, these new enterprises tend to emphasize their company name, rather than the brand of the manufacturer, in their promotional activities, which could lead to dilution of the importance and value of our brand names. Future price reductions and any brand dilution caused by the consolidation among HVAC distributors and contractors could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Significant increases in the cost of raw materials and components have, and may continue to, reduce our operating margins. In addition, a decline in our relationships with key suppliers may have an adverse effect on our business.

Our operations depend on the supply of various raw materials and components, including steel, copper, aluminum, refrigerants, motors and compressors, from domestic and foreign suppliers. We do not typically enter into long-term supply contracts for raw materials and components. In addition, we generally do not hedge against our supply requirements. However, our suppliers may discontinue to provide products to us at attractive prices, and we may be unable to obtain such products in the future from these or other providers on the scale and within the time frames we require. If a key supplier were unable or unwilling to meet our supply requirements, we could experience supply interruptions and/or cost increases which (to the extent that we are not able to find alternate suppliers or pass these additional costs onto our customers) could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. To the extent any of our suppliers experiences a shortage of components that we purchase, we may not receive shipments of those components and, if we were unable to obtain substitute components on a timely basis, our production would be impaired. For example, in the second quarter of 2004 we experienced supply interruptions for steel, copper and aluminum. These supply interruptions resulted in periodic production disruptions and higher transportation costs.

In 2004, commodity prices rose significantly to levels well above prices seen in the past decade. These commodity cost increases negatively affected our net income in 2004. Effective September 1, 2004, we increased prices by up to 5% on a majority of our products in response to these increases in commodity costs. Effective January 1, 2005, we further increased prices up to 7% on the majority of our products. Commodity costs have continued to increase. To address these increases, we announced a price increase of 5% effective April 1, 2006, with respect to certain of our products. We believe our price increases will allow us to recapture lost profit margin. However, these price increases may reduce demand for our products. A continued high level of commodity prices or a further increase in commodity prices could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. In addition, we may not be able to further increase the price of our products or reduce our costs to offset the higher commodity prices.

A decline in our relations with our key distributors may adversely affect our business.

Our operations also depend upon our ability to maintain our relations with our independent distributors. While we generally enter into contracts with our independent distributors, these contracts typically last for one year and can be terminated by either party upon 30 days notice. If our key distributors are unwilling to continue to sell our products or if our key distributors merge with or are purchased by a competitor, we could experience a decline in sales. If we are unable to replace such distributors or otherwise replace the resulting loss of sales, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. For the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately 40% of our net sales were made through our independent distributors.

Table of Contents 25

11

Damage or injury caused by our products could result in material liabilities associated with product recalls or reworks.

In the event we produce a product that is alleged to contain a design or manufacturing defect, we could be required to incur costs involved to recall or rework that product. In September 2004, we initiated a voluntary corrective action plan, or CAP, regarding a discontinued design of certain Amana®, Trane® and American Standard® brand Package Terminal Air Conditioner/Heat Pump, or PTAC, units manufactured by one of our subsidiaries. Under the CAP, we will provide a new thermal limit switch to commercial and institutional PTAC owners. Installation of these switches will be at the commercial or institutional owners expense, except in special and limited circumstances (e.g., financial hardship). Pursuant to the CAP, we will pay the cost of installing the replacement switch for any individual homeowner having a PTAC unit in his/her residence. We have established a reserve relating to the CAP in an amount that we believe is appropriate. The costs required to recall or rework any defective products could be material, which may have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, our reputation for safety and quality is essential to maintaining our market share. Any recalls or reworks may adversely affect our reputation as a manufacturer of high-quality, safe products and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We may incur material costs as a result of product liability or warranty claims which would negatively affect our profitability.

The development, manufacture, sale and use of our products involve a risk of product liability and warranty claims, including personal injury and property damage arising from fire, soot, mold and carbon monoxide. We currently carry insurance and maintain reserves for potential product liability claims. However, our insurance coverage may be inadequate if such claims do arise and any liability not covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our business. To date, we have been able to obtain insurance in amounts we believe to be appropriate to cover such liability. However, our insurance premiums may increase in the future as a consequence of conditions in the insurance business generally or our situation in particular. Any such increase could result in lower profits or cause the need to reduce our insurance coverage. In addition, a future claim may be brought against us which would have a material adverse effect on us. Any product liability claim may also include the imposition of punitive damages, the award of which, pursuant to certain state laws, may not be covered by insurance. Our product liability insurance policies have limits that if exceeded, may result in material costs that would have an adverse effect on our future profitability. In addition, warranty claims are not covered by our product liability insurance. Any product liability or warranty issues may adversely affect our reputation as a manufacturer of high-quality, safe products and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business could be hurt by economic downturns.

Our business is affected by a number of economic factors, including the level of economic activity in the markets in which we operate. A decline in economic activity in the United States could materially affect our financial condition and results of operation. Sales in the residential and commercial new construction market correlate closely to the number of new homes and buildings that are built, which in turn is influenced by factors such as interest rates, inflation, consumers spending habits, employment rates and other macroeconomic factors over which we have no control. Any decline in economic activity as a result of these factors typically results in a decline in new construction and replacement purchases, which would result in a decrease in our sales volume and profitability.

The cost of complying with laws relating to the protection of the environment and worker safety may be significant.

We are subject to extensive federal, state, municipal, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to the protection of human health and the environment, including those limiting the discharge of pollutants into the environment and those regulating the treatment, storage, disposal and remediation of, and exposure to, solid and hazardous wastes and hazardous materials. Certain environmental laws and regulations impose strict joint and several liability on potentially responsible parties, including past and present owners and operators of sites, to clean up, or contribute to the cost of cleaning up sites at which hazardous wastes or materials were disposed or released. We are currently, and may in the future be, required to incur costs relating to the investigation or remediation of such sites, including sites where we have, or may have, disposed of our waste. See Business Environmental, health and safety matters.

We believe that we are in material compliance with all current environmental laws and regulations, many of which provide for substantial fines and criminal sanctions for violations. Nonetheless, we expect to incur expenses to maintain such compliance and it is possible that more stringent environmental laws and regulations, more vigorous enforcement or a new interpretation of existing laws and regulations could require us to incur additional costs and penalties. Further, existing or future circumstances, such as the discovery of new or materially different environmental conditions, could cause us to incur additional costs that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We are also subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to worker safety. In October 2004, we reached an agreement with the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, or OSHA, to resolve certain matters identified during an OSHA inspection at our Houston Furnace and Cooling plants. We did not admit any violations of the Occupational Safety and Health Act or OSHA standards, but we did agree, among other things, to address certain issues identified by OSHA during its inspection and to pay OSHA a penalty of \$277,000. We have paid the penalty and are currently conducting certain actions required by this settlement, including the installation of certain machine guarding. We expect to make capital expenditures at these and other facilities to improve worker health and safety. Expenditures at these and any other facilities to assure compliance with OSHA standards could be significant, and we may become subject to additional liabilities relating to our facilities in the future. In addition, future inspections at these or other facilities may result in additional actions by OSHA.

Effective January 23, 2006, federal regulations mandated an increase in the minimum SEER from 10 to 13 for central air conditioners and heat pumps manufactured in the United States. The required efficiency levels for our products may be further increased in the future by the relevant regulatory authorities. Any future changes in required efficiency levels or other government regulations could adversely affect our industry and our business.

We also currently use a refrigerant that the United States Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, is in the process of phasing out. We believe that neither the current regulations limiting refrigerants nor any reasonably anticipated phase-out of refrigerants will have a material adverse impact on our operations. See Business Environmental refrigerant regulation.

13

Labor disputes with our employees could interrupt our operations and adversely affect our business.

We are a party to a collective bargaining agreement with the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers and Affiliates that, as of December 30, 2005, represented approximately 30% of our employees. This agreement covers all hourly employees at our manufacturing facility in Fayetteville, Tennessee and is scheduled to expire in December 2009. If we are unable to successfully negotiate acceptable terms with this union, our operating costs could increase as a result of higher wages or benefits paid to union members, or if we fail to reach an agreement with the union, our operations could be disrupted. Either event could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, there have been in the past, and may be in

the future, attempts to unionize our non-union facilities. If employees at our non-union facilities are able to unionize in the future, our operating costs could increase. See Business Employees.

Our business operations could be significantly disrupted if we lose members of our management team.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our executive officers and key employees, both individually and as a group. For example, we have longstanding relationships with most of our independent distributors. In many cases, these relationships have been formed over a period of years through personal networks involving our key personnel. The loss of these personnel could potentially disrupt these longstanding relationships and adversely affect our business. We have employment agreements with only two members of our senior management. Our future performance will be substantially dependent on our ability to retain and motivate our management. The loss of the services of any of our executive officers or key employees could prevent us from executing our business strategy.

We may be adversely affected by any natural or man-made disruptions to our distribution and manufacturing facilities.

We are a manufacturing company that is heavily dependent on our manufacturing and distribution facilities in order to maintain our business and remain competitive. Any serious disruption to a significant portion of our distribution or manufacturing facilities resulting from fire, earthquake, weather-related events, an act of terrorism or any other cause could materially impair our ability to manufacture and distribute our products to customers. Moreover, we could incur significantly higher costs and longer lead times associated with manufacturing or distributing our products to our customers during the time that it takes for us to reopen or replace damaged facilities. Many of our facilities are located at or near Houston, Texas, which is in close proximity to the Gulf of Mexico. This region is particularly susceptible to natural disruptions, as evidenced by the recent hurricanes in 2004 and 2005. If any of these events were to occur, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

If we are unable to access funds generated by our subsidiaries we may not be able to meet our financial obligations.

Because we conduct many of our operations through our subsidiaries, we depend on those entities for dividends, distributions and other payments to generate the funds necessary to meet our financial obligations. Legal and contractual restrictions in certain agreements governing current and future indebtedness of our subsidiaries, as well as the financial condition and

operating requirements of our subsidiaries, may limit our ability to obtain cash from our subsidiaries. All of our subsidiaries are separate and independent legal entities and have no obligation whatsoever to pay any dividends, distributions or other payments to us.

Our business operations could be negatively impacted if we fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights or if third parties claim that we are in violation of their intellectual property rights.

Our products are marketed primarily under the Goodman®, Amana® and Quietflex® names and, as such, we are dependent on those brand names. Failure to protect these brand names and other intellectual property rights or prevent their unauthorized use by third parties could adversely affect our business. We seek to protect our intellectual property rights through a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, as well as licensing and confidentiality agreements. These protections may not be adequate to prevent competitors from copying or reverse engineering our products, or from developing and marketing products that are substantially equivalent to or superior to our own. In addition, we face the risk of claims that we are infringing third parties intellectual property rights. Any such claim, even if it is without merit, could be expensive and time-consuming; could cause us to cease making, using or selling certain products that incorporate the disputed intellectual property; could require us to redesign our products, if feasible; could divert management time and attention; and could require us to enter into costly royalty or licensing arrangements.

We may lose the right to use the Amana® name which may have an adverse effect on our business.

Under an agreement between the Amana Society and Amana Refrigeration, Inc., Amana Refrigeration, Inc. agreed that it would discontinue the use of the Amana® name in its corporate name or in connection with any other business enterprise if it were ever to abandon manufacturing operations in Amana, Iowa. Maytag purchased the Amana appliance business in July 2001 and now controls the manufacturing operations in Amana, Iowa. We maintained the right to use the Amana® name and trademark under a license agreement with Maytag. Prior to a cessation of such operation or following a decision by Maytag to not maintain trademark registrations for the Amana® name, Maytag has agreed to consult with us and provide reasonable assistance to us so that we may register the Amana® name as a trademark. However, we have no control over Maytag s decision to continue operations at that facility, and if such operations are discontinued, it is possible that we could lose the right to use the Amana® name in connection with our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations under our senior secured credit facilities, fixed rate notes and floating rate notes.

We now have and will continue to have a significant amount of indebtedness. This indebtedness exposes us to risks that some of our primary competitors, with less outstanding indebtedness, do not face. On December 31, 2005, after giving effect to this offering and the use of proceeds therefrom, we would have had \$900.0 million of indebtedness outstanding, excluding approximately \$37.2 million of letters of credit and up to \$121.8 million of additional indebtedness that may be borrowed under our revolving credit facility.

Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences to our business. For example, it could:

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our outstanding indebtedness;

increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, research and development efforts and other general corporate purposes;

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

limit our ability to borrow additional funds.

In addition, our senior secured credit facilities, fixed rate indenture and floating rate indenture contain financial and other restrictive covenants that limit our ability to engage in activities that may be in our long-term best interests. Our failure to comply with those covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of all of our debts. Our indentures and our senior secured credit facilities contain cross-default and cross- acceleration provisions such that an event of default under our indentures or the acceleration of amounts outstanding under our indentures will cause an event of default and/or an acceleration of amounts outstanding under our senior secured credit facilities. If all of our indebtedness was accelerated, it is possible that we will not have sufficient funds at the time of acceleration to repay our indebtedness, which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue as a going concern.

To service our indebtedness, we will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our control.

Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness, and to fund planned capital expenditures and research and development efforts will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. This is a risk that some of our primary competitors, with less outstanding indebtedness, do not face. Our future cash flows are dependent on the level of our earnings, our capital expenditure and working capital requirements and the amount of our tax payments. Our ability to generate future cash flows, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.

Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations and future borrowings may not be available to us under our senior secured credit facilities or otherwise in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness, or to fund our other liquidity needs. We may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness, on or before the maturity thereof. In addition, we may be unable to refinance any of our indebtedness, on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

A substantial portion of our indebtedness is at a variable rate of interest, which could increase our interest expense in the event interest rates rise.

Certain of our indebtedness bears interest at rates that fluctuate with changes in certain prevailing interest rates. After giving effect to this offering and the use of proceeds therefrom,

16

a 1% increase or decrease in the interest rate would result in approximately a \$2.8 million increase or decrease in our interest expense on our variable rate indebtedness, respectively. If interest rates increase dramatically, we may be unable to meet our debt service obligations.

Risks related to our common stock

There is no existing market for our common stock, and we do not know if one will develop to provide you with adequate liquidity.

Prior to this offering, there has not been a public market for our common stock. We cannot predict the extent to which investor interest in our company will lead to the development of an active trading market on the New York Stock Exchange or otherwise or how liquid that market might become. If an active trading market does not develop, you may have difficulty selling any of our common stock that you buy. The initial public offering price for the common stock will be determined by negotiations between us and the representatives of the underwriters and may not be indicative of prices that will prevail in the open market following this offering. Consequently, you may not be able to sell our common stock at prices equal to or greater than the price you paid in this offering.

The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent you from being able to sell your common stock at or above the price you paid for your common stock. The market price of our common stock could fluctuate significantly for various reasons, including:

our operating and financial performance and prospects;

our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry;

the public s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC;

changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by research analysts who track our common stock or the stock of other companies in our industry;

strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

changes in general conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism or responses to such events; and

sales of common stock by us or members of our management team.

In addition, in recent years, the stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant impact on the market price of securities issued by many companies, including companies in our industry. The changes frequently appear to occur without regard to the operating performance of the affected companies. Hence, the price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with our company, and these fluctuations could materially reduce our share price.

17

Delaware law and our charter documents may impede or discourage a takeover, which could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

We are a Delaware corporation, and the anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law impose various impediments to the ability of a third party to acquire control of us, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing shareholders. In addition, provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may also make it more difficult for, or prevent a third party from, acquiring control of us without the approval of our board of directors. These provisions include:

a staggered board of directors;

the sole power of a majority of our board of directors to fix the number of directors;

limitations on the removal of directors;

the sole power of our board of directors to fill any vacancy on our board, whether such vacancy occurs as a result of an increase in the number of directors or otherwise;

the ability of our board of directors to designate one or more series of preferred stock and issue preferred stock without shareholder approval; and

the inability of shareholders to act by written consent or to call special meetings.

Our incorporation under Delaware law, the ability of our board of directors to create and issue a new series of preferred stock and certain other provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws could impede a merger, takeover or other business combination involving us or the replacement of our management or discourage a potential investor from making a tender offer for our common stock, which, under certain circumstances, could reduce the market value of our common stock. See Description of capital stock.

We have no plans to pay regular dividends on our common stock, so you may not receive funds without selling your common stock.

We have no plans to pay regular dividends on our common stock. We generally intend to invest our future earnings, if any, to fund our growth. Any payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on, among other things, our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, level of indebtedness, statutory and contractual restrictions applying to the payment of dividends, and other considerations that our board of directors deems relevant. Our senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing our fixed rate notes and our floating rate notes also include limitations on our payment of dividends. Accordingly, you may have to sell some or all of your common stock in order to generate cash flow from your investment. You may not receive a gain on your investment when you sell your common stock and you may lose the entire amount of the investment.

You will suffer immediate and substantial dilution.

If you purchase shares of our common stock in this offering, you will pay more for your shares than the amounts paid by existing shareholders for their shares. You will incur immediate and substantial dilution of \$23.97 per share, representing the difference between our net tangible book value (deficit) per share after giving effect to this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share. Consequently, unless we are able to increase our net tangible book value per share through income from operations or otherwise to \$17.00 per share, upon a

18

liquidation of our company at net tangible book value, you would receive less than the price that you paid for shares of our common stock in this offering while our existing shareholders may receive more than the price that they paid for their shares of our common stock. See Dilution.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and distract management.

After the consummation of this offering, we will be subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control for financial reporting. These requirements may place a strain on our systems and resources. Under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as part of our periodic reports, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer will be required to evaluate the effectiveness of, and to report their conclusions regarding the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, and to certify that they have done so. In addition, under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we will be required to include a report of management on our internal control over financial reporting in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K and our independent public accountants auditing our financial statements must attest to and report on management s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This requirement will first apply to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2007. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, significant resources and management oversight will be required. This may divert management s attention from other business concerns, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. If we are unable to conclude that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are effective, or if our independent public accounting firm is unable to provide us with an unqualified report as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in future years, investors may lose confidence in our financial reports and our stock price may decline.

Future sales of our common stock in the public market could lower our share price, and the exercise of outstanding stock options and any additional capital raised by us through the sale of common stock may dilute your ownership in us.

We may sell additional shares of common stock in subsequent public offerings. Our amended and restated articles of incorporation will authorize us to issue 275,000,000 shares of common stock, of which 68,889,837 shares will be outstanding upon consummation of this offering. This number includes 23,529,411 shares that we and the selling stockholders are selling in this offering, which may be resold immediately in the public market unless held by affiliates of ours. Of the remaining 45,360,426 shares, substantially all of them are restricted from immediate resale under the lock-up agreements between our current shareholders and the underwriters described in Underwriting, but may be sold into the market in the near future. These shares will become available for sale at various times following the expiration of the lock-up agreements, which, without the prior consent of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. on behalf of the underwriters, is 180 days after the date of this prospectus (which period could be extended by the underwriters for up to an additional 34 days under certain circumstances). Immediately after the expiration of the 180-day lock-up period, these shares will be eligible for resale under Rule 144 or Rule 701 of the Securities Act, subject to volume limitations and applicable holding period requirements.

19

Upon consummation of this offering, options to purchase 4,650,935 shares of our common stock will be outstanding (of which options to acquire 1,360,610 shares of common stock will be vested upon consummation of this offering). Beginning 180 days after the consummation of this offering pursuant to the stockholders agreement, affiliates of Apollo and the Goodman family trusts have certain demand registration rights with respect to the common stock they will retain following the offering. In addition, immediately following this offering, we intend to file a registration statement registering 6,693,839 shares reserved for issuance under the 2004 Stock Option Plan and 2006 Incentive Award Plan under the Securities Act. See Description of capital stock.

We cannot predict the size of future issuances of our common stock or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of our common stock will have on the market price of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock (including shares issued in connection with an acquisition), or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock.

Our equity sponsor controls us and its interests may conflict with or differ from your interests as a shareholder.

After the consummation of this offering, our equity sponsor, Apollo, will beneficially own approximately 45% of our common stock. If the underwriters exercise in full their over-allotment option, Apollo will beneficially own approximately 41% of our common stock. Representatives of Apollo will have the ability to prevent any transaction that requires the approval of directors. In addition, Apollo will have the ability to substantially influence all matters requiring shareholder approval, including the election of our directors and the approval of significant corporate transactions such as mergers, tender offers and the sale of all or substantially all of our assets. The interests of Apollo and its affiliates could conflict with or differ from your interests as a holder of our common stock. For example, the concentration of ownership held by Apollo could delay, defer or prevent a change of control of our company or impede a merger, takeover or other business combination which you may otherwise view favorably. Apollo may also pursue acquisition opportunities that may be complementary to our business, and as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us. A sale of a substantial number of shares of stock in the future by funds affiliated with Apollo could cause our stock price to decline in the future.

We are a controlled company within the meaning of the New York Stock Exchange rules and, as a result, will qualify for, and intend to rely on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements.

Upon the closing of this offering, affiliates of Apollo and the Goodman family trusts, as a group, will continue to control a majority of our outstanding common stock pursuant to the terms of the stockholders agreement. As a result, we are a controlled company within the meaning of the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards. Under the New York Stock Exchange rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, group or another company is a controlled company and may elect not to comply with certain New York Stock Exchange corporate governance requirements, including:

the requirement that a majority of the board of directors consist of independent directors;

the requirement that we have a nominating/corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee s purpose and responsibilities;

20

the requirement that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee s purpose and responsibilities; and

the requirement for an annual performance evaluation of the nominating/corporate governance and compensation committees.

Following this offering, we intend to utilize most of these exemptions. As a result, we will not have a majority of independent directors nor will our nominating/corporate governance and compensation committees consist entirely of independent directors. Accordingly, you will not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to all of the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance requirements.

Certain beneficial owners of our voting securities may be required to file an application with and be investigated by the Florida insurance authorities, and the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may restrict the ability of a beneficial owner to receive any benefit from our voting securities and may require the divestiture of shares of our voting securities.

One of our subsidiaries, AsureCare Corp., a Florida corporation, is licensed as a service warranty association and regulated by the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. As a Florida-domestic service warranty association, AsureCare Corp. is subject to regulation as a specialty insurer under certain provisions of the Florida Insurance Code. Under applicable Florida law, no person can finally acquire, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the voting securities of a service warranty association or its controlling company without the written approval of the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. Accordingly, any person who acquires beneficial ownership of 10% or more of our voting securities will be required by law to apply to the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation for its approval no later than five days after any form of tender offer or exchange offer is proposed, or no later than five days after the acquisition of securities or ownership interest if no tender offer or exchange offer is involved.

The Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may disapprove the acquisition of 10% or more of our voting securities by any person who refuses to apply for and obtain regulatory approval of such acquisition. In addition, if the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation determines that any person has acquired 10% or more of our voting securities without obtaining its regulatory approval, it may order that person to cease the acquisition and divest itself of any shares of our voting securities which may have been acquired in violation of the applicable Florida law. In addition, the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may assess administrative fines against the purchaser not to exceed \$20,000 per willful violation, subject to a cap of \$100,000 for violations arising from one transaction. Due to the requirement to file an application with and obtain approval from the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation, purchasers of 10% or more of our voting securities may incur additional expenses in connection with preparing, filing and obtaining approval of the application, and the effectiveness of the acquisition will be delayed pending receipt of approval from the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation, which could take up to 90 days after submission of a complete application.

The Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may also take disciplinary action against AsureCare Corp. s license if it finds that an acquisition made in violation of the applicable Florida law would render the further transaction of its business hazardous to its customers, creditors, stockholders or the public.

21

Cautionary notice regarding forward-looking statements

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements. The words believe, expect, anticipate, intend, estimate and other express that are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and that do not relate to historical matters identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements also include statements about the following subjects:

changes in weather patterns and seasonal fluctuations;

changes to the 13 SEER federally mandated minimum efficiency standard;

the maturation of our new company-operated distribution centers;

increased competition and technological changes and advances;

significant increases in the cost of raw materials and components;

our relations with our independent distributors; and

damage or injury caused by our products.

Although forward-looking statements reflect management s good faith beliefs, they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from anticipated future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events, changed circumstances or otherwise. These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the impact of general economic conditions in the regions in which we do business; general industry conditions, including competition and product, raw material and energy prices; changes in exchange rates and currency values; capital expenditure requirements; access to capital markets and the risks and uncertainties described under

Risk factors.

Market and industry information

Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this prospectus concerning the HVAC industry or market refers to the residential and light commercial sector within the domestic HVAC industry. Our general expectations concerning such industry and its segments and our market position and market share within such industry and its segments are derived from data from various third-party sources. In addition, this prospectus presents similar information based on management estimates. Such estimates are derived from third-party sources as well as data from our internal research and on assumptions made by us, based on such data and our knowledge of the HVAC industry, which we believe to be reasonable. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding any industry or similar data presented herein, such data involves risks and uncertainties and is subject to change based

on various factors. See Risk factors.

22

Use of proceeds

We estimate that the net proceeds to us from this offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and estimated offering expenses, will be approximately \$330.2 million. We intend to use the net proceeds to (i) redeem all of our outstanding Series A Preferred Stock with an aggregate liquidation preference and accrued and unpaid dividends of approximately \$255.5 million, and (ii) redeem up to \$70.7 million in aggregate principal amount of our floating rate notes at a price of 102% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest up to June 15, 2006, the redemption date. The floating rate notes mature on June 15, 2012, and bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 3.0%.

We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of common stock by the selling shareholders.

A \$1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share would increase (decrease) the net proceeds to us from this offering by \$20.9 million, assuming the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this preliminary prospectus, remains the same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

Dividend policy

We have never paid any dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination relating to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then existing conditions, including our financial condition, results of operations, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant. Our ability to pay dividends on our common stock is limited by the covenants of our senior secured credit facilities and the indentures governing the fixed rate notes and the floating rate notes, and may be further restricted by the terms of any of our future debt or preferred securities.

23

Capitalization

The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and consolidated capitalization as of December 31, 2005 on an actual basis and on as adjusted basis giving effect to (i) this offering and the use of proceeds therefrom and (ii) the payment of \$16.0 million to Apollo in connection with the termination of our management agreement upon consummation of this offering.

You should read this table in conjunction with Use of proceeds, Summary consolidated financial data, Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations and our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this prospectus.

As of

	0	eceml	per 31, 2005
	(dol		thousands) Adjusted(1)
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 23,779	\$	23,779
Debt:			
Long-term debt, including current portion of \$3,500 Senior secured credit facilities:			
Term loan	\$ 311,375	\$	311,375
Revolving credit facility(2)			16,000
Floating rate notes	250,000		172,575
Fixed rate notes	 400,000		400,000
Total long-term debt, including current portion	961,375		899,950
Preferred stock (9.5% Series A cumulative, par value \$0.01; actual, 250,000 shares authorized, 225,570 shares issued and outstanding; as adjusted, none issued or outstanding)	225,570		
Shareholders equity:			
Common stock (par value \$0.01; actual, 275,000,000 shares authorized, 47,972,190 shares issued and outstanding; as adjusted, 275,000,000 shares authorized, 68,889,837			
shares issued and outstanding)	480		689
Additional Paid-in-capital	108,073		438,017
Retained earnings (deficit)(3)	(2,826)		(16,774)
Accumulated other comprehensive income	 2,088		2,088
Total shareholders equity	107,815		424,020
Total capitalization	\$ 1,294,760	\$	1,323,970

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

- (1) A \$1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share would increase (decrease) each of cash and cash equivalents, additional paid-in capital, total shareholders—equity and total capitalization by \$20.9 million, assuming the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this preliminary prospectus, remains the same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.
- (2) As of December 31, 2005, our revolving credit facility provided for additional borrowings of up to \$137.8 million and excludes \$37.2 of letters of credit issued and outstanding. We intend to use additional borrowings under our revolving credit facility to pay Apollo approximately \$16.0 million in connection with the termination of our management agreement upon the consummation of this offering. See Risk factors.
- (3) As adjusted retained earnings reflects (i) the write-off of \$4.1 million of deferred financing fees, net of taxes, associated with repayment of the floating notes, including the premium associated with the repurchase, plus accrued and unpaid interest up to June 15, 2006, the redemption date, and (ii) the payment to Apollo of approximately \$9.8 million in connection with the termination of our management agreement, net of taxes.

24

Dilution

Dilution is the amount by which the offering price paid by the purchasers of the common stock to be sold in this offering will exceed the net tangible book value per share of common stock after the offering. Our net tangible book deficit as of December 31, 2005 was \$565.0 million, or \$11.78 per share of common stock. We have calculated this amount by:

subtracting our total liabilities from our total tangible assets; and

dividing the difference by the number of shares of common stock outstanding.

If we give effect to the sale of 20,917,647 shares of common stock by us in this offering at the initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and the estimated offering expenses payable by us, our net tangible book deficit as of December 31, 2005 would have been \$480.3 million, or \$6.97 per share. This amount represents an immediate dilution of \$23.97 per share to new investors. The following table illustrates this dilution per share:

	Per Share
Assumed initial public offering price per share	\$ 17.00
Net tangible book deficit as of December 31, 2005(1)	\$ (11.78)
Increase in net tangible book value attributable to this offering	4.81
Pro forma net tangible book deficit after this offering	(6.97)
Dilution to new investors	\$ 23.97

⁽¹⁾ Net tangible book deficit is calculated by subtracting goodwill, identifiable intangibles, deferred tax assets and deferred financing costs from total net assets.

A \$1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share would (decrease) increase our net tangible book value (deficit) by \$18.8 million, the net tangible book value (deficit) per share after this offering by \$0.27 per share and the decrease in net tangible book value (deficit) to new investors in this offering by \$0.73 per share, assuming the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this preliminary prospectus, remains the same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

The following table summarizes as of December 31, 2005, as adjusted to give effect to this offering and the exercise of all outstanding options upon consummation of this offering, the difference between the number of shares of common stock purchased from us, the total consideration paid to us, and the average price per share paid by existing shareholders, existing option holders and by new investors, at the initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share, before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

	Shares P	urchased	Cons	Average Price Per	
	Number	Percent	Amount	Percent	Share
(total consideration in millions)					
Existing shareholders	47,972,190	65.0%	\$ 253.1	39.0%	\$ 5.28
Option holders	4,650,935	6.0%	31.2	5.0%	6.70
New investors	20,917,647	29.0%	355.6	56.0%	17.00
Total	73,540,772	100.0%	\$ 639.9	100.0%	\$ 8.70

A \$1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share would increase (decrease) total consideration paid by new investors, total consideration paid by all shareholders and the average price per share paid by all shareholders by \$20.9 million, \$20.9 million and \$0.28, respectively, assuming the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this preliminary prospectus, remains the same, and without deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other expenses of the offering.

Selected consolidated financial data

The following table presents our selected consolidated financial data. The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified by reference to, our Management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations and our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this prospectus, as well as other financial information included elsewhere in this prospectus.

The consolidated statement of operations data for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2004 and 2005 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus and have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 have been derived from our consolidated financial statements that are not included in this prospectus.

27

	Year ended December 31,			Year ended December 31, Predecessor Successo					Year ended December 31, Predecesso			ded December 31, Predec			d December 31, Predecessor			Successor		Year ended cember 31,
		2001		2002		2003		to mber 22, 2004		December 23 to December 31, 2004		to December 31,		2005						
							(dolla	rs in the	ous	ands, exce	pt s	hare								
Consolidated statement of operations data:							,													
Sales, net(1)	\$1,082	2,076	\$1	,136,188	\$1	,192,671	\$1	,297,295	\$	20,285	\$	1,565,406								
Cost of goods sold	821	1,454		884,204		915,272	1	,005,955		18,471		1,243,408								
Selling, general and administrative expenses	108	3,996		118,150		147,687		212,890		7,661		170,077								
Depreciation and amortization expense	23	3,487		20,645		14,851		18,101		786		37,717								
			_						_		_									
Operating profit (loss)	128	3,139		113,189		114,861		60,349		(6,633)		114,204								
Interest expense, net		2,835		46,168		26,081		10,877		1,601		74,213								
Other (income) expense, net		1,529		(671)		(331)		(1,406)		1,001		(706)								
(a., c., par. a.,a.		,	_	(0.1)		(001)		(1,100)	_		_	(100)								
Earnings (loss) before income taxes	53	3,775		67,692		89,111		50,878		(8,234)		40,697								
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes		152		1,859		1,745		(1,481)		(3,568)		15,817								
				.,,	_			(1,101)	_	(0,000)										
Net income (loss)	\$ 53	3.623	\$	65,833	\$	87,366	\$	52,359	\$	(4,666)	\$	24,880								
1101 11100 1110 (1000)	Ψ σσ	,,,,,	Ψ	00,000	Ψ	0.,000		02,000	_	(1,000)	Ψ	,000								
Less: Preferred stock dividend										528		22,512								
2000. I Totomod Stook dividend												22,012								
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders	\$ 53	600	Ф	65,833	\$	87,366	\$	52,359	\$	/F 104\	Φ	2 260								
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders	ф 50	3,623	\$	65,633	Ф	67,300	Ф	52,359	Ф	(5,194)	\$	2,368								
Pro forma tax expense(2)	\$ 20),551	\$	24,202	\$	32,563	\$	21,069	\$		\$									
Pro forma net income (loss) available to common																				
shareholders(2)	\$ 33	3,072	\$	41,631	\$	54,803	\$	31,290	\$	(5,194)	\$	2,368								
Per Share Data:																				
Earnings (loss) per share		h		4.00		4.00		4.00		((0, 4.4)		40.05								
Basic		\$1.12		\$1.38		\$1.83		\$1.09		\$(0.11)		\$0.05								
Diluted		1.12		\$1.38		\$1.83		\$1.09		\$(0.11)		\$0.05								
Pro forma tax effect(2)	3	0.69		\$0.87		\$1.15		\$0.65		\$(0.11)		\$0.05								
Weighted average shares outstanding(3)	47 OF	000	47	050 000	17	050 000	17	0E0 020		47 950 000		47 021 770								
Basic Diluted	47,850 47,850	,		,850,928 ,850,928		,850,928 ,850,928		,850,928 ,850,928		47,850,928 47,850,928		47,931,770 48,182,096								
Dilutou	+1,000	,,520	4/	,000,820	+/	,000,820	47	,000,820		71,000,320		70,102,030								

Year e	ended	December	31
--------	-------	----------	----

	2001	2002	2003 (dollars in the	2004 ousands, except p	2005 per share data)
Consolidated balance sheet data (at period end):			(1)		,
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 3,493	\$ 23,219	\$ 5,359	\$ 3,856	\$ 23,779
Total assets	714,913	683,557	615,558	1,544,595	1,621,537
Total debt	466,910	358,432	213,244	1,024,135	961,375
Redeemable preferred stock				225,000	225,570
Shareholders equity	40,061	77,632	150,279	102,719	107,815
Statement of cash flows data:					
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities	\$ 128,459	\$ 168,092	\$ 150,807	\$ (18,558)	\$ 105,519
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities	110,987	(11,536)	(811)	(1,477,622)	(24,957)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities	(249,657)	(136,830)	(167,856)	1,494,677	(60,639)
Other financial data:					
EBITDA(4)(5)	\$ 150,097	\$ 134,505	\$ 130,043	\$ 74,009	\$ 152,627
Capital expenditures	\$ 32,262	\$ 12,672	\$ 16,801	\$ 27,772	\$ 28,806

- (1) Sales are presented net of certain rebates paid to customers. See Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations and the notes to consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.
- (2) Represents the estimated tax effect on our results of operations in connection with the Acquisition. The predecessor company was incorporated under Subchapter S of the Internal Revenue Code with substantially all corporate earnings taxed at the shareholder level. The successor company is incorporated under Subchapter C of the Internal Revenue Code, and thus we have adjusted the income tax effect. The tax rate used for pro forma purposes as a C corporation is 38.5%, which has been applied to earnings before income taxes.
- (3) For comparability purposes, the average shares outstanding for the predecessor company for the periods ending December 22, 2004 and December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, are the average shares outstanding of the successor company.
- (4) EBITDA consists of earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a measure commonly used in the HVAC industry, and we present EBITDA to enhance your understanding of our operating performance. We use EBITDA as one criterion for evaluating our performance relative to that of our peers. We believe that EBITDA is an operating performance measure, and not a liquidity measure, that provides investors and analysts with a measure of operating results unaffected by differences in capital structures, capital investment cycles and ages of related assets among otherwise comparable companies. However, EBITDA is not a measurement of financial performance under GAAP, and our EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. You should not consider our EBITDA as an alternative to operating or net income, determined in accordance with GAAP, as an indicator of our operating performance, or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities, determined in accordance with GAAP, as an indicator of cash flows, or as a measure of liquidity. Set forth below is an unaudited reconciliation of net income to EBITDA.

Year ended December 31,

	2001	2002	2003 in millions	2004	2005
Net income	\$ 53.6	\$ 65.8	\$ 87.4	\$ 47.7	\$ 24.9
Income tax expense (benefit)	0.2	1.9	1.7	(5.1)	15.8
Interest expense, net	72.8	46.2	26.1	12.5	74.2
Depreciation and amortization	23.5	20.6	14.8	18.9	37.7
EBITDA	\$ 150.1	\$ 134.5	\$ 130.0	\$ 74.0	\$ 152.6

(5) EBITDA for each of the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 was affected by the charges set forth below:

			r ended nber 31,
	2003	2004	2005
Non-recurring transaction expenses(a)		\$ 68.8	
Non-recurring, non cash charge in connection with inventory step-up(b)		\$ 4.4	\$39.6
Non-recurring product-related expense accrual(c)	\$ 15.0	\$ (10.0)	
Monitoring fee(d)			\$ 2.0
Non-recurring supplemental incentive bonuses		\$ 4.0	

- (a) Non-recurring transaction expenses represent expenses attributable to incentive compensation fees and transaction fees incurred in the fourth quarter of 2004.
- (b) Non-recurring, non-cash charge in connection with inventory step-up represents non-recurring expenses incurred in the fourth quarter of 2004 and the first quarter of 2005 related to the effect of the inventory valuation step-up resulting from the Acquisition.
- (c) Represents the establishment of a reserve for a non-recurring product-related expense accrual and the subsequent partial reversal of such reserve in September 2004.
- (d) Represents the annual monitoring fee to Apollo.

See Management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operation.

30

Management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations

Overview

We participate in the HVAC industry. We are the second largest domestic manufacturer of residential and light commercial heating and air conditioning products based on unit sales. Founded in 1975 as a manufacturer of flexible duct, we expanded into the broader HVAC manufacturing market in 1982. Since then, we have continually expanded our product offerings and maintained our core competency of manufacturing high-quality products at low costs. Our growth and success can be attributed to our strategy of providing a high-quality, competitively priced product that is designed to be reliable and easy-to-install.

Beginning in 2001, we undertook a number of measures to strategically reposition our business. These included the following actions:

opening 22 new company-operated distribution centers in 2004 and 17 new company- operated distribution centers in 2005;

implementing improved practices in manufacturing and distribution;

upgrading personnel and information systems; and

reducing damaged and excess inventory during the three-year period ended December 31, 2003.

These actions resulted in substantial growth of our net income during the five-year period ended December 31, 2005 and the generation of cumulative operating cash flow of \$534.3 million between January 1, 2001 and December 31, 2005.

While the overall impact of these actions was positive, we estimate a negative impact on our operating profit and our EBITDA of \$4.2 million and \$3.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively, due to costs and losses of margin resulting from the strategic actions set forth above. We do not believe that operating profit and EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2005 were adversely affected by these actions. For a definition of EBITDA, see footnote 4 in Prospectus summary Summary consolidated financial data.

The full impact of our expanded distribution network is not reflected in our financial results for the year ended December 31, 2005, as the locations opened during 2005 have not been open for a full year.

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

Acquisition

On December 23, 2004, we were acquired by affiliates of Apollo, our senior management and certain trusts associated with members of the Goodman family. In connection with the Acquisition, the Seller sold all of its equity interest in its subsidiaries as well as substantially all of its assets and liabilities for \$1,477.5 million plus a working capital adjustment of \$29.8 million. The Acquisition was financed with the net proceeds of a private offering of senior unsecured notes, borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities and \$477.5 million of equity contributions by affiliates of Apollo, the Goodman family trusts and certain members of senior management, which consisted of \$225.0 million of our Series A Preferred Stock and \$252.5 million of our common stock. The Goodman family trusts and members of senior management

31

have invested approximately \$101.0 million and \$18.2 million, respectively. In exchange for the Equity Contribution, affiliates of Apollo, the Goodman family trusts and certain members of our senior management received a combination of our common stock and our Series A Preferred Stock.

The Acquisition was recorded as of December 23, 2004, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard, or SFAS, No. 141, *Business Combinations*, and Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, 88-16, *Basis in Leveraged Buyout Transactions*. As such, the acquired assets and assumed liabilities have been recorded at fair value for the interests acquired and estimates of assumed liabilities by the new investors and at the carrying basis for continuing investors. The acquired assets and assumed liabilities were assigned new book values in the same proportion as the residual interests of the continuing investors and the new interests acquired by the new investors. Under EITF 88-16, we revalued the net assets at the acquisition date to the extent of the new investors ownership of 79%. The remaining 21% ownership is accounted for at the continuing investors carrying basis of the company. An adjustment of \$144.6 million to record this effect is included as a reduction of shareholders equity. The excess of the purchase price over the historical basis of the net assets acquired has been applied to adjust net assets to their fair market values to the extent of the new investors 79% ownership, with the remainder of \$339.8 million allocated to goodwill. The increase in basis of the assets will result in non-cash charges in future periods, principally related to the step-up in the value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

As a result of the step-up in the tax basis of assets, we expect to realize a substantial amount of incremental annual tax deductions over the next 14 years.

Markets and sales channels

We manufacture and market an extensive line of heating, ventilation and air conditioning products for the residential and light commercial markets in the United States and Canada. These products include split-system air conditioners and heat pumps, gas furnaces, package units, air handlers, package terminal air conditioners, evaporator coils and accessories. Essentially all of our products are manufactured and assembled at facilities in Texas, Tennessee and Arizona and are distributed through over 700 distribution points across North America.

Our products are manufactured and marketed primarily under the Goodman®, Amana® and Quietflex® brand names. We position Goodman® as a leading residential and light commercial HVAC brand in North America and as the preferred brand for high-quality HVAC equipment at low prices. Our premium Amana® branded products include enhanced features such as higher efficiency and quieter operation. Amana® is positioned as the great American brand that outlasts the rest, highlighting durability and long-life. Quietflex® branded products include flexible duct products that are used primarily in residential HVAC markets.

Our customer relationships include independent distributors, installing contractors, national homebuilders and other national accounts. We sell to contractors primarily through our network of independent distributors and company-operated distribution centers. We sell to our independent distribution channel primarily under inventory consignment arrangements. We focus the majority of our marketing on contractors who install residential and light commercial HVAC products. We believe that the contractor is the key participant in a homeowner s purchasing decision as the contractor is the primary contact for the end user. Given the strategic importance of the contractor, we remain committed to enhancing profitability for this segment of the supply chain while allowing our distributors to achieve their own profit goals. We believe the ongoing focus on the contractor creates loyalty and mutually beneficial relationships between distributors, contractors and us.

32

Weather, seasonality and business mix

Weather patterns have historically impacted the demand for HVAC products. For example, hot weather in the spring season causes existing older units to fail earlier in the season, driving customers to accelerate replacement of a unit, which might otherwise be deferred in the case of a late season failure. Similarly, unseasonably mild weather diminishes customer demand for both commercial and residential HVAC replacement and repairs. Weather also impacts installation during periods of inclement weather as fewer units are installed due to contractors being delayed or forced to shut down their operations.

Although there is demand for our products throughout the year, in each of the past three years approximately 55% to 58% of our total sales occurred in the second and third quarters of the fiscal year. Our peak production occurs in the first and the second quarters in anticipation of our peak sales quarters.

Costs

The principal elements of cost of goods sold in our manufacturing operations are component parts, raw materials, factory overhead, labor, transportation costs and warranty. The principal component parts, which, depending on the product, can approach up to 60% of our cost of goods sold, are compressors and motors. We have long-standing relationships with high-quality component suppliers such as Emerson and Panasonic. The principal raw materials used in our processes are steel, copper and aluminum. In total, we spent over \$212.8 million in 2005 on these raw materials and their cost variability can have a material impact on our results of operations. Shipping and handling costs associated with sales are recorded at the time of the sale. Warranty expense, which is also recorded at the time of sale, is estimated based on historical trends such as incident rates, replacement costs and other factors. We believe our warranty expense, which equaled 2.1% of our net sales in 2005, is less than or equal to the industry average.

In 2004, our operating profit and EBITDA were negatively affected by high raw materials costs. Effective September 1, 2004, we increased prices by up to 5% on the majority of our products in response to increases in commodity costs experienced in 2004. Effective January 1, 2005, we further increased prices up to 7% on our products. Commodity costs have continued to increase. To address these increases, we announced a price increase of 5% effective April 1, 2006 with respect to certain of our products. We believe our price increases will allow us to recapture lost profit margin. A continued high level of commodity prices or a further increase in commodity prices could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. There can be no assurance that our price increases will not affect demand for our products.

Our cost of goods sold reflects a short-term increase as a result of the purchase accounting treatment of the step-up in basis of inventory as a result of the Acquisition. Consistent with the requirements of purchase accounting, we adjusted the value of our assets and liabilities to their respective estimated fair values as of December 23, 2004. As a result of these adjustments to our asset basis, during the nine days following the Acquisition in 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2005, our cost of goods sold was increased by \$4.4 million and \$39.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 and the first quarter of 2005, respectively, as we recognized the non-cash increase in our inventory value.

Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist of costs incurred to support our marketing, distribution, engineering, information systems, human resources, finance, purchasing, risk management, legal and tax functions. We have historically operated at relatively low levels

of SG&A expense as a percentage of sales compared to other large industry participants. Savings from this lean overhead structure allow us to offer an attractive value proposition to our distributors and support our low-priced philosophy throughout the distribution system. In 2004, our selling, general and administrative expenses were negatively affected by approximately \$68.8 million of expenses related to the Acquisition.

Depreciation expense is primarily impacted by capital expenditure levels. Historically, we have used the double declining depreciation method for equipment, which results in higher depreciation expense in the early years of an asset s life. Following the Acquisition, equipment is depreciated on a straight line over the assets remaining useful lives. Under the rules of purchase accounting, we have adjusted the value of our assets and liabilities to their respective estimated fair values, to the extent of the new investors ownership, with any excess of the purchase price over the fair market value of the net assets acquired allocated to goodwill. As a result of these adjustments to our asset basis, our depreciation and amortization expenses increased.

Interest expense, net consists of interest expense, net of interest income and gains or losses on the related interest rate derivative instruments. In addition, interest expense includes the amortization of the financing costs associated with the Transactions. On January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133, *Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities*.

Other income (expense), net consists of gains and losses on the disposals of assets and miscellaneous income or expenses.

Income taxes

The Seller and most of its subsidiaries historically elected S corporation or partnership status for income tax purposes. Accordingly, most income in the historical periods was taxed directly to the Seller s shareholders. The Seller typically made cash distributions to its shareholders to pay those taxes. Following the Transactions, we are taxed at the corporate level and we will be recording an income tax obligation at a rate comparable to the federal and state statutory rates, which we estimate will be approximately 38.5%. As a result of the Transactions, there was a significant step-up in the tax basis of our assets, significantly reducing our cash tax payments from what they would have been and otherwise will be without such deductions. For our taxable year ended December 31, 2005, the amount of tax deductions resulting from such step-up that we claimed for income tax purposes exceeded \$60 million.

At December 31, 2005, we had a valuation allowance of \$3.4 million against certain net operating loss carryforwards. We believe that the remaining deferred tax assets at December 31, 2005, amounting to \$76.5 million, are realizable through carrybacks, future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, and future taxable income. Uncertainties that affect the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets include the risk of not having future taxable income. These factors have been considered in determining the valuation allowances.

The accounting treatment for tax assets associated with the deductions from the step-up in the tax basis and our other tax positions as well as the valuation allowances reflect our judgment that it is more likely than not that our positions will be respected and the reported assets will be realized. However, if such positions are challenged, then, to the extent they are not sustained, the expected benefits will not be fully realized.

Employees

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

We utilize a combination of full-time, hourly and temporary workers in our manufacturing facilities. The number of people working in these facilities varies based on the level of production. We believe there is an adequate pool of temporary workers near our significant manufacturing facilities to address peak production periods.

34

As of December 30, 2005, approximately 1,495 employees were members of a collective bargaining unit, representing approximately 30% of our full-time employees. The collective bargaining agreement expires in December 2009. We believe we have good relations with our employees.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

Preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Many of the estimates require us to make significant judgments and assumptions. Actual results could differ from our estimates and could have a significant impact to our consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows. We consider the estimates used to account for warranty liabilities, self-insurance reserves and contingencies, rebates and the impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill as our most significant judgments.

We base many of our assumptions on our historical experience, recent trends and forecasts. We develop our forecasts based upon current and historical operating performance, expected industry and market trends, and expected overall economic conditions. Our assumptions about future experience, cash flows and profitability require significant judgment since actual results have fluctuated in the past and are expected to continue to do so.

Warranties

We offer a variety of standard and extended warranties on our products. Provisions for warranties are made at the time revenues are recognized. These reserves are based on estimations derived from historical failure rates, estimated service costs and historical trends. In addition, when new products are introduced, we consult with engineering, manufacturing and quality control personnel to determine the initial warranty expense. On a quarterly basis, we reevaluate the estimated liability related to the installed units still under warranty based on updated failure rates and will, at times, adjust our warranty reserve. We do not discount this liability when making this calculation.

We also sell extended warranty contracts for certain of our products with terms of up to 10 years. Revenues from extended warranty contracts are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the contracts. Expenses relating to obtaining and servicing these contracts are expensed as incurred.

Self insurance reserves and contingencies

We self-insure worker s compensation, product liability, general liability, vehicle liability, group health and physical damage up to certain stop-loss amounts. We work with our claims administrator to estimate our self-insurance expenses and liabilities. The expense and liabilities are determined based on historical company claims information, as well as industry factors and trends in the level of such claims and payments. Our self-insurance reserves, calculated on an undiscounted basis, as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005, represent the best estimate of the future payments to be made on incurred claims reported and unreported for 2005 and prior years. We maintain safety and injury prevention programs that are designed to improve the work environment, and as a result, reduce the incident rate and severity of our various self- insured risks. Actual payments for claims

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

reserved may vary depending on various factors

35

including the development and ultimate settlement of reported and unreported claims. Non-routine litigation and other uninsured contingencies require significant judgment and not all risks are insured.

Rebates and advertising co-op expenditures

We offer multiple rebate programs to our national accounts, contractors and builders as inducement to encourage utilization of Goodman® and Amana® branded equipment across replacement and new construction markets. These rebates are part of our volume and new construction incentive programs. In addition, we offer a variety of rebate programs to our independent distributors to encourage distributors to pass on lower equipment costs to contractors, in order to drive market share expansion.

Rebates are accrued based on sales. For certain rebates, the accrual rate is impacted by estimates of the customer s ability to reach targeted purchase levels. Rebates paid or credited to independent distributors, contractors and homebuilders are netted against revenues in accordance with the provisions of EITF Number 01-9, *Accounting for Consideration Given to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor s Products)*.

Co-op marketing expenditures are funds reserved for cooperative marketing programs between us and our distributors. These expenditures are reflected in selling costs because they are based on an annual marketing plan whereby the distributor commits to spending the funds on marketing and advertising our products.

Impairment of long-lived assets other than intangibles

We conduct periodic reviews for idle and under-utilized equipment and facilities and review business plans for possible impairment implications. If an impairment were detected, these costs would be expensed in the same period. Historically, no significant impairment charges have been recorded.

Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill is the excess cost of an acquired company over the amounts assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Effective January 1, 2002, with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*, goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would indicate the carrying amount could be impaired. Impairment testing for goodwill is done at the reporting unit level, which is one level below the business segment level. Under the criteria set forth by SFAS No. 142, we have two reporting units based on the structure in place as of December 23, 2004. Goodwill was allocated to these reporting units based on the net assets acquired. An impairment charge generally would be recognized when the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair market value of the reporting unit. We have performed our annual test as of October 1, 2005 and determined that no impairment exists.

Identifiable intangible assets

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

The values assigned to amortizable intangible assets are amortized to expense over their estimated useful lives and are reviewed for potential impairment. The estimated useful lives are based on an evaluation of the circumstances surrounding each asset, including an evaluation of

36

events that may have occurred that would cause the useful life to be decreased. In the event the useful life would be considered to be shortened, or if the asset s future value were deemed to be impaired, an appropriate amount would be charged to amortization expense. Future operating results and residual values could therefore reasonably differ from the our current estimates and could require a provision for impairment in a future period. Indefinite lived intangible assets are reviewed along with other long-lived assets for impairment.

The values assigned to our identifiable intangible assets were determined using the income approach, whereby the fair value of an asset is based on the present value of its estimated future economic benefits. This approach was considered appropriate, as the inherent value of these intangible assets is their ability to generate current and future income. The key assumption in using this approach is the identification of the revenue streams attributable to these assets based on budgeted future revenues.

At the time of the Acquisition, we assigned a value of approximately \$11 million to a particular renewable sales contract. During the fourth quarter of 2005, a decision was made not to renew this agreement before its expiration. As a result, the net balance of this intangible, approximately \$10.3 million, was taken as a charge to the income statement in December 2005. We do not believe the expiration of the agreement had a material effect on the company.

Results of operations

The following table sets forth, as a percentage of net sales, our statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005:

	Year e	Year ended December 3 2003 2004 200						
	2003	2004	2005					
Consolidated statement of operation data:								
Sales, net	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%					
Cost of goods sold	76.7%	77.8%	79.4%					
Selling, general and administrative expenses	12.4%	11.5%	10.9%					
Transaction related costs		5.2%						
Depreciation and amortization	1.3%	1.4%	2.4%					
Operating profit	9.6%	4.1%	7.3%					
Interest expense, net	2.2%	0.9%	4.7%					
Other income		(0.1)%						
Earnings before taxes	7.4%	3.3%	2.6%					
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	0.1%	(0.4)%	1.0%					
Net income	7.3%	3.6%	1.6%					

December 31, 2005 compared to December 31, 2004

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

Sales, net. Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2005, were \$1,565.4 million, a \$247.8 million, or 18.8%, increase from \$1,317.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Approximately 49% of the sales increase was driven by volume growth in our equipment and PTAC products. This growth is attributable to an extended cooling season and the increased demand as a result of the transition to the 13 SEER minimum efficiency standard, effective January 23, 2006. Additionally, we benefited from the 22 and 17 company-operated distribution centers that were opened in 2004 and 2005, respectively. The remaining 51% of the sales increase was attributable to the September 2004 and January 2005 price increases and increased sales on our other non-equipment products.

37

Table of Contents

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2005, was \$1,243.4 million, a \$219.0 million, or 21.4%, increase from \$1,024.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Cost of goods sold increased primarily due to higher sales volumes and the result of the purchase accounting treatment of the step-up in basis of inventory as a result of the Acquisition. During the nine days following the Acquisition in 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2005, our cost of goods sold was increased by \$4.4 million and \$39.6 million, respectively, as we recognized the non-cash increase in our inventory value. Excluding the impact of the inventory valuation step-up, costs of goods sold as a percentage of net sales decreased from 77.4% for the year ended December 31, 2004 to 76.9% for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Selling, general and administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005, were \$170.1 million, a \$50.5 million, or 22.9%, decrease from \$220.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 were negatively affected by \$68.8 million of Transaction-related expenses, which was partially offset by a one-time \$10.0 million adjustment of previously established, non-recurring product-related expense accruals. Excluding the non-recurring Transaction-related expenses and the adjustment of the product-related expense accruals, selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005, increased \$8.3 million, or 5.1%, from \$161.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Selling, general and administrative expenses for 2004 and 2005 increased as a result of additional company-operated distribution locations and higher sales volumes. As a percentage of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses in 2005 were 10.9% of net sales compared to 12.3% of net sales for 2004, adjusted for these one-time charges described above.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005, were \$37.7 million, an \$18.8 million increase from \$18.9 million for the year ended December 30, 2004. The increase was primarily due to \$9.6 million in amortization of identifiable intangibles recorded as part of the Acquisition and a \$10.3 million impairment charge in the fourth quarter for the remaining value of a non-renewed sales contract.

Operating profit. Operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2005, was \$114.2 million, a \$60.5 million, or 112.7%, increase from \$53.7 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2004. Operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2005, was negatively impacted by the \$39.6 million non-recurring, non-cash charge incurred in connection with the step-up in inventory basis, as described above. In addition, operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2004, was negatively impacted by the \$68.8 million of Transaction-related expenses and a \$4.4 million non-recurring, non-cash charge related to the step-up in inventory described above, partially offset by the one-time \$10.0 million adjustment to product-related expense accruals. Operating profit, excluding these charges, would have increased \$36.7 million in 2005 as compared to 2004. This increase is due primarily to higher sales volume, partially offset by increases in depreciation and amortization as a result of the Transactions.

Interest expense. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2005, was \$74.2 million, an increase of \$61.7 million from \$12.5 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2004. Interest expense increased as a result of both the debt incurred in connection with the Transactions and higher short-term interest rates compared to the prior year.

Provision for income taxes. The income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2005, was \$15.8 million, an increase of \$20.8 million compared to an income tax benefit of \$5.0 million for the same period in 2004. The increase was the result of the predecessor s organizational

64

structure comprised primarily of flow-through entities such as partnerships and S corporations, which resulted in most of the predecessor s operations being taxable directly to the shareholders instead of the company and the tax effect of the Transaction-related expenses.

December 31, 2004 compared to December 31, 2003

Sales, net. Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2004, were \$1,317.6 million, a \$124.9 million, or 10.5%, increase from \$1,192.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. The higher sales were driven by growth in our independent and company-operated distribution channels, which increased approximately 14% and 11%, respectively. This organic growth was driven by a changing product mix and increased unit sales due to favorable market conditions within our industry, continuation of contractor recruiting efforts, and the expansion of our company distribution network. In addition, our 5% price increase, effective September 1, 2004, contributed to our higher sales. This increase was offset by the unfavorable impact to sales due to (i) severe hurricanes and other tropical weather systems that impacted the southeastern United States in August and September of 2004 and (ii) lost Quietflex sales as a result of an inability to secure insulation after startup difficulties to produce this component in-house. We estimate a negative operating profit or EBITDA impact of \$6.2 million and \$2.4 million, respectively, as a result of these weather conditions and startup difficulties.

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold, excluding related depreciation and amortization, for the year ended December 31, 2004, of \$1,024.4 million increased by \$109.1 million, or 11.9%, from \$915.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. This increase was primarily due to higher sales volume and significant raw material price increases primarily in steel, copper and aluminum. Additionally, transportation costs increased primarily due to irregular supply of raw materials, higher fuel prices and changes in Department of Transportation regulations. We also incurred a \$4.4 million non-recurring expense in the fourth quarter of 2004 related to the effect of the inventory valuation step-up resulting from the Acquisition as the related acquired inventory was sold. Cost of goods sold as a percentage of net sales increased to 77.8% for the year ended December 31, 2004 from 76.7% in 2003. This increase was primarily the result of rising commodity costs.

Selling, general and administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004, of \$220.6 million increased by \$72.9 million, or 49.4%, from \$147.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. During the fourth quarter of 2004, in connection with the Transactions, we incurred expenses attributable to incentive compensation and transaction fees of \$68.8 million. The remaining increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily due to one-time supplemental incentive bonuses in the amount of \$4.0 million. In addition, human resource expenses, such as recruiting, relocation and severance, and other start-up expenses related to new company-operated distribution center openings, were higher as we met our expanded company-operated distribution centers staffing requirements and continued the upgrading of staff throughout the company, a process that our new management team began in 2001. These increases were offset by an adjustment of previously established non-recurring product related expense accruals.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004, of \$18.9 million increased by \$4.0 million, or 26.8%, from \$14.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Depreciation and amortization expenses increased primarily due to an increase in capital expenditures related to product and information technology enhancements.

39

Operating profit. Operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2004, of \$53.7 million decreased by \$61.2 million, or 53.3%, from \$114.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The decrease in operating profit was due primarily to expenses incurred in connection with the Transactions recorded in the fourth quarter, mentioned above, totaling approximately \$73.2 million. Operating profit excluding these charges would have increased over 2003. This increase was primarily due to the benefit of the above-referenced adjustment of previously established non-recurring product-related expense accruals and higher sales volumes, which were partially offset by higher incentive compensation accruals, human resource expenditures and the weather conditions and startup difficulties described above. Profit from organic sales growth was largely offset by the effect of higher raw materials, transportation, selling and administrative costs.

Interest expense, net. For the year ended December 31, 2004, interest expense decreased by \$13.6 million to \$12.5 million as compared to \$26.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, primarily due to lower average debt outstanding, lower average short-term interest rates and a favorable impact from our interest rate derivatives. Average debt declined by approximately \$94.3 million. Also, in November 2003, we refinanced our debt, reducing the variable interest rate spread by 50 basis points.

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes. Income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2004 was \$5.0 million as compared to income tax expense of \$1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. During 2004, we recorded an income tax benefit to establish a deferred tax asset for federal income purposes on the consolidated operations of the successor company. Prior to 2004, most of our operations were taxable directly to the shareholders since we were an S corporation at the parent level.

Liquidity, capital resources and off-balance sheet arrangements

As of December 31, 2005, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$23.8 million and working capital of \$230.0 million, excluding current maturities of long-term debt of \$3.5 million, and the ability to borrow \$137.8 million under our revolving credit facility. We have funded, and expect to continue to fund, operations through cash flows generated by operating activities and borrowings under our revolving credit facility.

Operating activities. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we generated \$105.5 million of cash from operations compared to \$18.6 million of cash used in operations in 2004 and \$150.8 million of cash generated from operations in 2003. Cash from operations during 2004 was negatively impacted by approximately \$68.8 million of non-recurring Transaction-related expenses. In addition, 2004 accounts payable and accrued expenses decreased due to the timing of production-related expenses. Additionally, cash from operations was less in 2004 than 2003 due to prior years initiatives to reduce overall working capital. Cash flow from operations in 2005 increased from 2004 due primarily to higher net income generated from our higher sales volume, partially offset by higher interest expense associated with the debt incurred in connection with our Transactions.

Investing activities. For the year ended December 31, 2005, cash used in investing activities was \$25.0 million compared to \$1,477.7 million and \$0.8 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. In 2004, we used \$1,451.5 million of cash relating to the Acquisition. In 2003, we generated \$5.0 million of cash from the sale of property, plant and equipment and received a reimbursement of restricted cash of \$15.1 million. In addition, we used \$4.7 million to purchase life insurance to fund a deferred compensation plan. Capital expenditures totaled \$28.8 million, \$27.8 million and \$16.8 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Financing activities. In 2005, we used \$60.6 million in cash from financing activities, compared to \$1,494.7 million in cash provided by financing activities in 2004 and \$167.9 million used in 2003. During 2005, we repaid \$24.1 million on our revolving credit facility and made payments of \$38.6 million on our long-term debt facility. During 2004, we received proceeds of \$1,000.0 million from long-term debt and \$477.5 million in equity contributions in connection with the Transactions and \$83.8 million of other equity contributions prior to the Acquisition. In addition, in 2004 we borrowed \$24.1 million under our revolving credit facility. These increases were partially offset by \$30.8 million in tax distributions to our shareholders, transaction costs of \$21.7 million, deferred financing costs of \$34.9 million, and the repayment of \$3.0 million in long-term debt. In 2003, we made repayments of long-term debt of \$91.5 million, repayments of subordinated debt of \$40.0 million and payments on notes payable to related parties of \$14.0 million. In addition, we made tax distributions of \$11.0 million to our shareholders, a \$7.5 million equity adjustment attributable to the sale of the Amana Appliance business and deferred financing charges of \$3.4 million relating to our previous credit facility. This facility was terminated in connection with the Transactions.

Post transactions

Our primary sources of liquidity will continue to be cash flow from operations and borrowings under our revolving credit facility. We expect that ongoing requirements for debt service and capital expenditures will be funded from these sources.

We incurred substantial indebtedness in connection with the Transactions. On December 31, 2005, we had \$961.4 million of indebtedness outstanding (excluding approximately \$37.2 million of letters of credit) and up to \$137.8 million of additional debt that may be borrowed under our revolving credit facility.

In connection with the Transactions, we issued \$250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our floating rate notes and \$400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our fixed rate notes and entered into the senior secured credit facilities consisting of a term loan in the principal amount of \$350.0 million and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of up to \$175.0 million. As of December 31, 2005, we have no revolver borrowings outstanding and the ability to borrow up to \$137.8 million of additional indebtedness under our revolving credit facility. The borrowings under the revolving credit facility will be available to fund our working capital requirements, capital expenditures and for other general corporate purposes. Borrowings under the term loan are due and payable in quarterly installments. The term loan amortization payments due before the stated maturity date are nominal. The remaining balance of the term loan will be due and payable in full in 2011. The revolving credit facility is available until 2010.

Our senior secured credit facilities contain various restrictive covenants. They prohibit us from prepaying other indebtedness and they require us to maintain a specified minimum interest coverage ratio and a maximum total leverage ratio. In addition, our senior secured credit facilities, among other things, restrict our ability to incur indebtedness or liens, make investments or declare or pay any dividends. The indentures governing the fixed rate notes and the floating rate notes, among other things: (i) limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness, incur liens, pay dividends or make certain other restricted payments and enter into certain transactions with affiliates; (ii) place restrictions on the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or make certain payments to us; and (iii) place restrictions on our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to merge or consolidate with any other person or sell,

41

assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets. However, all of these covenants are subject to significant exceptions. We are currently in compliance with these covenants.

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, we spent \$16.8 million, \$27.8 million and \$28.8 million, respectively, on capital expenditures primarily to enhance our products and information technology systems. In 2005, our existing production capacity was increased in certain areas to meet our current growth expectations, and tooling and modifications were required to prepare for the growth expected to result from the change in minimum SEER standards in 2006. In 2006, we expect our capital expenditures to be in the range of \$30.0 to \$35.0 million. After 2006, capital expenditures are expected to be \$20.0 to \$25.0 million annually.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of principal of, to pay the interest on, or to refinance our indebtedness or to fund planned capital expenditures will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. This, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.

Based on our current level of operations, we believe that cash flow from operations and available cash, together with available borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities, will be adequate to meet our short-term and long-term liquidity needs over the next 12 to 24 months. Our future liquidity requirements will be for working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes.

As a holding company, our investments in our operating subsidiaries, including Goodman Global Holdings, constitute substantially all of our operating assets. Consequently, our subsidiaries will conduct all of our consolidated operations and own substantially all of our operating assets. Our principal source of the cash we need to pay our obligations and to repay the principal amount of our obligations is the cash that our subsidiaries generate from their operations and their borrowings. Our subsidiaries are not obligated to make funds available to us. The terms of our senior secured credit facilities and our indentures governing the fixed rate notes and floating rate notes significantly restrict our subsidiaries from paying dividends and otherwise transferring assets to us. Our subsidiaries will be permitted under the terms of the senior credit facilities and our indentures governing the fixed rate notes and floating rate notes to incur additional indebtedness that may severely restrict or prohibit the making of distributions, the payment of dividends or the making of loans by such subsidiaries to us. If we consummate an acquisition, our debt service requirements could increase. We cannot assure you that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued SFAS No. 151, *Inventory Costs an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4*. This standard provides clarification that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and spoilage should be recognized as current-period charges. Additionally, this standard requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of this standard are effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not expect the adoption of the new standard to have a material effect on our consolidated results of operations and financial position.

In December 2004, FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), *Share-Based Payment*, or SFAS 123(R) . This standard addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions in which an enterprise receives employee services in exchange for (a) equity instruments of the enterprise or (b) liabilities that are based on the fair value of the enterprise s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of such equity instruments. SFAS 123(R) eliminates the ability to account for share-based compensation transactions using the intrinsic value method under APB No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees*, and generally would require instead that such transactions be accounted for using a fair-value based method. SFAS 123(R) is effective for us beginning in 2006. We adopted this standard as of January 1, 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2006, the effect on the statement of income is expected to be approximately \$2.0 million, before tax.

Contractual obligations and commitments

The following tables reflects (i) our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2005 and (ii) our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2005 after giving effect to this offering, the use of proceeds therefrom and the payment of \$16.0 million to Apollo in connection with the termination of our management agreement upon consummation of this offering. Commercial commitments include lines of credit, guarantees and other potential cash outflows resulting from a contingent event that requires our performance pursuant to a funding commitment.

Historical

Payments due by period

	Les Total		ss than 1 year	2 to 3 years		4 to 5 years		N	More than 5 years	
								(in	millions)	
Contractual obligations:								•	·	
Long-term debt:										
Term loan	\$ 311.4	\$	3.5	\$	7.0	\$	7.0	\$	293.9	
Floating rate notes	250.0								250.0	
Fixed rate notes	400.0								400.0	
Redeemable preferred stock	225.6								225.6	
Operating leases	64.4		17.3		26.9		14.3		5.9	
Related party payments	23.8		2.2		4.4		4.4		12.8	
Interest payments	471.2		73.1		144.3		143.4		110.4	
Self insurance	10.6		5.8		3.4		1.2		0.2	
Pension payments	13.1		1.0		2.2		2.4		7.5	
Preferred stock dividends	151.3		24.8		57.3		69.2			
Total contractual obligations	\$ 1,921.4	\$	127.7	\$	245.5	\$	241.9	\$	1,306.3	

Table of Contents 69

43

As Adjusted

Payments due by period

							-	•	-
	Tota		ess than 1 year	2 to	3 years	4 to	5 years	_	re than 5 years
								(in m	nillions)
Contractual obligations:									
Long-term debt:									
Term loan	\$ 311.	4 \$	3.5	\$	7.0	\$	7.0	\$	293.9
Floating rate notes	172.	6							172.6
Fixed rate notes	400.	0							400.0
Revolving credit facility	16.	0	16.0						
Operating leases	64.	4	17.3		26.9		14.3		5.9
Related party payments	1.	8	0.2		0.4		0.4		0.8
Interest payments	434.	3	68.7		132.4		131.5		101.7
Self insurance	10.	6	5.8		3.4		1.2		0.2
Pension payments	13.	1	1.0		2.2		2.4		7.5
Total contractual obligations	\$ 1,424.	2 \$	112.5	\$	172.3	\$	156.8	\$	982.6

Excluded from the foregoing contractual obligations tables are open purchase orders at December 31, 2005 for raw materials and supplies used in the normal course of business, supply contracts with customers, distribution agreements and other contracts without express funding requirements.

Contingencies

Various claims, lawsuits and administrative proceedings with respect to commercial, product liability and environmental matters are pending or threatened against us and our subsidiaries arising from the ordinary course of business. We are also subject to various regulatory and compliance obligations.

Market risk

We are subject to interest rate and related cash flow risk in connection with the floating rate notes and borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities. In February 2005, we entered into two interest rate hedges to offset our interest rate risk. We entered into a two-year hedge with a notional amount of \$150.0 million and a three-year hedge with a notional amount of \$100.0 million. Following these hedging transactions, approximately 68% of our debt is fixed rate in nature.

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

We conduct our business primarily in the United States. We have limited sales in Canada, which are transacted in Canadian dollars. Other export sales, primarily to Latin America and the Middle East, are transacted in United States dollars. Therefore, we have only minor exposure to global economic and political changes. Sales outside the United States have not exceeded 5% in any of the three years 2003, 2004 or 2005. There has been minimal impact on our operations due to currency fluctuations.

We are subject to price risk as it relates to our principal raw materials: copper, aluminum and steel. In 2005, we spent over \$212.8 million on these raw materials, and their cost variability can have a material impact on our results of operations. In order to enhance price stability, as of February 2005, we entered into commodity hedges for both aluminum and copper, which expired on December 31, 2005.

44

We continue to monitor and evaluate the prices of our principal raw materials and may decide to enter into hedging contracts in the future.

Our aluminum hedge qualified for the normal purchases and sales exemption, and thus is exempt from the fair value accounting treatment under SFAS 133, *Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities*. The copper hedge was marked-to-market with the resulting gains and losses recognized in earnings.

45

Business

Our history

Harold Goodman founded our company in 1975 with the intention to design and manufacture a product that would simplify the installation of central air conditioning. Our first product offering was flexible duct which offered several benefits over the standard metal duct that was predominantly used at the time. We expanded on the success of this initial product and entered the air conditioning equipment distribution business in 1980 and then the air conditioning equipment manufacturing business in 1982. Since our beginning, we have experienced rapid, mostly organic growth, yet maintained our core competency of manufacturing high-quality products at low costs that provide a profitable and compelling value proposition for installing contractors while allowing distributors to achieve their profit goals. In 1984, we began manufacturing heat pumps and introduced our first gas furnaces in 1985, light commercial package units in 1988 and commercial air conditioning products in 1990. In 1997, we acquired the HVAC manufacturing operations of Amana Refrigeration, Inc. from Raytheon Company. This acquisition offered us a line of high-quality and premium branded appliance and HVAC products. An affiliate by common ownership controlled the brand name and the appliance operations of Amana. The non-HVAC operations of Amana were sold to Maytag in 2001. Charles Carroll became our President and Chief Executive Officer in September 2001 and has significantly expanded and enhanced our management team since joining us. Mr. Carroll assembled a management team that has over 110 years of industry and related experience. During the past three years, our management team has strengthened our balance sheet by reducing inventory, decreasing costs, improving productivity and increasing customer satisfaction and market share.

On December 23, 2004, Apollo, through its affiliate, Frio Holdings LLC acquired our business from the Seller, pursuant to which we acquired all of the equity interests of the direct and indirect operating subsidiaries held by the Seller and substantially all of the assets and liabilities of the Seller, other than certain excluded assets and certain excluded liabilities.

In connection with the Acquisition, affiliates of Apollo, the Goodman family trusts, and certain members of our senior management contributed approximately \$477.5 million in cash to us in exchange for equity, which consisted of \$225.0 million of our Series A Preferred Stock and \$252.5 million of our common stock. This amount was in turn contributed to our subsidiary, Goodman Global Holdings, as common equity. The Goodman family trusts have invested approximately \$101.0 million and members of our senior management have invested approximately \$18.2 million in us. In exchange for the Equity Contribution, affiliates of Apollo, the Goodman family trusts, and certain members of our senior management received a combination of our common stock and our Series A Preferred Stock. On December 23, 2004, in connection with the Acquisition, we issued the outstanding floating rate notes and the outstanding fixed rate notes, in a private placement under Rule 144A and Regulation S of the Securities Act. In connection with the December notes offering, we also entered into our senior secured credit facilities.

General

We are the second largest domestic manufacturer of heating, ventilation and air conditioning products for residential and light commercial use based on unit sales. Our activities include engineering, manufacturing, assembling, marketing and distributing an extensive line of HVAC and related products. Our products are predominantly marketed under the Goodman® and

Amana® brand names. Goodman® is one of the leading HVAC brands in North America and caters to the large segment of the market that is price sensitive and desires reliable and low-cost climate comfort, while our premium Amana® brand includes enhanced features such as higher efficiency and quieter operation. Our value-oriented approach and exposure to the replacement market, which currently accounts for approximately 70% of our net sales, have enabled us to enjoy a relatively predictable recurring revenue stream and to sustain revenue growth throughout economic cycles. Over the last ten years, we believe we have organically gained unit market share faster than any of our primary competitors, which demonstrates the value that we offer to distributors, contractors and consumers. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we generated net sales of \$1,565.4 million, an 18.8% increase as compared to net sales in 2004.

We currently sell our products through a North American distribution network with more than 700 total distribution points comprised of 136 company-operated distribution centers and approximately 140 primarily exclusive independent distributors selling our products in more than 600 of their locations. For the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately 60% of our net sales were made through company-operated distribution centers and our direct sales force with the remainder made through independent distributors. Our company-operated distribution centers in key states such as Texas, California, Arizona, Nevada and Florida provide us direct access to large and fast growing regions in North America and enable us to maintain a significant amount of market intelligence and control over how our products are distributed. Our independent distributors, many of which have multiple locations and most of which exclusively sell our products, enable us to more fully serve other major sales areas and complement our broad distribution network. We offer our independent distributors incentives to promote our brands, which allow them to provide contractors with our products at attractive prices while meeting their own profit targets. Our consignment strategy with a majority of our independent distributors, in combination with our company-operated distribution centers, allows us to place finished goods directly into the market to meet current demand. We believe that our consistent growth is attributable to our strategy of providing high-quality, value-priced products through an extensive, growing and loyal distribution network.

We operate three manufacturing and assembly facilities in Houston, Texas, two in Tennessee and one in Phoenix, Arizona, totaling approximately 2 million square feet. Since 1982, our unit volume sales and market share have grown steadily and now surpass all but one of our competitors in the residential and light commercial HVAC sector.

Our competitive strengths

We believe our competitive strengths include:

Industry Leader. We are the second largest domestic manufacturer of HVAC products for residential and light commercial use based on unit sales. We are a leader in the value sector and have a strengthening position in the premium sector. Further, we believe our strong market position is driven by a focused strategy of delivering high-quality, reliable, easy-to-install and affordable HVAC products to our customers and by building and maintaining strong relationships with our distributor and contractor networks.

Low-Cost, Value Leader Through Efficient Manufacturing. We believe we are one of the lowest cost manufacturers in the HVAC industry. Our engineering and design capabilities, lean

47

manufacturing processes, high workforce productivity and raw material sourcing capabilities allow us to minimize costs while maintaining high product quality. Our cost leadership provides distributors and contractors with a strong value proposition while also allowing us to enjoy operating margins which we believe compare favorably with our competition in the industry.

Well Positioned to Benefit from New 13 SEER Standards. We believe our low-cost manufacturing structure and value-brand position in the market will be an advantage as the industry shifts to the generally higher priced 13 SEER standard for central air conditioners and heat pumps. With this shift, we believe consumers will become more price sensitive and the value sector will expand as a proportion of the total HVAC market on a unit basis. As a result, we will have a significant opportunity to grow our business and capture additional market share. Following the last increase in federally mandated minimum efficiency standards from 8.5 to 10 SEER, our unit volume market share increased from 6% in 1990 to 13% in 1993 due to increased consumer price sensitivity and our value-oriented product offering. However, there can be no assurance that we will benefit from the shift to the 13 SEER standard. For the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately 41% of net sales were from central air conditioners and heat pumps below 13 SEER.

Proprietary Distribution Network. We currently maintain 136 company-operated distribution centers throughout North America with a strong presence in key growth states such as Texas, California, Arizona, Nevada and Florida. Since January, 2004, we opened 44 new sites resulting in an approximate 48% increase in our company-operated distribution center base. Our proprietary distribution network enables us to maintain close relationships with contractors, effectively communicate our selling proposition, capture incremental distribution margins and better manage inventory.

Broad, High-Quality Product Line. We manufacture and market an extensive line of products, including split-system air conditioners and heat pumps, gas furnaces, package units, air handlers, package terminal air conditioners, evaporator coils and accessories. Our products feature up-to-date heat transfer technology and are designed to meet an increasing preference for higher efficiency products.

Strong and Extensive Independent Distributor Network. In addition to our proprietary distribution network, our products are also distributed through over 140 independent distributors, substantially all of whom are exclusive distributors and who sell our products in more than 600 of their locations. This provides us access to major sales areas not addressed by our company-operated distribution centers. Our strong and loyal relationships with our independent distributors are evidenced by a very low turnover rate. We have maintained relationships with our top ten independent distributors for an average of 16.5 years. We utilize a consignment strategy with a majority of our independent distributors which allows us to place finished goods directly into the market to meet current demand without burdening our distributors with inventory carrying costs.

Consistent, Strong Cash Flow. We believe the level of our earnings combined with our modest capital expenditure and limited working capital requirements result in the generation of significant free cash flow. This cash flow generation has been accomplished through strength in our core air conditioning and heating business, continued market share gains and significant improvements in working capital management. As a result of the transition to the new 13 SEER

48

standard, our capital expenditures in 2005 were, and in 2006 are expected to be, higher than normal. In addition, as a result of the Acquisition, we have realized a significant step-up in the tax basis of our assets which is expected to result in a substantial amount of incremental annual tax deductions over the next 14 years.

Proven and Motivated Management Team. Our management team has significant HVAC industry experience and a strong track record of success. The senior management team, led by Charles Carroll, has over 110 years of industry and related experience. Over the last four years, our management team has been highly successful in generating significant free cash flow, improving working capital management, enhancing information systems and positioning our business for continued growth. Members of our senior management upon consummation of this offering will own approximately 8.5% of the equity on a fully diluted basis.

Our strategy

We intend to increase operating profits and cash flows by continuing to strengthen our position in the residential and light commercial HVAC industry. Key elements of our strategy include the following:

Capitalize on Growth Opportunities from 13 SEER Transition. We have been designing and selling cost-effective and competitive 13 SEER products for more than ten years, and our low-cost leadership position enables us to price our products at a significant discount to our competition. Generally, 13 SEER products sell at a significant premium compared to 10 SEER products, and we expect the change in minimum efficiency standards to increase our average unit selling price as well as overall industry revenue. We have previously been successful increasing our unit volume market share during periods of transition to higher federally mandated minimum efficiency standards.

Maintain Low-Cost Leadership Position. Our value proposition is driven by low-cost design and lean manufacturing processes. We intend to maintain our cost leadership position by continuing to design low-cost products, increasing production efficiencies, improving our raw material and component sourcing and reducing our working capital investment, overhead and other expenses.

Realize Benefits of Recent Distribution Center Openings and Further Increase Coverage Density. Since January 2004, we have opened 44 new company-operated distribution centers across North America. Based on historical results, we expect most new distribution centers to reach maturity within three years and expect to recoup our investment in new sites within the first year of operations. As these new distribution centers continue to mature, we believe we will increase our net sales and profitability without significant incremental capital expenditures. We plan to opportunistically expand our company-operated distribution center footprint in targeted North American markets and grow our market share.

Strengthen Independent Distributor Network. We maintain strong relationships with an extensive independent distributor network, which provides us efficient access to certain geographies not addressed by our company-operated distribution centers. We employ a number of programs to provide appropriate incentives to our independent distributors, while avoiding expensive brand marketing campaigns. We intend to continue to utilize and improve these programs to establish new independent distributor relationships and grow our business with our existing independent distributor network.

Continue to Enhance Brand Awareness and Understanding of Goodman Value Proposition to Contractors. We maintain a continuous effort to educate contractors about the quality of our product line and the economic benefits they can receive by choosing our products. We believe that contractors become increasingly loyal as they become accustomed to the installation and service of a particular product and brand. In 2005, we hosted over 1,700 contractor personnel for educational tours and seminars at our Houston manufacturing and research facilities, where we were able to reinforce the quality and care taken in the manufacturing process of our products and provide valuable interaction between contractors and our engineers and management, as well as training for new contractors.

Industry

The U.S. residential and light commercial HVAC industry is estimated at approximately \$9 billion in annual sales and approximately 11 million units shipped in 2004. The top five domestic manufacturers represent approximately 80% of unit sales. Overall, the industry is characterized by relatively stable long-term growth, a well-established, fragmented distribution system, significant challenges for new entrants and compelling growth opportunities related to changes in minimum SEER efficiency standards for central air conditioners and heat pumps that went into effect on January 23, 2006. The market shares of the large, incumbent industry participants have been relatively stable in recent years, although we have continued to gain market share.

Stable, Long-Term Industry Growth. On a unit basis, the HVAC industry has grown at a compounded annual growth rate of approximately 3.4% over the last 20 years, driven primarily by increased central air conditioning penetration in both existing and new homes. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, 88% of new single-family homes completed in 2004 were equipped with central air conditioning, up from 70% in 1985. Air conditioning is currently installed in approximately 99% of new homes in the southern region of the United States. The U.S. Census Bureau reported 1.5 million single-family homes were completed during 2004 and the percentage of homes completed with greater than 2,400 square feet increased from 17% in 1985 to approximately 39% in 2004.

Prior to the 1980s, HVAC unit shipments were strongly correlated to new housing construction. As the overall housing base expanded due to increased new home sales and central air conditioning increased its penetration into homes, the HVAC industry became more driven by replacement demand. As older units within the large base of existing homes approach the end of their useful lives, they will need to be replaced by newer and more efficient models, creating a relatively stable base of demand for HVAC products. We estimate that replacement products currently account for approximately 70% of industry sales.

Highly Fragmented Customer Base. HVAC manufacturers sell to a highly fragmented two-tier distribution system, as no single distributor represents a large share of industry-wide HVAC sales. Additionally, the distributors customer base is a fragmented group of independent contractors across the country that buy HVAC units from distributors and install them for the ultimate end user. There is limited pricing transparency to the end user due to this tiered distribution system.

We believe that contractors become increasingly loyal as they become accustomed to the installation and service of a particular product and brand. Therefore, contractors prefer distributors that continue to carry a specific manufacturer s product and prefer product lines that

50

do not change dramatically so that retraining is not required. If a distributor changes the brand of products it carries, that distributor risks alienating contractors who have customized their operations to maximize their efficiency in sourcing and installing the discontinued brand. This distributor/contractor dynamic further encourages independent distributors to continue carrying a specific manufacturer s products.

Significant Challenges for New Entrants. The HVAC industry is characterized by a fragmented distribution system, high switching costs for distributors and contractors and the need for sufficient production volume to generate economies of scale. Distributors and contractors are unlikely to switch manufacturers as a result of expenses associated with inventory stocking, marketing material and personnel training requirements. Distributors and contractors also value an established brand with an extensive history to ensure reliable warranty coverage for the end user. As manufacturers build scale, they benefit from a broader distribution network and more efficient manufacturing.

We believe domestic manufacturers represented over 95% of unit shipments in 2004, as competition from foreign manufacturers has remained limited. Foreign manufacturers are presented with logistical challenges, due to the expense of shipping HVAC products, as well as other business challenges resulting from differences in consumer preferences for single room HVAC systems abroad versus central systems domestically. Additionally, labor costs represent a small percentage of our total costs of goods sold, making it less economical to capitalize on overseas labor efficiencies, particularly given the added cost of transporting products from outside North America. While foreign competition is limited, HVAC manufacturers do source a significant amount of their components overseas which serves to reduce costs of goods sold and increase margins.

13 SEER Transition Opportunity. The key legislation governing the HVAC industry is the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act of 1987 and related regulations from the DOE. Energy efficiency in air conditioning products is measured by a SEER. Effective January 23, 2006, the federally mandated minimum efficiency standard for central air conditions and heat pumps manufactured in the United States increased from 10 to 13 SEER, a regulatory change we actively supported. For the year ended December 31, 2004, approximately 90% of industry unit sales were from products that were below 13 SEER. As 13 SEER products generally have higher price points, we believe that industry revenues will increase, consumers will become more price sensitive and demand will shift more heavily toward the value sector of the market.

Products

We manufacture and market an extensive line of HVAC products for residential and light commercial use. These products include split-system air conditioners and heat pumps, gas furnaces, packaged units, air handlers, PTACs, evaporator coils, flexible duct and accessories. Our products are predominantly marketed under the Goodman[®], Amana[®] and Quietflex[®] brands. We hold a strong market position in each of our product categories.

51

Our HVAC products are outlined in the following table and summarized below.

Product line	Size(1)	Efficiency(2)
Split systems:		
Air conditioners	1.5 to 10 Tons	10 to 16 SEER
Heat pumps	1.5 to 10 Tons	10 to 16 SEER
Gas furnaces	45,000 140,000BTUH	80 to 96% AFUE
Packaged units:		
Gas/electric	2 to 10 Tons	10 to 13 SEER
Electric/electric (A/C)	2 to 10 Tons	10 to 13 SEER
Electric/electric (heat pump)	2 to 5 Tons	10 to 13 SEER
Air handlers	1.5 to 5 Tons	NA
PTAC:		
A/C & electric heat coil	7,000 to 15,000 BTUH	9.5 to 12.8 EER
Heat pump	7,000 to 15,000 BTUH	9.3 to 12.8 EER
Evaporator coils	1.5 to 5 Tons	NA
Flexible duct	3 to 22	R-4.2, 6, 8

⁽¹⁾ Based on cooling tons of thousands of British Thermal Units Per Hour (BTUH). 12,000 BTUH = 1 ton.

Split-system air conditioners and heat pump units. A split-system air conditioner consists of an outdoor unit that contains a compressor and heat transfer coils and an indoor heat transfer unit with ducting to move air throughout the structure. A split-system heat pump is similar to a split- system air conditioner, but also includes a reversing device that reverses the flow of refrigerant and thus heats when heating is required and cools when cooling is required.

Gas furnaces. A gas furnace is typically used with a ducting system to heat a structure. Furnaces apply natural gas to heat air prior to circulation through the structure. Unlike other heating alternatives, a furnace provides heat directly to the structure while the air conditioner unit is turned off.

Packaged units. A packaged unit consists of a condensing unit and an evaporator that are placed outside of the structure to provide both cooling and heating in one package.

Air handlers. An air handler is a blower device used in connection with heating and cooling applications to move air throughout the comfort control system.

⁽²⁾ Measure of a product s efficiency used to rate it comparatively and to calculate energy usage and cost: SEER Seasonal Energy Efficiency Rating; AFUE Annual Fuel Utilization Efficiency; EER Energy Efficiency Rating. R-value is a comparative measure of thermal resistance used to quantify insulating properties.

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

Package terminal air conditioners. A PTAC is a single unit heating and air conditioning system used primarily in hotel and motel rooms, apartments, schools, assisted living facilities and hospitals.

Evaporator coils. An evaporator coil is a key component of the indoor section of a split-system air conditioner or heat pump unit. An evaporator coil is comprised of a heat transfer surface of copper tubes surrounded by aluminum fins in which compressed gas is permitted to expand and absorb heat, thereby cooling the air around it.

Other. Other products include room air conditioners, though-the-wall units, mini-split systems, flexible duct and other HVAC related products and accessories.

52

Distribution network

In 2005, we sold our products through a North American distribution network with over 700 total distribution points currently comprised of 136 company-operated distribution centers and approximately 140 independent distributors who sell our products in more than 600 of their locations. For the year ended December 31, 2005, approximately 60% of our net sales were made through company-operated distribution centers and our direct sales force while the remaining 40% of our net sales were made through our independent distributors. Our distribution strategy consists of maintaining broad geographic coverage and strong distributor and contractor relationships.

We operate company-operated distribution centers in key growth states such as Texas, California, Arizona, Nevada and Florida. This strategy provides us direct access to large and fast growing regions in North America and allows us to maintain a significant amount of control over the distribution of our products. Our company-operated distribution center network provides us with considerable operational flexibility by giving us (i) direct access to contractors which provides us continuous, real-time information regarding their preferences and needs, (ii) better control over inventory through direct information flow which allows us to market our full line of products in our company-operated distribution centers, (iii) the ability to manage margins at our discretion, (iv) an additional channel in which to conduct market tests of new products and (v) the ability to introduce new products broadly and quickly. Our company-operated distribution centers employ a low-cost distribution strategy to provide competitive pricing. This is accomplished by minimizing overhead and costly services such as delivery and incentive trips. Since January 2004, we opened 44 new company-operated distribution centers across North America, resulting in an approximate 48% increase in our company-operated distribution center base. We will continue to opportunistically expand our company-operated distribution center footprint in targeted North American markets and grow our market share.

We regularly perform market analyses to determine new distribution locations based on whether a given market is either under-served or has poor independent distributor representation. Once an under-served or poorly represented market is identified, we evaluate whether to look for a new independent distributor, open a company-operated distribution center or acquire the under-performing independent distributors.

We maintain strong relationships with an extensive independent distributor network, which provides us access to major sales areas not addressed by our company-operated distribution centers. We have established mutually beneficial relationships with distributors by utilizing our cost advantage and unique combination of marketing and inventory consignment programs to enable our distributors to maintain attractive pricing for contractors, while satisfying the distributors profit goals. We have maintained relationships with our top ten distributors for an average of 16.5 years. We are able to effectively align the incentives of our independent distributors, while avoiding expensive brand marketing campaigns, through the following programs:

Mark-up rebate programs: We offer distributor rebates that are inversely related to the distributor s markup, thus motivating distributors to meet certain pricing targets to the contractors. This program is structured to encourage distributors to pass on lower equipment costs to contractors in order to drive market share expansion while preserving the distributors margins. Through this program we are able to encourage low final prices of our products to the ultimate consumer.

53

Inventory consignment: Of the top five domestic manufacturers in the domestic HVAC industry, we believe that we are the only one to offer inventory on consignment to our distributors. This strategy positions finished goods from our factories directly in the market to be sold as demand requires, assuring product availability to contractors. Together with our company-operated distribution network, our consignment program enables us to assure that inventory does not build at our distributors. Under the consignment program, we carry the cost of appropriate finished goods inventories until they are sold by the distributors, which substantially reduces their investment in inventory. We also benefit from reduced warehousing costs and are protected by the bonded status of the merchandise. Our inventory consignment strategy also allows us to more easily develop new distributor relationships.

New contractor program: We offer a program through which contractors tour our manufacturing and research facilities, are educated on our products, review our quality control process and meet with our engineers and management. This interaction allows us to provide visual reinforcement of the quality and care taken in the manufacture of our products. The program also provides us with the opportunity to garner direct feedback from contractors on end user receptivity to current products, as well as gauge the contractors interest in future products ahead of a broader product introduction.

Our independent distributor network continues to provide us cost-effective market access where we do not employ company-operated distribution centers. Independent distributors are typically selected and retained on the basis of (i) a demonstrated ability to meet or exceed performance targets, (ii) a solid financial position and (iii) operating with a low-cost structure and competitive pricing. Coupled with our incentive programs, which make switching costs high, our track record of selecting independent distributors has been exceptional, as reflected in a low turnover rate. Since January 2004, we added 39 new independent distributor locations. We have also been able to continue penetration of national independent distributors, having steadily grown our relationships with Johnstone Supply, a nationwide cooperative of HVAC distributors, and Ferguson Enterprises, a leading consolidator of distributors, over the last three years.

We continue to broaden our customer base by developing new customer relationships with national homebuilders and further developing our customer relationships with Richmond American Homes, K. Hovnanian, Ryan Homes, Perry Homes, D.R. Horton and others. We believe these relationships will increase sales and continue to add credibility and visibility to our brand names and products. We believe our low-cost, high-quality business strategy should allow for strong future growth within this customer base.

Manufacturing

We operate three manufacturing and assembly facilities in Houston, Texas, two in Tennessee and one in Phoenix, Arizona, totaling approximately 2 million square feet. At all of our manufacturing facilities, we focus on low-cost production techniques and technology to continually reduce manufacturing costs while improving product quality. Our low-cost design is one of the key drivers of our value proposition. We believe we have sufficient capacity to achieve our business goals for the foreseeable future without the need for further expansion.

Our manufacturing process is designed to minimize raw materials, component and in-process inventory levels. To achieve this goal, we have standardized many of the production components (e.g., heat exchangers, compressors and coils), which enables us to quickly retool our facilities in order to meet the demand for various products. In addition, we employ a demand flow manufacturing process which coordinates the simultaneous production of each component

thereby minimizing raw materials and in-process inventories. We utilize an optimal mix of automated and manual processes to ensure efficiency and lower costs.

Given the high level of industry competitiveness, product quality is key to maintaining a leading market position. The quality assurance process begins with the supplier. Incoming supply shipments are tested to ensure procured items meet engineering specifications. Purchased components are tested for quality before they enter production lines and are continuously tested as they progress through the manufacturing process. During fabrication, several audits are performed to ensure a quality product and process. We test paint application, electrical integrity, leak status, and controls in addition to conducting run tests under normal and moisture controlled conditions. In order to further monitor product quality, each manufactured finished good includes a customer questionnaire card bearing two quality inspection stamps or signatures. The installing contractor generally completes the questionnaire cards. Accompanying each product are warranties that provide terms which generally cover more product parts and last longer than our competitors.

We operate two logistics centers, the Houston Logistics Center (a freestanding center) and the Fayetteville Center (a logistics center in the Fayetteville, Tennessee facility). The manufacturing plants feed finished products into these two logistics centers for deployment into the distribution channels. As the distribution network provides point of sale information, these logistics centers rapidly and efficiently deploy products into the marketplace as demand dictates. The Quietflex product is distributed to customers from Quietflex-related manufacturing and assembly facilities located in Houston, Phoenix and Dayton, Tennessee.

Raw materials and purchased components

We purchase most of our components, such as compressors, motors, capacitors, valves and control systems, from third-party suppliers. In order to maintain low input costs, we also manufacture select components when it is deemed cost effective. We also manufacture heat transfer surfaces and heat exchangers for our units.

Our primary raw materials are steel, copper and aluminum, all of which are purchased from third parties. In 2005, we spent over \$212.8 million on these raw materials, and their cost variability can have a material impact on our results of operations. Despite rising raw material prices in 2004 and 2005, we believe that our manufacturing efficiencies result in unit costs that compare favorably to those of our competitors. We expect to benefit if raw material prices decline from their current levels which are high compared to historical averages. Effective September 1, 2004, we increased prices by up to 5% on the majority of our products in response to increases in commodity costs experienced in 2004. Effective January 1, 2005, we further increased prices up to 7% on the majority of our products. To address further increases in commodity costs, we announced a price increase of 5% effective April 1, 2006 with respect to certain of our products. We believe that our price increases will allow us to recapture lost profit margin.

In order to enhance raw material price stability, we monitor principal raw material prices and occasionally enter into commodity forward contracts and hedges for the purchase of certain raw materials. In February 2005, we entered into commodity hedges for both aluminum and copper, which expired on December 31, 2005. Our procurement initiatives include leveraging our buying power on a global basis to improve purchasing efficiency, reducing the number of suppliers and improving supplier logistics. While we concentrate our purchases for a given material or component with one or two suppliers, alternative suppliers are available and have been

identified if we need to procure key raw materials and components. We currently do not have any hedges for our supply requirements in 2006.

Where feasible, we solicit a minimum of three bids for our material and component needs. Supplier selection is based primarily on cost, quality and delivery requirements. For example, as part of our process in selecting suppliers, we test the supplier seproducts to ensure compliance with our specifications and strict quality guidelines. After selecting the highest quality and most competitively priced supplier, we execute agreements ensuring availability and delivery of requisite supplies. As products arrive at our facilities, they are randomly tested to ensure continued compliance with our strict specifications and quality guidelines. We also work with suppliers to develop effective components with lower part counts and easier assembly, resulting in improved quality and reduced costs. We cooperate with suppliers to identify opportunities to substitute lower-cost materials without compromising quality, durability or safety. Generally, we expect suppliers to provide a minimum 5% productivity improvement year over year.

We believe we have strong and long-standing relationships with most of our suppliers. We utilize suppliers known for high-quality products, such as Copeland for compressors and Emerson for controls and gas valves.

In 2005, our top ten suppliers accounted for approximately 68% of our supply expenditures. The strength of our supplier relationships allows us to leverage the expertise, engineering insights and technological advancements of our suppliers in building higher quality products at lower costs.

Sales and marketing

Our strategy is to maintain a lean sales and marketing staff, focused primarily on traditional products, in order to derive the greatest value from our marketing budget while minimizing overhead costs. Our long-standing distributor relationships, low turnover rates and company-operated distribution center footprint allow us to implement our sales and marketing strategy with a modest corporate staff. Our corporate sales and marketing staff monitors market information, develops programming and provides distributors with the promotional materials they need to sell our products.

Since 2001, we have focused on building our sales force to improve coverage for distributors and national homebuilder accounts. Currently, there is approximately one sales representative for every eight independent distributors. For PTAC sales, we have a dedicated sales force of thirteen people which target hotel and motel customers. Internationally, we have four sales representatives covering Latin America and one covering Europe, the Middle East and Africa. We will review the need for additional sales and marketing staff as business opportunities arise.

Our primary HVAC products are marketed under the Goodman®, Amana® and Quietflex® brand names. Our Goodman® branded products cater to the large segment of the market that is price sensitive and desires reliable and low cost comfort. We position Goodman® as the top selling residential and light commercial HVAC brand in North America and as the preferred brand for high-quality HVAC equipment at low prices. Our premium Amana® branded products include enhanced features such as higher efficiency and quieter operation. Amana® is positioned as the great American brand that outlasts the rest, highlighting durability and long-life. Quietflex® is a recognized brand of flexible duct. All of our products and brands are recognized for their high quality, low cost, ease of installation, superior warranty and reliability.

56

Customers

Our customers primarily consist of (i) distributors who supply independent contractors who install our products for the ultimate end user and (ii) independent contractors when selling through our company-operated distribution centers. We also sell PTAC products directly to the light commercial sector, including hotels, motels and assisted living facilities.

We have a diverse and fragmented customer base in key regions throughout the United States. In 2005, no independent distributor accounted for more than 7% of our net sales. We believe the loss of any single distributor would not have a material effect on our business and operations. Our top ten independent distributors accounted for approximately 25% of our net sales in 2005. Since January 2004, our customer base has been growing as we added 39 new independent distributor locations that sell our products. Our sales, marketing and distribution strategy focuses on keeping prices low to the contractor, while allowing distributors to achieve their profit goals.

Research and development

We maintain an engineering and research and development staff of 127 people whose duties include testing and improving existing product lines and developing new products. Company-sponsored research and development expense was \$7.3 million, \$8.0 million and \$8.8 million for the years ended December 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Research and development is conducted at our facilities in Houston, Texas, Fayetteville, Tennessee and Dayton, Tennessee. Research and development is focused on maintaining product competitiveness by improving the cost of manufacture, safety characteristics, reliability and performance while ensuring compliance with governmental standards. The engineering staff focuses its cost reduction efforts on standardization, size and weight reduction, the application of new technology and improving production techniques. Our engineering staff maintains close contact with marketing and manufacturing personnel to ensure that their efforts are in line with market trends and that their innovations are compatible with manufacturing processes.

Information systems

We use software packages from major publishers to support business operations: MAPICS for manufacturing, order processing, payroll and finance; PkMS for logistics center operation; Kronos for time and attendance reporting; and Mincron for company-operated distribution operations. The major business systems operate on an IBM AS/400 computer. During the last two years, we have improved our systems by installing the current version of MAPICS to improve service and data accuracy, converting Quietflex operations to use MAPICS, implementing a bar code-based control system at our Houston logistics center and Fayetteville logistics center, and completing the installation of Mincron into our company-operated distribution centers. Our company-operated distribution centers provide us with significant, real-time information that allows us to monitor the trends in our business and to rapidly respond to changes in the markets we serve to capitalize on potential growth opportunities. We developed and use a custom application system that computes optimal replenishment quantities of equipment and parts into our company-operated distribution centers.

Independent distributors make use of our systems through Internet-based portals. This service gives distributors access to data, such as replacement part lists, and systems, such as the consigned inventory accounting function. Consumers make use of our Internet based systems to

obtain general and product-specific information and register products for warranty coverage. We also link our systems with those of our suppliers in order to manage the procurement of materials on a real-time basis. Each night, the programs recalculate component requirements, allowing faster notification of schedule changes to suppliers which greatly reduces our working capital requirements.

Competition

The production and sale of HVAC equipment by manufacturers is highly competitive. HVAC manufacturers primarily compete on the basis of price, depth of product line, product efficiency and reliability, product availability and warranty coverage. According to industry sources, the top five domestic manufacturers represented approximately 80% of the unit sales in the United States residential and light commercial HVAC market in 2004. Based on unit sales, we are the second-largest domestic manufacturer of HVAC equipment for residential and light commercial use. Our four largest competitors in this market are Carrier Corporation, American Standard (which includes Trane® and American Standard® brand products), Lennox International, Inc. and Rheem Manufacturing Company. A number of factors affect competition in the HVAC market, including the development and application of new technologies and an increasing emphasis on the development of more efficient HVAC products. In addition, new product introductions are an important factor in the market categories in which our products compete. Some of our competitors are large and have significantly greater financial, marketing and technical resources than we do. Although we believe we have been able to compete successfully in our markets to date, there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so in the future.

Patents and trademarks

We hold a number of patents relating to the design and manufacture of our heating and air conditioning products. We generally endeavor to obtain patent protection for technology that we develop and will enforce such protection as appropriate. One of our design patents expires in September 2006. Our other existing patents generally expire between 2009 and 2014. In connection with the marketing of our products, we have obtained trademark protection for all of our brand names. The trademark registration for these names have an initial term of 10 years, which are renewable for additional 10-year terms so long as the names are still being used by us for the purpose for which they were registered. We have a license to use the Amana® brand name and related trademark in connection with our HVAC business. The Amana® trademark is controlled by Maytag which markets appliances under this brand name. As part of the sale of the Amana® appliance business to Maytag in 2001, we entered into a trademark license agreement with Maytag. The trademark license agreement expires in July 2011, with renewal terms available for a total of an additional 15 years. In addition, we possess a wide array of proprietary technology and know-how. We believe that our patents, trademarks, trade names, service marks and other proprietary rights are important to the development and conduct of our business as well as the marketing of our products. We vigorously protect these rights.

Employees

As of December 30, 2005, we had 4,997 full-time employees (4,074 hourly and 923 salaried employees). Of those, 3,493 employees were directly involved in manufacturing processes (assembly, fabrication, maintenance, quality assurance and forklift operations) at our six manufacturing and assembly facilities. Our only unionized workforce is at our Fayetteville, Tennessee manufacturing facility, which we acquired with the 1997 acquisition of Amana.

58

The 1,495 Fayetteville hourly employees are represented by the International Association of Machinist and Aerospace Workers. Although the Fayetteville facility has been unionized since the 1960s, there have been no work stoppages or strikes at the plant since 1978. The current contract will expire on December 5, 2009. We believe we have good relations with our employees.

Regulation

We are subject to extensive foreign, federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, including, among others, the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Comprehensive Environmental, Response, Compensation and Liability Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, and the Toxic Substances Control Act. We believe that we are in material compliance with such existing environmental laws and regulations.

One of our subsidiaries, AsureCare Corp., a Florida corporation, is licensed as a service warranty association and regulated by the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. As a Florida-domestic service warranty association, AsureCare Corp. is subject to regulation as a specialty insurer under certain provisions of the Florida Insurance Code. Under applicable Florida law, no person can acquire, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the voting securities of a service warranty association or its controlling company without the written approval of the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. Accordingly, any person who acquires, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of our stock, must first file an application to acquire control of a specialty insurer or its controlling company, and obtain the prior written approval of the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. The application must be filed with the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation no later than five days after any form of tender offer or exchange offer is proposed, or no later than five days after the acquisition of securities or ownership interest if no tender offer or exchange offer is involved.

The Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may disapprove an acquisition of beneficial ownership of 10% or more of our voting securities by any person who refuses to apply for and obtain regulatory approval of such acquisition. In addition, if the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation determines that any person has acquired 10% or more of our voting securities without complying with the applicable suitability provisions, it may order that person to cease the acquisition and divest itself of any shares of our voting securities which may have been acquired in violation of the applicable Florida law. In addition, the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may assess administrative fines against the purchaser not to exceed \$20,000 per willful violation, subject to a cap of \$100,000 for violations arising from one transaction. Due to the requirement to file an application with and obtain approval from the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation, purchasers of 10% or more of our voting securities may incur additional expenses in connection with preparing, filing and obtaining approval of the application, and the effectiveness of the acquisition will be delayed pending receipt of approval from the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation, which could take up to 90 days after submission of a complete application.

The Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may also take disciplinary action against AsureCare Corp. s license if it finds that an acquisition made in violation of the applicable Florida law would render the further transaction of its business hazardous to its customers, creditors, stockholders or the public.

Of our current beneficial owners of our voting securities,(i) Frio Holdings, LLC and its upstream direct and indirect owners and managers submitted the required background information for

59

one of their officers, Michael D. Weiner, as the other officers, directors and controlling owners of those entities were permitted to disclaim control over AsureCare Corp. and (ii) Mr. Daniel A. Breen, III submitted the required background information as trustee of the John Bailey Goodman, Jr. 1991 Trust; Harriett Elizabeth Goodman 1991 Trust; and Bailey Quin Daniel 1991 Trust, which collectively own over 10 percent of our voting securities, each in connection with prior transactions. These applications were approved and we are currently in good standing with the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. Neither we nor, to our knowledge, any beneficial owner of our voting securities is under investigation by the Florida insurance authorities.

Environmental refrigerant regulation

In 1987, the United States became a signatory to the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer. The Montreal Protocol addresses the use of certain ozone-depleting substances, including hydrochlorofluorocarbons, or HCFCs, a refrigerant commonly used for air conditioning and refrigeration equipment. The 1990 amendments to the Clean Air Act implement the Montreal Protocol and have been used by the EPA to accelerate the phase-out of HCFCs between 2010 and 2020.

The EPA is authorized under the Clean Air Act to promulgate regulations to accelerate the statutory phase-out schedule for any Class II substance, which includes HCFC-22. Various groups have proposed that the EPA phase-out Class II substances, including HCFC-22, substantially earlier than under the schedule provided by the Clean Air Act. It is uncertain whether the EPA will take action to accelerate the phase-out of HCFC-22.

Some cooling products that we manufacture contain HCFC-22. This refrigerant is sealed inside the condensing unit or evaporator coil and is expected to remain within the unit throughout the operating life of the system without leakage to the atmosphere. We believe that our operations materially comply with all current EPA regulations relating to refrigerants. In addition, we do not believe that either the Clean Air Act and its HCFC implementing regulations as currently in effect or any reasonably anticipated accelerated phase-out of HCFC-22 will have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We currently use a substitute refrigerant in some of our air conditioning and heat pump products. This substitute refrigerant, HFC-410A, is a mixture of hydrofluorocarbons that the EPA has determined do not contribute to the depletion of the ozone layer and therefore are not subject to phase-out mandates. We manufacture and sell some of our air conditioning and heat pump equipment incorporating the HFC-410A refrigerant, and have done so for over five years. Equipment using the new refrigerant requires higher pressure compressors, larger condensing and evaporative areas, and seals resistant to the mixture. Although we are unable to predict the full extent of modifications that may be necessary to our manufacturing processes or the costs associated with the use of alternative refrigerants as we transform all manufacturing lines to make products using HFC-410A refrigerant by 2010, we do not expect that either will have a material adverse effect on us or the industry unless the phase-out is accelerated more rapidly than is currently anticipated under the Clean Air Act.

Efficiency standards

The HVAC industry is subject to legislation governing efficiency standards for air conditioning systems. The key legislation governing the HVAC industry is the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act of 1987 and related regulations from the DOE. Energy efficiency in air

60

conditioning products is measured by a SEER. A higher SEER indicates a lower amount of energy required for the same amount of cooling capacity. Typical systems range from 13 SEER to 23 SEER, with 14 SEER and higher considered to be premium efficiency systems. Effective January 23, 2006, the federal minimum efficiency standard for central air conditioners and heat pumps manufactured in the United States increased from 10 SEER to 13 SEER, a regulatory change we actively supported. We believe such a standard is beneficial to the environment and that our industry leading cost structure, and manufacturing expertise allows us to capture additional market share.

Environmental, health and safety matters

We are subject to extensive foreign, federal, state, municipal and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of human health and the environment, including those limiting the discharge of pollutants into the environment and those regulating the treatment, storage or disposal and remediation of releases of, and exposure to, hazardous wastes and hazardous materials. We believe that we are in material compliance with all current environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, many of which provide for substantial fines and criminal sanctions for violations. Certain environmental laws and regulations impose strict joint and several liability on potentially responsible parties, including past and present owners and operators of sites, to clean up, or contribute to the cost of cleaning up sites at which hazardous wastes or materials were disposed or released. We are currently, and may in the future be, required to incur costs relating to the investigation or remediation of such sites, including sites where we have, or may have, disposed of our waste.

As required by a March 15, 2001 Consent Order with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection, or FDEP, Pioneer Metals Inc., or Pioneer, our wholly-owned subsidiary, is investigating and pursuing, under FDEP oversight, the delineation of groundwater contamination at and around the Pioneer facility in Fort Pierce, Florida. Remediation has not yet begun. The ultimate cost for this remediation cannot be predicted with certainty due to the variables relating to the contamination and the appropriate remediation methodology, the evolving nature of remediation technologies and governmental regulations, and the inability to determine the extent to which contribution will be available from other parties, all of which factors are taken into account to the extent possible in estimating potential liability. We have reserved \$1.0 million as of December 31, 2005, for this matter. It is reasonably possible that the costs could substantially exceed this amount, although we do not believe that this matter is likely to have a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition, or results of operation.

We believe that this contamination predated Pioneer s involvement with the Fort Pierce facility and that Pioneer has not caused or contributed to the contamination. Accordingly, Pioneer is pursuing litigation against former owners of the Fort Pierce facility in an attempt to recover its costs. At this time, we cannot estimate probable recoveries from this litigation.

We are also subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to worker health and safety. For example, in 2004, we entered into an agreement with OSHA pursuant to which we are conducting certain corrective actions identified during an OSHA inspection of two of our facilities and paid a \$277,000 penalty.

Although we do expect to incur expenses related to environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, based on information presently known to us, we believe that the future cost of complying with such laws and regulations and any liabilities associated with environmental.

Table of Contents

93

health and safety obligations will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operation. However, we cannot assure you that future events, including new or stricter environmental laws and regulations, related damage or penalty claims, the discovery of previously unknown environmental conditions requiring investigation or remediation, more vigorous enforcement or a new interpretation of existing environmental laws and regulations would not require us to incur additional costs that could be material.

Properties

As of December 31, 2005, we owned four manufacturing facilities, one research and development facility and 12 distribution and warehouse facilities. We also lease two manufacturing and assembly facilities, 120 distribution and warehouse facilities and one office location. We believe that our facilities are suitable for their present and intended purposes and are adequate for our current and expected level of operations. We do not anticipate any significant difficulties in renewing or relocating our leased facilities as our leases expire.

Our headquarters and material operating, manufacturing and distribution facilities at December 31, 2005 are shown in the following table:

Location	Use	Owned/ Leased	Approximate Square Footage
Houston, TX	Split Systems	Owned	482,000
Houston, TX	Flexible Duct, Fiberglass Insulation and Mat Materials	Owned	390,000
Houston, TX	Heating and Air Handler Products	Owned	230,000
Houston, TX	Research and Development	Owned	102,169
Houston, TX	Corporate Headquarters	Leased(1)	51,000
Houston, TX	Logistics Center	Leased(2)	700,039
Fayetteville, TN	Furnaces, Package Units, PTAC, Split		
	Systems and Logistics Center	Owned	780,000
Dayton, TN	Air Handlers / Coils & Duct	Leased(3)	189,000
Phoenix, AZ	Flexible Duct	Leased(4)	39,062

- (1) Our lease expires on January 31, 2008.
- (2) Our two leases for this facility both expire on February 28, 2016.
- (3) Our lease expires on December 31, 2007. We have an option to purchase the facility upon the expiration of the lease for \$206.400.
- (4) Our lease for 31,712 square feet of space expires on December 31, 2007, with 7,350 square feet of space expiring on April 30, 2007.

Legal Matters

In addition to the matters described below, from time to time we are involved in various routine legal proceedings. These primarily involve commercial claims, product liability claims, personal injury claims and workers compensation claims. We cannot predict the outcome of these lawsuits, legal proceedings and claims with certainty. Nevertheless, we believe that the outcome of these

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

proceedings, even if determined adversely, would not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

62

In October 2003, the Consumer Product Safety Commission staff issued a preliminary determination that a discontinued design of certain PTAC units manufactured by one of our subsidiaries presents a substantial product hazard under the Consumer Product Safety Act, requiring corrective action. In September of 2004, we implemented a CAP under which we will provide a new thermal limit switch to commercial/institutional PTAC owners. Installation of the switch will be at the commercial/institutional owners expense, except in special and limited circumstances (e.g., financial hardship, etc.). Under the CAP, we agreed to pay the cost of installing the replacement switch for any individual homeowner having a PTAC unit in their residence. We have established a reserve that we believe to be adequate with respect to this matter based on current evaluations and our experience in these types of matters.

In December 2001, over 70 Hispanic workers filed suit against certain of our subsidiaries in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Texas alleging employment discrimination, retaliation, and violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act. The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission has since intervened in the lawsuit on the plaintiffs behalf. Our insurers have agreed to defend us against these allegations and indemnify us for any pecuniary losses incurred. We do not believe that this litigation will have a material adverse effect on our business.

As part of the equity contribution associated with the sale of Amana in July 2001, we agreed to indemnify Maytag for certain product liability, product warranty, and environmental claims. In light of these potential liabilities, we have purchased insurance that we expect will shield us from incurring material costs to such potential claims.

63

Management

The following table provides information regarding our executive officers and directors as of the date of this prospectus:

Name	Age	Position(s)
Charles A. Carroll	56	President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Lawrence M. Blackburn	51	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Ben D. Campbell	49	Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel
Donald R. King	49	Executive Vice President, Human Resources
Peter H. Alexander	67	Senior Vice President, Independent Distribution
Samuel G. Bikman	37	Senior Vice President, Logistics and Business Development
Gary L. Clark	43	Senior Vice President, Marketing
James L. Mishler	51	President Company Distribution
Terrance M. Smith	56	Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer
William L. Topper	49	Senior Vice President, Operations
Michael J. Bride	42	Vice President, Sales Amana
Mark M. Dolan	46	Vice President, Corporate Controller and Treasurer
Laurence M. Berg	39	Director*
Anthony M. Civale	31	Director*
John B. Goodman	42	Director**
Steven Martinez	37	Director*
David W. Oskin	63	Director
Michael D. Weiner	53	Director*

^{*} Representative of Apollo.

Mr. Charles A. Carroll joined us in September 2001 after having served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Amana Appliances from January 2000 to July 2001, when substantially all of the assets of Amana Appliances were acquired by Maytag Corporation. From 1971 to March 1999, Mr. Carroll was employed by Rubbermaid, Inc. where, from 1993, he held the position of President and Chief Operating Officer.

Mr. Lawrence M. Blackburn joined us in September 2001 after having served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Amana Appliances from February 2000 to July 2001. From April 1983 to August 1999, Mr. Blackburn was with Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and previously Rubbermaid, Inc., where he had most recently been President and General Manager of its wholly owned subsidiary, Little Tikes Commercial Play Systems, Inc.

Mr. Ben D. Campbell joined us in November 2000 as Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel. Mr. Campbell served as Assistant General Counsel of Centex Corporation from 1998 to 2000 and Senior Group Counsel for J.C. Penney Company, Inc. from 1988 to 1998. Prior to that time, he was a partner in the law firm of Baker, Mills & Glast P.C. in Dallas, Texas.

^{**} Representative of the Goodman family trusts.

To be nominated and elected as director prior to consummation of this offering.

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

Mr. Donald R. King joined us in November 2000 as Executive Vice President, Human Resources. Prior to joining Goodman, Mr. King was Vice President, Human Resources for the Americas Region of Halliburton Company. Mr. King has over 20 years of experience that spans a variety of industries and Fortune 100 companies, including Ryder Systems, Inc., Aetna Insurance Company, The Prudential and Phillips Petroleum Company.

64

Mr. Peter H. Alexander has been with the Goodman family of companies for over 20 years in numerous executive level positions with us and Amana. All Amana and Goodman sales personnel responsible for independent distribution, national accounts and residential new construction report to Mr. Alexander.

Mr. Samuel G. Bikman joined us in January 2002 from Compaq, where he was responsible for Worldwide Logistics. The Customer Service, Production Scheduling, Logistics, PTAC Sales and International Sales teams all report to Mr. Bikman.

Mr. Gary L. Clark joined us in April 2002 after four years at Rheem and 14 years at Carrier, where he led their Residential Product marketing efforts. Prior to that time, Mr. Clark worked in the contracting business.

Mr. James L. Mishler joined us in September 2003. Mr. Mishler has over 25 years of marketing, sales, service, distribution, operations and general management experience in the highly competitive major appliance and HVAC industries. Some of his previous affiliations have been with Whirlpool, Frigidaire and Lennox.

Mr. Terrance M. Smith joined us in March 2003. Mr. Smith has over 30 years of business and information technology experience. In his last position, Mr. Smith was the Vice President of Information Systems for Cooper Industries, Ltd.

Mr. William L. Topper joined us in April 2002 after 28 years with Electrolux (Frigidaire), where he had responsibility for all Domestic Refrigeration Production.

Mr. Michael J. Bride joined us in January 2002 after 13 years in the appliance industry, the last seven years of which were with Amana Appliances in numerous sales related positions at the district, regional and national levels.

Mr. Mark Dolan joined us in April 2005 after 12 years with Lennox where he held several senior financial and operations positions. Mr. Dolan was previously with PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Laurence M. Berg is a senior partner with Apollo Management, L.P. and has been associated with Apollo since 1992. Mr. Berg joined our Board of Directors upon consummation of the Transactions. Mr. Berg is also a director of General Nutrition Centers, Inc., Educate, Inc. and Rent-A-Center, Inc.

Mr. Anthony M. Civale has been associated with Apollo Management, L.P. since 1999 and joined our Board of Directors upon consummation of the Transactions. Mr. Civale was previously a member of the corporate finance division of Deutsche Bank Securities.

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

Mr. John B. Goodman is the son of our founder, was Chairman of the Board before consummation of the Transactions and has been a member of the Board of Directors since January 1995. Mr. Goodman served as our chief executive officer from 1999 to 2001. Prior to being chief executive officer, Mr. Goodman worked for us in a variety of capacities, including as Manager of International Sales.

Mr. Steven Martinez has been associated with Apollo Management, L.P. since 2000 and joined our Board of Directors upon consummation of the Transactions. Mr. Martinez was previously a member of the Mergers & Acquisitions Group of Goldman, Sachs & Co.

Mr. David W. Oskin is president of Four Winds Ventures. Previously, he was Executive Vice President of International Paper Company, a position he held from 1996 to 2003. From 1992 to 1996, he was Chief Executive Officer of Carter Holt Harvey, a New Zealand based forest products company. Mr. Oskin is a director of Pacific Millennium Corporation and Samling Global Holdings and a member of the board of directors of Komatsu International.

65

Mr. Michael D. Weiner joined Apollo and Apollo Real Estate Advisors, L.P. (an investment manager affiliated with Apollo s real estate investment funds) in, and has served as general counsel of the Apollo organization from 1992. Prior to joining Apollo, Mr. Weiner was a partner in the law firm of Morgan, Lewis & Bockius. Mr. Weiner serves on several boards of directors, including SkyTerra Communication, Inc., Hughes Communications, Inc. and Quality Distribution, Inc.

Committees of the board of directors

Upon consummation of this offering, our board of directors will have three standing committees: an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating/corporate governance committee, each operating under charters that have been adopted by our board of directors. Following the consummation of this offering, we will be a controlled company pursuant to the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. As a result, we are not required to have a majority of independent directors on our board of directors or compensation and nominating/corporate governance committees comprised of independent directors. We are required, however, to have an audit committee with one independent director during the 90-day period beginning on the date of effectiveness of the registration statement filed with the SEC in connection with this offering and of which this prospectus is a part. After such 90-day period and until one year from the date of effectiveness of the registration statement, we are required to have a majority of independent directors on our audit committee. Thereafter, we are required to have an audit committee comprised entirely of independent directors.

Audit Committee

Upon consummation of the offering, the audit committee will consist of Messrs. Oskin, Martinez and Civale (of whom Mr. Oskin has been deemed independent pursuant to Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act by our board of directors and will be nominated as chair of the audit committee). The duties and responsibilities of the audit committee include recommending the appointment or termination of the engagement of independent accountants, overseeing the independent auditor relationship and reviewing significant accounting policies and controls. We intend to appoint additional independent directors to our audit committee to replace Messrs. Civale and Martinez as soon as possible following the consummation of this offering, but no later than one year after the consummation of this offering. At least one of these individuals will satisfy the New York Stock Exchange standard of possessing accounting or related financial management expertise and qualify as an independent audit committee financial expert under the Exchange Act.

The charter of the audit committee will be available on our website.

Compensation Committee

The compensation committee currently consists of Messrs. Berg, Martinez and Goodman. The duties and responsibilities of the compensation committee include reviewing and approving the compensation of officers and directors, except that the compensation of officers serving on any committee is determined by our board of directors. The compensation of all officers other than our president, Charles A. Carroll, is approved by our board of directors based on recommendations by Mr. Carroll and the compensation committee. Mr. Carroll s compensation is determined by our board of directors upon the recommendation of the compensation committee.

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

The charter of our compensation committee will be available on our website.

66

Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee

We do not currently have a nominating/corporate governance committee. Following the completion of this offering, we intend to form a nominating/corporate governance committee. We expect the duties of the nominating/corporate governance committee to include identifying individuals qualified to become members of our board of directors, consistent with criteria approved by our board of directors; overseeing the organization of our board of directors to discharge the board so duties and responsibilities properly and efficiently; identifying best practices and recommending corporate governance principles, including giving proper attention and making effective responses to shareholder concerns regarding corporate governance; and developing and recommending to our board of directors a set of corporate governance guidelines and principles applicable to us. We expect other specific duties of the nominating/corporate governance committee to include: annually assessing the size and composition of our board of directors; developing membership qualifications for our board committees; monitoring compliance with board and board committee membership criteria; annually reviewing and recommending directors for continued service; coordinating and assisting management and our board in recruiting new members to our board of directors; reviewing governance-related shareholder proposals and recommending board responses; and overseeing the evaluation of our board of directors and management.

An affiliate of Apollo controls a majority of our common stock, and therefore has the power to control our affairs and policies. Apollo also controls the election of our directors and the appointment of our management. A majority of the members of our board of directors are representatives of Apollo.

Board structure and compensation

Our board of directors is currently comprised of five directors. Prior to the consummation of this offering, we intend to nominate and elect two additional directors, Messrs. Oskin and Weiner. Mr. Weiner is associated with Apollo and Mr. Oskin satisfies the independence standards set forth under Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act and the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. These directors have consented to being named as directors in this registration statement and accompanying prospectus. Upon consummation of this offering, our board of directors will be divided into three classes, each of whose members will serve for staggered three-year terms. Messrs. Goodman and Oskin will serve in the class of directors whose terms will expire at our 2007 annual meeting; Messrs. Carroll and Weiner will serve in the class of directors whose terms will expire at our 2008 annual meeting; and Messrs. Berg, Civale and Martinez will serve in the class of directors whose terms will expire at our 2009 annual meeting. Because only one-third of our directors are elected at each annual meeting, two annual meetings of shareholders could be required for the shareholders to change a majority of the board.

The members of our board of directors are reimbursed for their out-of-pocket expenses. Those directors who are not our employees also receive compensation for their service on our board of directors. Upon consummation of this offering, each of our non-employee directors will receive an annual retainer fee of \$40,000. These directors will receive a fee of \$2,000 for each board meeting attended (\$1,000 if telephonic). In addition, each of our non-employee directors, other than Messrs. Berg, Civale, Goodman and Martinez, will receive restricted stock awards under our 2006 Incentive Award Plan of \$50,000 at the initial public offering price upon his or her

67

appointment to our board of directors. These restricted stock awards will vest on the first anniversary of such director s appointment to our board of directors. Each of our non-employee directors may receive annual restricted stock awards under our 2006 Incentive Award Plan to be determined one year after consummation of this offering so long as he or she continues to serve as director. The chair of the audit committee will receive an additional \$10,000.

Compensation committee interlocks and insider participation

None of our executive officers serves, or in the past has served, as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers who serve on our board of directors or compensation committee.

Management equity buy-in

On December 23, 2004, approximately 10 senior management employees, including Charles A. Carroll and Lawrence M. Blackburn, purchased shares of common stock and shares of preferred stock of us. The purchase price of our common stock was \$40 per share, on a pre-stock split basis, and the purchase price of our preferred stock was \$1,000 per share, the same per share purchase price paid by all other investors in connection with the Acquisition. The aggregate amount of such employee purchases was approximately \$18.2 million. On April 18, 2005, an additional 15 senior management employees purchased shares of our common stock and shares of our preferred stock at a purchase price of \$40 per share, on a pre-stock split basis, of our common stock and \$1,000 per share of our preferred stock. The aggregate amount of the April 18 management purchases was approximately \$1.2 million. All equity securities purchased by management employees are subject to restrictions on transfer, repurchase rights and other limitations set forth in a management stockholders agreement. See Description of capital stock.

68

Executive compensation

The following table sets forth information concerning our compensation for services in all capacities for the year ended December 31, 2005 paid to our chief executive officer and the four other most highly compensated executive officers serving as executive officers as of December 31, 2005.

			Long 1	Term Co	erm Compensation		
	Co	Annual Compensation					
Name and Principal Position	Salary(\$)	Bonus(\$)	Securities Underlying Options/SARs (#)	Comp	All Other Compensation(1) (\$)		
Charles A. Carroll	\$ 941,667	\$ 706,250	75,804				
President and Chief Executive Officer							
Lawrence M. Blackburn	\$ 407,924	\$ 229,441	75,804	\$	624,639		
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer							
Ben D. Campbell	\$ 333,652	\$ 187,687	37,902	\$	122,278		
Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel							
Donald R. King	\$ 297,951	\$ 167,597	37,902	\$	287,642		
Executive Vice President							
William L. Topper	\$ 342,900	\$ 192,881	37,902	\$	31,783		
Senior Vice President, Operations							

⁽¹⁾ All other compensation includes deferred compensation for Messrs. Blackburn, Campbell, King and Topper and 401(k) matching contributions for Messrs. Campbell and King.

The following table shows all grants of options to acquire shares of our common stock made to the named executive officers during 2005.

Option grants in 2005

	Number of securities underlying	% of total options granted to employees	Exercise		valu annual r	tial realizable e at assumed rates of stock on for option term(3)
Name	the options granted(1)	in fiscal year	price per share(2)	Expiration date	5%	10%
Charles A. Carroll	75,803	6.4%	\$ 14.52	12/29/2015	\$ 691,784	\$ 1,753,117

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

Lawrence M. Blackburn	75,803	6.4%	\$ 14.52	12/29/2015	\$691,784	\$ -	1,753,117
Ben D. Campbell	37,901	3.2%	\$ 14.52	12/29/2015	\$ 345,892	\$	876,558
Donald R. King	37,901	3.2%	\$ 14.52	12/29/2015	\$ 345,892	\$	876,558
William L. Topper	37,901	3.2%	\$ 14.52	12/29/2015	\$ 345,892	\$	876,558

- (1) Each of these options was granted December 29, 2005 pursuant to the 2004 stock Option Plan. Each option is a non-qualified option to purchase shares of our common stock with an exercise price of \$14.52 per share. Each of these options is a time vesting option that will become vested and exercisable with respect to 25% of the shares covered by the option on each December 22, beginning in 2006 and ending in 2009, so long as the employee continues to provide services to us or one of our subsidiaries through the applicable vesting date.
 Notwithstanding the foregoing, if we do not complete an initial public offering on or prior to December 21, 2006, then all of the options granted on December 29, 2005 will be forfeited. The maximum term of these options is ten years. However, subject to certain exceptions, all vested options will generally expire 90 days following the termination of an optionee s employment. See 2004 Stock Option Plan.
- (2) Exercise price is equal to at least the fair market value at the date of grant.
- (3) Potential realizable value, which is based off of the exercise price per share, is net of exercise price, but before deduction of taxes associated with exercise. A zero percent gain in stock price will result in zero dollars for the optionee. The dollar amounts indicated in these columns are the result of calculations assuming growth rates required by the SEC. These growth rates are not intended to forecast future appreciation, if any, in the price of our common stock.

69

Aggregated option exercises in last fiscal year and

fiscal year-end option values

The following table sets forth information for each of the named executive officers regarding the number of shares subject to both exercisable and unexercisable stock options, as well as the value of unexercised in-the-money options, as of December 31, 2005. There was no public trading market for our common stock as of December 31, 2005. Accordingly, we have calculated the value of the unexercised in-the-money options at fiscal year end on the basis of an assumed fair market value of our common stock as of December 31, 2005 equal to the assumed initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share, less the aggregate exercise price.

The following table also sets forth information for each of the named executive officers regarding stock options held as of December 31, 2005. No stock options were exercised by the named executive officers during 2005. These options were granted under our 2004 Stock Option Plan.

	Underlying	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options at Fiscal Year-End		
Name	Exercisable	Unexercisable	Exercisable	Unexercisable
Charles A. Carroll	303,816	1,122,281	\$3,560,725	\$ 12,452,712
Lawrence M. Blackburn	173,609	673,789	\$ 2,034,696	\$ 7,196,389
Ben D. Campbell	65,104	262,147	\$ 763,013	\$ 2,722,151
Donald R. King	65,104	262,147	\$ 763,013	\$ 2,722,151
William L. Topper	34,722	157,499	\$ 406,942	\$ 1,495,683

⁽¹⁾ The value of unexercised in-the-money options has been calculated using the assumed initial public offering price of \$17.00 per share, less the exercise price of the option, multiplied by the number of shares underlying the options. Share numbers are based on exercisability as of December 31, 2005.

Employment agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with Charles A. Carroll and Lawrence M. Blackburn. The employment agreements each have an initial term of three years with automatic extensions of one year each unless notice is given by either party at least 180 days prior to expiration. The employment agreements provide for the payment of an annual base salary of \$1,015,000 for Mr. Carroll and, effective April 1, 2006, \$432,000 for Mr. Blackburn, and for annual bonuses that are payable in the event that certain financial and other performance targets are met. Under the agreements, the executives have each been granted a non-qualified stock option under the 2004 Stock Option Plan to purchase shares of our common stock. Each employment agreement provides that the executive shall continue to receive base salary (but not bonus) payments for two years following the executive s termination of employment under certain circumstances. Each of the employment agreements also contains restrictive covenants providing that the executive will be subject to certain non-competition and non-solicitation restrictions for two years following the executive s termination of employment.

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

In addition, we have amended each of Mr. Carroll s and Mr. Blackburn s employment agreements to provide that, effective contingent upon the consummation of this offering, the executive shall receive an amount equal to two times base salary plus annual target bonus following the

70

executive s termination of employment under certain circumstances. Additionally, Mr. Carroll s employment agreement has been amended to provide that, following Mr. Carroll s termination of employment under certain circumstances, Mr. Carroll and his eligible dependents will receive continued group health benefits through Mr. Carroll s attainment of age 65.

We have entered into severance agreements with each of the following executive officers: Ben Campbell, Donald King, William Topper, Samuel Bikman, Gary Clark, James Mishler, Terrance Smith and Peter Alexander. The severance agreements each have an initial term of two years with automatic extensions of one year each unless notice is given by either party at least 90 days prior to expiration of the term. Each severance agreement provides for the payment of base salary (but not bonus) for one year following the executive stermination under certain circumstances.

In addition, we have amended the severance agreements with each of the following executive officers: Ben Campbell, Donald King, William Topper, Samuel Bikman, Gary Clark, James Mishler, Terrance Smith and Peter Alexander to provide that, effective contingent upon the consummation of this offering, the executive shall receive an amount equal to one times base salary plus an annual target bonus following the executive stermination of employment under certain circumstances.

We have entered into non-competition agreements with each of the following executive officers: Ben Campbell, Donald King, William Topper, Mark Dolan, Samuel Bikman, Gary Clark, James Mishler, Terrance Smith, Peter Alexander and Michael J. Bride. These non-competition agreements provide that each executive shall be subject to certain non-solicitation and non-competition restrictions for a period of two years following the executive s termination of employment.

2004 stock option plan

We have adopted the 2004 Stock Option Plan. The 2004 Stock Option Plan is administered by our board of directors (or, if determined by the board, by the compensation committee of the board). Under the 2004 Stock Option Plan, as amended, 4,798,752 shares of our common stock have been reserved for issuance. The option plan permits the grant of options to purchase shares of our common stock to eligible employees, consultants and directors of the company and our subsidiaries. Such options may be non-qualified stock options or, with respect to awards granted to employees, incentive stock options.

We have granted non-qualified options to purchase our common stock to certain management employees. The exercise price of the common stock subject to these options is \$5.28 per share (which is equal to the purchase price paid in the Acquisition). One-half of the options granted to management employees are time vesting options that will become vested and exercisable in equal annual installments on each December 31 beginning in 2005 and ending in 2008, so long as the optionee continues to provide services to us or one of our subsidiaries as of such anniversary. The other half of the options granted to management employees are performance vesting options that will become vested and exercisable on the eighth anniversary of the date of grant, so long as the optionee continues to provide services to us or one of our subsidiaries as of such date. However, an installment of 20% of each performance vesting option (i.e., 10% of the total shares subject to the non-qualified stock option) will be eligible to become vested and exercisable with respect to each of the fiscal years 2005 through 2009 if we attain certain financial performance targets set forth in the option agreements. All or a portion of the options

may become vested and exercisable earlier than scheduled upon certain sales of the assets or capital stock of the company. In addition, we have amended certain of the options, effective upon the consummation of this offering, to provide that the installment which would otherwise become vested with respect to fiscal year 2009 upon attaining certain financial performance targets, shall become vested upon consummation of this offering. In addition, the amendment allows for the payment of the exercise price through the surrender of previously owned shares of our common stock.

In addition, on December 29, 2005, we granted additional non-qualified options to purchase approximately 716,343 shares of our common stock to certain of our management employees. The exercise price of the common stock subject to these options is \$14.52 per share. These options are all time vesting options that will generally become vested and exercisable in four equal annual installments on each December 22, beginning in 2006 and ending in 2009, so long as the employee continues to provide services to us or one of our subsidiaries through the applicable vesting date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if we do not complete an initial public offering on or prior to December 21, 2006, then all of the options granted on December 29, 2005 will be forfeited. The maximum term of these options is ten years. However, all unvested options will automatically expire upon the date of an optionee s termination of employment. In addition, subject to certain exceptions, all vested options will generally expire 90 days following the termination of an optionee s employment.

Shares of our common stock acquired under the 2004 Stock Option Plan will be subject to restrictions on transfer, repurchase rights, and other limitations set forth in one or more management stockholders agreements. See Description of capital stock.

2006 incentive award plan

Our board of directors and shareholders have adopted the 2006 Incentive Award Plan. The principal purpose of the 2006 Incentive Award Plan is to promote the success and enhance the value of the company and to attract, retain and motivate selected employees, consultants and directors through the granting of stock-based compensation awards. The 2006 Incentive Award Plan provides for a variety of such awards, including non-qualified stock options, or NSOs, incentive stock options, or ISOs (within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, or the Code), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, deferred stock awards, dividend equivalents, performance share awards, performance-based awards, stock payment awards, or other stock-based awards. 1,895,086 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan, plus shares of common stock that remain available for future option grants under our 2004 Stock Option Plan, which totaled 147,817 on March 15, 2006, plus shares underlying any existing grants under our 2004 Stock Option Plan that are forfeited, will be available for issuance under our 2006 Incentive Award Plan. The maximum number of shares which may be subject to awards granted under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan to any individual in any calendar year is 1.516.069; provided, that this limitation will not apply prior to the consummation of this offering, and following such consummation, this limitation shall not apply until the earliest of: (a) the first material modification of the 2006 Incentive Award Plan (including any increase in the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan); (b) the issuance of all of the shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan; (c) the expiration of the 2006 Incentive Award Plan; (d) the first meeting of shareholders at which members of the board are to be elected, which occurs after the close of the third calendar year following the

72

calendar year in which an equity security of ours was registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act; or (e) such other date required by Section 162(m) of the Code and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Administration. The 2006 Incentive Award Plan will be administered by our board of directors, unless and until the board delegates administration to the compensation committee or other applicable committee of the board. Upon and following the completion of this offering, the 2006 Incentive Award Plan will be administered by a compensation committee. The compensation committee may delegate administration to one or more members of the board of directors. The board of directors, or the compensation committee if so empowered, has the power to interpret the 2006 Incentive Award Plan and to adopt such rules for the administration, interpretation and application of the 2006 Incentive Award Plan according to its terms. The board of directors or the compensation committee may also delegate to one or more members of the board or one or more officers of the company the power to designate which non-officer employees of the company shall receive stock awards, and the number of shares of common stock that will be subject to each award, subject to a maximum aggregate number of shares specified by the board of directors or the compensation committee at the time the delegation to the officers is made. However, the board of directors may not delegate to the compensation committee or otherwise, the power to grant stock awards to independent directors.

Grant of Awards. Certain employees, consultants and directors are eligible to be granted awards under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan. The board of directors, or the compensation committee if so empowered, determines:

which employees, consultants, and directors are to be granted awards;

the type of award that is granted;

the number of shares subject to the awards; and

terms and conditions of such award, consistent with the 2006 Incentive Award Plan. The board of directors, or the compensation committee if so empowered, has the discretion, subject to the limitations of the 2006 Incentive Award Plan and applicable laws, to grant ISOs, NSOs, stock bonuses and rights to acquire restricted stock (except that only our employees may be granted ISOs).

Limitation on ISO Treatment. Even if an option is designated as an ISO, no option will qualify as an ISO if the aggregate fair market value of the stock (as determined as of the date of grant) with respect to all of a holder s ISOs exercisable for the first time during any calendar year under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan exceeds \$100,000. Any option failing to qualify as an ISO will be deemed to be an NSO.

Stock Option Exercise Price. The board of directors, or the compensation committee if so empowered, shall set the per share exercise price, subject to the following rules:

in the case of ISOs and NSOs, the per share option exercise price shall not be less than 100% of the fair market value of shares of our common stock on the grant date; and

for any persons owning (within the meaning of Section 424(d) of the Code) more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our capital stock or of any of our subsidiaries, the per share exercise price shall be not less than 110% of the fair market value of the shares of our common stock on the grant date. The fair market value of a share of our common stock as of a given date will be determined in good faith by the board of directors.

73

Expiration of Stock Options. The term of an option is set by the board of directors, or the compensation committee if so empowered, subject to the following conditions: (1) no option term shall be longer than ten years from the date of grant; and (2) the option term for an ISO granted to a person owning more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our capital stock shall not exceed five years from the date of grant. Upon termination of an outstanding option holder s services with us, the holder may exercise his or her options within the period of time specified in the option grant, to the extent that the options were vested at the time of termination. Options granted under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan must be exercised within one year if the holder s services are terminated due to death or disability, or by the date of expiration of the option as set forth in the option agreement, whichever is earlier.

Other Equity Awards. In addition to stock options, the compensation committee may also grant to certain employees, consultants and directors stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, deferred stock awards, dividend equivalents, performance share awards, performance-based awards, stock payment awards, or other stock-based awards, with such terms and conditions as the board of directors (or, if applicable, the compensation committee) may, subject to the terms of the 2006 Incentive Award Plan, establish. Under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan, performance-based stock awards are intended to comply with the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code and its underlying regulations, in order to allow these awards, when payable, to be fully tax deductible by us.

Performance Bonus Awards. Under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan, the compensation committee has the authority in its discretion to make performance-based cash bonus payments to our designated employees, including our executive officers, with respect to a specified period (for example, a calendar year). Such bonuses are payable upon the attainment of pre-established performance goals. Such performance goals may relate to one or more corporate business criteria with respect to us or any of our subsidiaries, including but not limited to: net earnings (either before or after interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization), economic value-added, sales or revenue, net income (either before or after taxes), operating earnings, cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow and free cash flow), cash flow return on capital, return on net assets, return on shareholders—equity, return on assets, return on capital, shareholder returns, return on sales, gross or net profit margin, productivity, expense, margins, operating efficiency, customer satisfaction, working capital, earnings per share, price per share of our common stock, and market share, any of which may be measured either in absolute terms or as compared to any incremental increase or as compared to results of a peer group. The compensation committee will select the participants who are eligible to receive performance-based cash bonuses and the performance goals to be utilized with respect to the participants, establish the bonus formulas for of each participant s annual bonus, and certify whether the performance goals have been met with respect to any given performance period. The maximum amount of a performance bonus award under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan that may be paid to any one participant in any calendar year is \$3.75 million.

Adjustments of Awards. If the compensation committee determines that a stock dividend, stock split, combination, merger, consolidation, spin-off, recapitalization or other change in our capitalization affects our common stock in a manner that causes dilution or enlargement of benefits or potential benefits under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan, then the compensation committee may appropriately and equitably adjust:

the aggregate number of, and kind of, shares of our common stock subject to the 2006 Incentive Award Plan;

74

the number of, and kind of, shares of our common stock subject to the outstanding awards;

the price per share of our common stock upon exercise of outstanding options; and

the terms and conditions of any outstanding awards, including the financial or other performance targets specified in each option agreement for determining the exercisability of options.

Change in Control. With respect to any awards, in connection with any change in control (or other unusual or nonrecurring transaction affecting us or our consolidated financial statements), the compensation committee, in its sole discretion, may:

(i) provide for the termination of any award in exchange for an amount of cash, if any, equal to the amount that would have been attained upon the exercise of such award or realization of the participant s rights as of the date of such change in control or other transaction; (ii) purchase the outstanding awards for a cash amount or replace outstanding awards with other rights or property; (iii) provide that after the occurrence of the transaction, the award cannot vest, be exercised or become payable; (iv) provide that only for a specified period of time after such transaction, an award shall be exercisable or payable or fully vested with respect to all shares covered thereby, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the 2006 Incentive Award Plan or the applicable award agreement; or (v) provide that each outstanding option shall be assumed or substituted for an equivalent award, right or property by any successor corporation. Any such action may be effectuated by the compensation committee either by the terms of the applicable option agreement or by action of the compensation committee taken prior to the change in control.

Amendment and Termination. The board of directors, or the compensation committee if so empowered, is generally authorized to adopt, amend and rescind rules relating to the administration of the 2006 Incentive Award Plan, and to amend, suspend and terminate the 2006 Incentive Award Plan. We have attempted to structure the 2006 Incentive Award Plan in a manner such that remuneration attributable to stock options and other awards will not be subject to the deduction limitation contained in Section 162(m) of the Code. However, we must generally obtain approval of our shareholders: (i) to increase the number of shares of our common stock that may be issued under the 2006 Incentive Award Plan; (ii) to extend the limit on the period during which options may be granted; or (iii) to the extent required by applicable law, rule or regulation (including any applicable New York Stock Exchange rule).

Union employee defined benefit pension plan

We maintain a defined benefit pension plan which covers certain of our union employees. No named executive officers are eligible to participate in this defined benefit pension plan.

75

Principal and selling shareholders

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock with respect to each person that is a beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding common stock and beneficial ownership of our common stock by each director and named executive officer and all directors and executive officers named in the executive compensation table as a group after giving effect to the offering and use of proceeds.

As of December 31, 2005, there were 50 record holders of our common stock. All of the shares to be sold by the selling shareholders, except with respect to shares held by AlpInvest, Auda Partners, SSB Capital Partners, Performance Co-Investment Fund and First Plaza Group Trust, were acquired in connection with the Acquisition. See Management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations Acquisition. All of the shares to be sold by AlpInvest, Auda Partners, SSB Capital Partners, Performance Co-Investment Fund and First Plaza Group Trust were acquired from Frio Holdings LLC in a private transaction on February 17, 2005, with respect to AlpInvest, Auda Partners, Performance Co-Investment Fund and First Plaza Group Trust, and February 25, 2005, with respect to SSB Capital Partners. For additional information regarding selling shareholder material relationships, see Prospectus Summary Benefits to affiliates, Management and Certain relationships and related party transactions.

Except as indicated by footnote, the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them.

	Shares of common stock beneficially owned prior to the offering		Shares of common stock to be sold in this offering	offering a no exerci	neficially after this ssuming	Shares of common stock to be sold assuming exercise of the over-allotment option	Shares of common stock beneficially owned after this offering assuming full exercise of the over-allotment option	
Name and address of owner	Number(1)	Percent	Number	Number	Percent	Number	Number	Percent
Apollo(2)	32,646,078	68.05%	1,852,585	30,793,493	44.70%	2,503,494	28,289,999	41.07%
AlpInvest Partners CS Investments 2003	000.050	1.000/	E1 CO4	057.755	1.050/	00.705	700,000	4 4 4 0 /
C.V.(3)(4) AlpInvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments	909,359	1.90%	51,604	857,755	1.25%	69,735	788,020	1.14%
Custodian II B.V.(4)(5)	81,640	*	4,633	77,007	*	6,261	70,747	*
Alplnvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments	0.,0.0		.,000	,		0,20.	. 0,	
Custodian IIA B.V.(4)(6)	11,114	*	631	10,483	*	852	9,631	*
Auda Partners Beteiligungen GmbH & Co.								
KG(7)(8)	396,031	*	22,474	373,558	*	30,370	343,188	*
Auda Partners L.P.(8)(9).	105,025	*	5,960	99,065	*	8,054	91,011	*
SSB Capital Partners(10)	751,585	1.57%	42,651	708,934	1.03%	57,636	651,298	*
Performance Co-Investment Fund I, L.P.(11)(12)	574,495	1.20%	32,601	541,894	*	44,056	497,838	*
First Plaza Group Trust(12)(13)	427,617	*	24,266	403,351	*	32,792	370,559	*
John Bailey Goodman 1984 Grantor Trust(14)	300,634	*	17,060	283,574	*	23,054	260,519	
Lucy Hughes Abell 1991 Trust(14)	1,002,113	2.09%	56,867	945,246	1.37%	76,848	868,398	1.26%
Sam Houston Viterbo Abell 1991 Trust(14)	1,002,113	2.09%	56,867	945,247	1.37%	76,848	868,399	1.26%
John Bailey Goodman Jr. 1991 Trust(14)	1,503,170	3.13%	85,301	1,417,869	2.06%	115,272	1,302,597	1.89%

76

	Shares of o stock ber owned pri	neficially	Shares of common stock to be sold in this offering	comm ber owned a assu exerci	chares of on stock neficially after this offering iming no se of the illotment option	Shares of common stock to be sold assuming exercise of the over- allotment option	commoder ber owned a assur exerci	thares of on stock neficially after this offering ming full se of the illotment option
Name and address of owner	Number(1)	Percent	Number	Number	Percent	Number	Number	Percent
Harriett Elizabeth Goodman 1991 Trust(14)	1,503,170	3.13%	85,301	1,417,869	2.06%	115,272	1,302,597	1.89%
Bailey Quin Daniel 1991 Trust(14)	2,505,284	5.22%	142,169	2,363,115	3.43%	192,120	2,170,996	3.15%
Betsy Goodman Abell 1984 Grantor Trust(14)	400,845	*	22,747	378,098	*	30,739	347,359	*
Meg Goodman Daniel 1984 Grantor Trust(14)	300,634	*	17,060	283,574	*	23,054	260,519	*
Harold G. Goodman 1984 Grantor Trust(14)	100,211	*	5,687	94,524	*	7,685	86,840	*
Hutton Gregory Goodman 1994 Trust(14)	375,792	*	21,325	354,467	*	28,818	325,649	*
Hannah Jane Goodman 1994 Trust(14)	375,792	*	21,325	354,467	*	28,818	325,649	*
Mary Jane Goodman 1994 Trust(14)	375,792	*	21,325	354,468	*	28,818	325,650	*
Harold Viterbo Goodman II 1994 Trust(14)	375,792	*	21,325	354,468	*	28,818	325,650	*
Charles A. Carroll(15)(16)	1,288,082	2.66%		1,288,082	1.86%		1,288,082	1.86%
Lawrence M. Blackburn(15)(17)	561,324	1.16%		561,324	*		561,324	*
Ben D. Campbell(15)(18)	254,000	*		254,000	*		254,000	*
Donald R. King(15)(19)	239,155	*		239,155	*		239,155	*
William L. Topper(15)(20)	153,960	*		153,960	*		153,960	*
Laurence M. Berg(21)	30,321	*		30,321	*		30,321	*
Anthony M. Civale(21)	30,321	*		30,321	*		30,321	*
John B. Goodman(15)(22)	1,032,435	2.15%	56,867	975,568	1.42%	76,848	898,720	1.30%
Steven Martinez(21)	30,321	*		30,321	*		30,321	*
David W. Oskin(15)		*			*			*
Michael D. Weiner(21)		*			*			*
All directors and officers as a group	4,118,411	8.37%	56,867	4,061,544	5.79%	76,848	3,984,696	5.68%

Signifies less than 1%.

Table of Contents

117

⁽¹⁾ The amounts and percentages of common stock beneficially owned are reported on the basis of regulations of the SEC governing the determination of beneficial ownership of securities. Under the rules of the SEC, a person is deemed to be a beneficial owner of a security if that person has or shares voting power, which includes the power to vote or direct the voting of such security, or investment power, which includes the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of such security. A person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any securities of which that person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days. Securities that can be so acquired are deemed to be outstanding for purposes of computing such person sownership percentage, but not for purposes of computing any other person sometimes percentage. Under these rules, more than one person may be deemed a beneficial owner of the same securities and a person may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of securities as to which such person has no economic interest. Except as otherwise indicated in these footnotes, each of the beneficial owners has, to our knowledge, sole voting and investment power with respect to the indicated shares of common stock.

⁽²⁾ Includes all membership interests held by Frio Holdings LLC. The manager of Frio Holdings LLC is Apollo Management V., L.P., which has voting and investment power over the shares on behalf of Apollo. The general partner of Apollo Management V, L.P. is AIF V Management, Inc. Messrs. Leon Black and John Hannan, are the principal executive officers and directors of AIF V Management, Inc, each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. The address of Frio Holdings LLC is c/o Apollo Management, L.P., 9 West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019. Each of Messrs. Berg, Civale and Martinez may be deemed a beneficial owner of membership interests of Frio Holdings LLC due to his status as an employee of Apollo Management, L.P. Apollo Management, L.P. and each such person disclaims beneficial ownership of any such membership interest in which he/she does not have a pecuniary interest.

- (3) Includes all shares held by AlpInvest Partners CS Investments 2003 C.V. AlpInvest Partners CS Investments 2003 C.V. is directly or indirectly controlled by AlpInvest Partners N.V. According to information provided by the shareholder, Volkert Doeksen, Paul de Klerk, Wim Borgdorff and Erik Thyssen, as the senior managers of AlpInvest Partners N.V., share voting and investment power with respect to these shares, each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein.
- (4) The address of these shareholders is c/o Alplnvest Partners N.V., Jachtavenweg 118, 1081 KJ Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- (5) Includes all shares held by AlpInvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments Custodian II B.V. AlpInvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments Custodian II B.V. is directly or indirectly controlled by AlpInvest Partners N.V. According to information provided by the shareholder, Volkert Doeksen, Paul de Klerk, Wim Borgdorff and Erik Thyssen, as the senior managers of AlpInvest Partners N.V., share voting and investment power with respect to these shares, each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein.
- (6) Includes all shares held by AlpInvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments Custodian IIA B.V. AlpInvest Partners Later Stage Co-Investments Custodian IIA B.V. is directly or indirectly controlled by AlpInvest Partners N.V. According to information provided by the shareholder, Volkert Doeksen, Paul de Klerk, Wim Borgdorff and Erik Thyssen, as the senior managers of AlpInvest Partners N.V., share voting and investment power with respect to these shares, each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein
- (7) Includes all shares held by Auda Partners Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG. Auda Partners LLC is the managing limited partner of Auda Partners Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG. Auda Private Equity LLC is the managing member of Auda Partners LLC and Auda Advisor Associates LLC is the managing member of Auda Private Equity LLC. Disposition and voting decisions with respect to these shares are made by a committee, consisting of Marcel Giacometti, David S. Andryc and Stephen B. Wesson. All of the named persons expressly disclaim beneficial ownership of these shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein.
- (8) The address of these shareholders is c/o Auda Private Equity LLC, 745 Fifth Avenue 29 Floor, New York, NY 10151. Auda Partners Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG and Auda Partners L.P. are affiliates of a broker-dealer and purchased the shares offered for sale for investment purposes in the ordinary course of business, and at the time of purchase had no agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the shares offered for sale.
- (9) Includes all shares held by Auda Partners L.P. Auda Partners LLC is the general partner of Auda Partners L.P. Auda Private Equity LLC is the managing member of Auda Partners LLC and Auda Advisor Associates LLC is the managing member of Auda Private Equity LLC. Disposition and voting decisions with respect to these shares are made by a committee, consisting of Marcel Giacometti, David S. Andryc and Stephen B. Wesson. All of the named persons expressly disclaim beneficial ownership of these shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein.
- (10) Includes all shares held by SSB Capital Partners (Master Fund) I, L.P. The General Partner of SSB Capital Partners (Master Fund) I, L.P. is SSBPIF GP Corp., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Citigroup Inc. According to information provided by the shareholder, Townsend Weekes Jr., Todd Benson, John Barber, Scott Freidenrich, Keith Anzel, Blair Jacobson, David Smith, Andy Alter, Matthew Coeny, Andrew Feldman, Rachel Stine, James Deluise, Kerry Kourepenos, as the senior officers of SSBPIF GP Corp., have the power to direct SSB Capital Partners (Master Fund) I, L.P. as to the voting and disposition of shares held by SSB Capital Partners (Master Fund) I, L.P. Each of such senior officers disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. The address of this stockholder is 388 Greenwich St., 32nd Floor, New York, NY 10013. SSB Capital Partners (Master Fund) I, L.P. is an affiliate of broker-dealers and purchased the shares offered for sale for investment purposes in the ordinary course of business, and at the time of purchase had no agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the shares offered for sale.
- (11) Includes all shares held by Performance Co-Investment Fund I, L.P. Investment and voting decisions are made by its general partner, Performance Equity Management, LLC, the managing directors of which are Allen Reed, Michael Klehn, Nancy Everett, Charles Froland, John Clark, Laurence Schloss and James Mossman. All of the named persons expressly disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein.
- (12) The address of these shareholders is c/o General Motors Investment Management Corporation, 767 Fifth Avenue, 16th Floor, New York, NY 10153. Performance Co-Investment Fund I, L.P. and First Plaza Group Trust are affiliates of broker-dealers and purchased the shares offered

for sale for investment purposes in the ordinary course of business, and at the time of purchase had no agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the shares offered for sale.

- (13) Includes 226,637 shares held by First Plaza Group Trust, solely for the benefit of Pool PMI-127; 34,209 shares held by First Plaza Group Trust, solely for the benefit of Pool PMI-128; 149,666 shares held by First Plaza Group Trust, solely for the benefit of Pool PMI-130. Investment and voting decisions for First Plaza Group Trust are directed by two separate committees of General Motors Investment Management Corporation, the named fiduciary of First Plaza Group Trust. According to information provided by the shareholder, members of the committee that may direct investments of the trust are Nancy Everett, Michael Klehm, John Stevens, Mark Attanasio and Maria Tarhanidis, and members of the committee that may direct voting are Bruce Marquand and Jamie Behar. All of the named persons expressly disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein.
- (14) The address of the Goodman family trusts is Altazano Management, LLC, 109 North Post Oak Lane, Suite 425, Houston, Texas 77024. The trustees for the John Bailey Goodman 1984 Grantor Trust are John B. Goodman and Thomas R. Reckling III. The trustees for the Meg Goodman Daniel 1984 Grantor Trust are Meg Goodman and John B. Goodman. The trustees for the Betsy Goodman Abell 1984 Grantor Trust are Betsy G. Abell and John B. Goodman. The trustee for the Harold G. Goodman 1984 Grantor Trust is Harold G. Goodman. The trustee for the Bailey Quin Daniel 1991 Trust, the Harriet Elizabeth Goodman

78

1991 Trust and the John Bailey Goodman Jr. 1991 Trust is Daniel A. Breen III. The trustee for the Lucy Hughes Abell 1991 Trust and the Sam Houston Abell 1991 Trust is C. Hastings Johnson. The trustee for the Hutton Gregory Goodman 1994 Trust, the Hannah Jane Goodman 1994 Trust, the Mary Jane Goodman 1994 Trust and the Harold Viterbo Goodman II 1994 Trust is Bessemer Trust Company.

- (15) The address of each member of Messrs. Carroll, Blackburn, Campbell, King, Topper, Goodman and Oskin is Goodman Global, Inc., 2550 North Loop West, Suite 400, Houston, Texas 77092.
- (16) Includes 849,236 shares of common stock and 438,846 shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of options or will become vested upon consummation of this offering.
- (17) Includes 310,555 shares of common stock and 250,769 shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of options or will become vested upon consummation of this offering.
- (18) Includes 159,961 shares of common stock and 94,039 shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of options or will become vested upon consummation of this offering.
- (19) Includes 145,116 shares of common stock and 94,039 shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of options or will become vested upon consummation of this offering.
- (20) Includes 103,805 shares of common stock and 50,155 shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of options or will become vested upon consummation of this offering.
- (21) Represents shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options. Each of Messrs. Berg, Civale, Martinez and Weiner may be deemed a beneficial owner of membership interests of Frio Holdings LLC due to his status as an employee of Apollo Management, L.P. Apollo Management, L.P. and each such person disclaims beneficial ownership of any such membership interest in which he does not have a pecuniary interest. The address of Messrs. Berg, Civale, Martinez and Weiner is c/o Apollo Management, L.P., 9 West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019.
- (22) Includes 30,321 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options. Mr. Goodman may be deemed to beneficially own the 1,002,113 shares held by the John Bailey Goodman 1984 Grantor Trust, the Betsy Goodman Abell 1984 Grantor Trust and the Meg Goodman Daniel 1984 Grantor Trust as a trustee, co-trustee or direct beneficiary of these trusts. Mr. Goodman has voting and investment power with respect to these shares of common stock. These trusts are selling 56,867 shares in this offering (133,715 shares if the over-allotment option is exercised). Mr. Goodman is not selling any shares in this offering.

79

Certain relationships and related party transactions

We currently have certain processes and procedures to address transactions with related parties, including detailed contract and cash management procedures. In connection with this offering, we are reviewing these processes and procedures to further insure an appropriate level of review and pre-approval of transactions between the company and our directors, executive officers and other related parties. We expect these changes to be reflected in our new Code of Ethics and Business Conduct to be adopted in connection with this offering.

Management agreement

Apollo and its affiliates entered into a management agreement with us relating to the provision of certain financial and strategic advisory services and consulting services. Beginning in 2005, we agreed to pay to Apollo an annual monitoring fee equal to the greater of \$2.0 million or 1% of our Adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the management agreement. Upon the consummation of this offering, the management agreement will be terminated, and Apollo will receive approximately \$16.0 million. In addition, as part of our transaction costs included in the purchase price, we paid Apollo a one-time transaction fee of \$20.0 million for structuring the Transactions. We have agreed to indemnify Apollo and its affiliates and their directors, officers and representatives for losses relating to the services contemplated by the management agreement and the engagement of affiliates of Apollo pursuant to, and the performance by them of the services contemplated by, the management agreement.

Payments from our subsidiary

Goodman Global Holdings makes cash payments to us, to enable us to pay any (i) federal, state or local income taxes to the extent that such income taxes are directly attributable to us and our subsidiaries income, (ii) franchise taxes and other fees required to maintain our legal existence and (iii) corporate overhead expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business and salaries or other compensation of employees who perform services for both Goodman Global Holdings and us.

Lease agreement

We currently lease property in Houston, Texas, from trusts established by certain members of the Goodman family and their related trusts under a lease agreement that was entered into in December 1994. The lease expires in November 2014. Monthly payments under the lease are \$16.500.

Repurchase of preferred stock

In connection with this offering, we will redeem all of our outstanding Series A Preferred Stock with an aggregate liquidation preference and accrued and unpaid dividends of approximately \$255.5 million, of which members of our senior management will receive approximately \$9.9 million. As of December 31, 2005, affiliates of Apollo own 69.8% of our Series A Preferred Stock and

the remaining 30.2% is owned by certain members of our management, the Goodman family trusts and other equity syndicate investors.

80

Description of other indebtedness

Senior secured credit facilities

The senior secured credit facilities, as amended on March 17, 2006, are provided by a syndicate of banks and other financial institutions. The senior secured credit facilities provide financing of up to \$525.0 million, consisting of:

- a \$350.0 million term loan facility with a maturity of seven years; and
- a \$175.0 million revolving credit facility with a maturity of six years.

The revolving credit facility includes borrowing capacity available for letters of credit and for borrowings on same-day notice, referred to as the swingline loans.

Interest rate and fees

The borrowings under the senior secured credit facilities bear interest at a rate equal to an applicable margin plus, at our option, either (a) a base rate determined by reference to the higher of (1) the prime rate of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and (2) the federal funds rate plus 1/2 of 1% or (b) a LIBOR or eurocurrency rate determined by reference to the costs of funds for deposits in the currency of such borrowing for the interest period relevant to such borrowing adjusted for certain additional costs. The initial applicable margin for borrowings is 1.50% with respect to base rate borrowings and 2.50% with respect to LIBOR or eurocurrency borrowings and 0.75% with respect to base rate borrowings and 1.75% with respect to LIBOR or eurocurrency borrowings under the revolving credit facility and the term loan, respectively. The applicable margin for such borrowings may be reduced subject to our attaining certain leverage ratios. Upon consummation of this offering and the corresponding reduction in our leverage ratio with the net proceeds therefrom, the applicable margin for borrowings under the revolving credit facility will be 0.75% with respect to base rate borrowings and 1.75% with respect to LIBOR or eurocurrency borrowings.

In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the senior secured credit facilities, we are required to pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the revolving credit facility in respect of the unutilized commitments thereunder at a rate equal to 0.50% per annum. We also pay customary letter of credit and agency fees.

Prepayments

The senior secured credit facilities require us to prepay outstanding term loans, subject to certain exceptions, with:

after our second full fiscal year after the closing of the senior secured credit facilities, 50% (which percentage will be reduced to certain levels upon the achievement of certain senior secured leverage ratios) of excess cash flow (as defined in the credit agreement);

100% of the net cash proceeds of all non-ordinary course asset sales and casualty and condemnation events, if we do not reinvest those proceeds in assets to be used in our business or to make certain other permitted investments within 12 months, subject to certain limitations; and

100% of the net proceeds of any incurrence of debt other than debt permitted under the senior secured credit facilities (excluding permitted receivables financing, as defined in the credit agreement).

81

We may voluntarily repay outstanding loans under the senior secured credit facilities at any time without premium or penalty, other than customary breakage costs with respect to LIBOR or eurocurrency loans.

Amortization

The term loan amortizes each year in an amount equal to 1% per annum in equal quarterly installments for the first six years and nine months, with the remaining amount payable on the date that is seven years from the date of the closing of the senior secured credit facilities. Principal amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility are due and payable in full at maturity, six years from the date of the closing of the senior secured credit facilities.

Guarantee and security

All obligations under the senior secured credit facilities are unconditionally guaranteed by us and, subject to certain exceptions, each of Goodman Global Holdings existing and future direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries (except AsureCare Corp. (a restricted extended warranty entity), a Florida corporation), which we refer to collectively throughout this prospectus as U.S. Guarantors.

All obligations under the senior secured credit facilities, and the guarantees of those obligations (as well as any interest hedging or other swap agreements), will be secured by substantially all of Goodman Global Holdings assets as well as those of ours and each U.S. Guarantor, including, but not limited to, the following, and subject to certain exceptions:

a pledge of Goodman Global Holdings capital stock by us, a pledge of 100% of the capital stock of all U.S. Guarantors and a pledge of 65% of the capital stock of certain of Goodman Global Holdings foreign subsidiaries; and

a security interest in substantially all of Goodman Global Holdings tangible and intangible assets as well as those of ours and each U.S. Guarantor.

Certain covenants and events of default

The senior secured credit facilities contain a number of covenants that, among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, our ability, and the ability of our subsidiaries, to:

sell assets:

incur additional indebtedness;

82

repay other indebtedness (including the fixed rate and floating rate notes);
pay dividends and distributions or repurchase our capital stock;
create liens on assets;
make investments, loans, guarantees or advances;
make certain acquisitions;
engage in mergers or consolidations;

enter into sale and leaseback transactions;

engage in certain transactions with affiliates;

amend certain material agreements governing our indebtedness, including the notes;

change the business conducted by the company and our subsidiaries; and

enter into agreements that restrict dividends from subsidiaries.

In addition, the senior secured credit facilities require us to maintain the following financial covenants:

a maximum consolidated leverage ratio; and

a minimum interest coverage ratio.

The senior secured credit facilities also contain certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default.

Senior floating rate notes

We have \$250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our Senior Floating Rate Notes due June 15, 2012 outstanding. The floating rate notes accrue interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 3.0%, to be reset and paid in arrears semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year, starting on June 15, 2005. The floating rate notes are guaranteed by all of the domestic subsidiaries of Goodman Global Holdings, except AssureCare Corp.

The floating rate notes constitute unsecured senior indebtedness of ours and are equal in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior debt, including borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities. The guarantees of the floating rate notes are unsecured and equal in right of payment to all of the existing and future senior debt of the guarantors, including the guarantees of the senior secured credit facilities. The floating rate notes are effectively subordinated to our secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness.

On or after June 15, 2006, we may redeem all or some of the floating rate notes at a purchase price equal to 102% of the principal amount, declining ratably to par on or after June 15, 2008, plus accrued and unpaid interest. Prior to June 15, 2006, we may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the floating rate notes with the proceeds of a qualified equity offering at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus a premium equal to the interest rate per annum on the floating rate notes applicable on the date on which notice of redemption was given, plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, prior to June 15, 2006, we may also redeem all or some of the floating rate notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus an applicable

premium as defined in the indenture governing the floating rate notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest. Upon our change of control, we must offer to repurchase the floating rate notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

The indenture governing the floating rate notes contains certain covenants that limit, among other things, our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to:

incur additional indebtedness;

pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem our capital stock;

83

Table of Contents
make investments;
sell assets;
incur certain liens;
enter into any agreements restricting our subsidiaries ability to pay dividends;
enter into transactions with affiliates; and
consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets.
Senior subordinated notes
We have \$400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our 7 \(^{7}/8\%\) Senior Subordinated Notes due December 15, 2012 outstanding. Interest on the fixed rate notes is payable semi-annually and in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, starting on June 15, 2005. The fixed rate notes are guaranteed by all of the domestic subsidiaries of Goodman Global Holdings, except AssureCare Corp.
The fixed rate notes constitute unsecured indebtedness of ours and are subordinated in right of payment to all of our existing and future debt, including the floating rate notes and borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities. The guarantees are unsecured and are subordinated in right of payment to all of the existing and future senior debt of the guarantors, including the guarantees of the senior secured credit facilities and the floating rate notes.
On or after December 15, 2008, we may redeem all or some of the fixed rate notes at a purchase price equal to 103.938% of the principal amount, declining ratably to par on or after December 15, 2010, plus accrued and unpaid interest. Prior to December 15, 2007, we may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the fixed rate notes with the proceeds of a qualified equity offering at a redemption price equal to 107.875% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, prior to December 15, 2008, we may also redeem all or some of the fixed rate notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus an applicable premium as defined in the indenture governing the fixed rate notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest. Upon our change of control, we must offer to repurchase the fixed rate notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
The indenture governing the fixed rate notes contains certain covenants that limit, among other things, our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to:

incur additional indebtedness;

84

pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem our capital stock;
make investments;
sell assets;
incur certain liens;
enter into any agreements restricting our subsidiaries ability to pay dividends;
enter into transactions with affiliates; and
consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets.

Material U.S. federal income tax considerations for non-U.S. holders of our common stock

The following is a general discussion of certain material United States federal income tax consequences relating to the purchase, ownership and disposition of our common stock by a non-United States holder, but is not a complete analysis of all the potential tax consequences relating thereto. This discussion does not constitute tax advice. For the purposes of this discussion, a non-United States holder is any beneficial owner of our common stock that for United States federal income tax purposes is not a United States person, and that holds our common stock as a capital asset for U.S. federal income tax purposes (generally, property held for investment). For purposes of this discussion, the term United States person means:

an individual citizen or resident of the United States;

a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation) created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

an estate whose income is subject to United States federal income tax regardless of its source; or

a trust (x) if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (y) which has made a valid election to be treated as a United States person under applicable United States Treasury regulations.

If a partnership (or an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds our common stock, the tax treatment of a partner will generally depend on the status of the partner and upon the activities of the partnership. Accordingly, partnerships which hold our common stock and partners in such partnerships should consult their own tax advisors.

This discussion does not address all aspects of United States federal income taxation that may be relevant in light of a non-United States holder is special tax status or special circumstances. Former citizens or residents of the United States, insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, partnerships or other pass-through entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes, dealers in securities, banks or other financial institutions, controlled foreign corporations, passive foreign investment companies, corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid United States federal income tax and investors that hold our common stock as part of a hedge, straddle or conversion transaction are among those categories of potential investors that are subject to special rules not covered in this discussion.

This discussion does not assume any aspects of United States federal estate or gift taxation. In addition, this discussion does not address any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, local or non-United States taxing jurisdiction. Furthermore, the following discussion is based on current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and Treasury Regulations and administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, all as in effect on the date hereof, and all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. No ruling has been or will be sought from the Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, with respect to the matters discussed below, and there can be no assurance that the IRS will not take a contrary position regarding the tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership or disposition of our common stock, or that any such contrary position would not be sustained by a court. Accordingly, each

non-United States holder should consult its own tax advisors regarding the United States federal, state, local and non-United States income and other tax consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of our common stock.

Dividends

Distributions on our common stock generally will constitute dividends for United States federal income tax purposes to the extent paid from our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under United States federal income tax principles. Amounts not treated as dividends for United States federal income tax purposes will constitute a return of capital and will first be applied against and reduce a holder s adjusted tax basis in the common stock, but not below zero, and then the excess, if any, will be treated as gain from the sale of the common stock.

Amounts treated as dividends paid to a non-United States holder generally will be subject to withholding of United States federal income tax either at a rate of 30% of the gross amount of the dividends or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty. In order to receive a reduced treaty rate, a non-United States holder must provide a valid IRS Form W-8BEN or other successor form certifying qualification for the reduced rate.

Dividends received by a non-United States holder that are effectively connected with a United States trade or business conducted by the non-United States holder (and, if a treaty applies, attributable to the non-United States holder s U.S. permanent establishment) are exempt from such withholding tax. In order to obtain this exemption, a non-United States holder must provide a valid IRS Form W-8ECI or other successor form properly certifying such exemption. However, such effectively connected dividends, although not subject to withholding tax, are generally taxed at the same graduated rates applicable to United States persons, net of allowable deductions and credits.

In addition to the graduated tax described above, dividends received by a corporate non-United States holder that are effectively connected with a United States trade or business of such holder may also be subject to a branch profits tax at a rate of 30% or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable tax treaty.

A non-United States holder may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld if an appropriate claim for refund is filed timely with the IRS. If a non-United States holder holds our common stock through a foreign partnership or a foreign intermediary, the foreign partnership or foreign intermediary will also be required to comply with additional certification requirements.

Gain on disposition of common stock

A non-United States holder generally will not be subject to United States federal income tax on any gain realized upon the sale or other disposition of our common stock unless:

the gain is effectively connected with a United States trade or business of the non-United States holder and, if a tax treaty applies, is attributable to a United States permanent establishment maintained by such non-United States holder;

the non-United States holder is an individual who is present in the United States for a period or periods aggregating 183 days or more during the taxable year in which the sale or other disposition occurs and other conditions are met; or

86

our common stock constitutes a United States real property interest within the meaning of Code section 897(c)(2) by reason of our status as a United States real property holding corporation, or USRPHC, for United States federal income tax purposes at any time within the shorter of the five-year period preceding the disposition or the holder sholding period for our common stock, the applicable period.

Generally, a corporation is a United States real property holding corporation if the fair market value of its United States real property interests equals or exceeds 50% of the sum of the fair market value of its worldwide real property interests plus its other assets used or held for use in a trade or business. We believe that we are not currently and do not anticipate becoming a USRPHC. However, because the determination of whether we are a USRPHC depends on the fair market value of our United States real property interests relative to the fair market value of our other business assets, there can be no assurance that we will not become a USRPHC in the future. Even if we become a USRPHC, as long as our common stock is regularly traded on an established securities market, such common stock will be treated as a United States real property interest with respect to a particular non-United States holder only if such non-United States holder actually or constructively held more than 5 percent of such regularly traded common stock during the applicable period.

Unless an applicable tax treaty provides otherwise, gain described in the first bullet point above generally will be subject to the United States federal income tax imposed on net income on the same basis that applies to United States persons generally and, for corporate holders under certain circumstances, the branch profits tax, but will generally not be subject to withholding tax. Gain described in the second bullet point above (which may be offset by United States source capital losses) will be subject to a flat 30% United States federal income tax. Gain described in the third bullet point above generally will be taxed in the same manner as gain described in the first bullet point above, except that the branch profits tax will not apply. Non-United States holders should consult any applicable income tax treaties that may provide for different rules.

Backup withholding and information reporting

Generally, we must report annually to the IRS the amount of dividends paid, the name and address of the recipient, and the amount, if any, of tax withheld, together with other information. A similar report is sent to the holder. These information reporting requirements apply even if withholding was not required because the dividends were effectively connected dividends or withholding was reduced or eliminated by an applicable tax treaty. Pursuant to tax treaties or other agreements, the IRS may make its reports available to tax authorities in the recipient s country of residence.

Backup withholding (currently at a rate of 28%) will generally not apply to payments of dividends made by us or our paying agents, in their capacities as such, to a non-United States holder if the holder has provided the certification described above that it is not a United States person or has otherwise established an exemption, provided we or the paying agent have no actual knowledge or reason to know that the beneficial owner is a United States person.

Payments of the proceeds from a disposition (including a redemption) effected outside the United States by a non-United States holder made by or through a foreign office of a broker generally will not be subject to information reporting or backup withholding. However, information reporting (but generally not backup withholding) will apply to such a payment if the

87

broker is a United States person, a controlled foreign corporation for United States federal income tax purposes, a foreign person 50% or more of whose gross income is effectively connected with a United States trade or business for a specified three year period, or a foreign partnership if (1) at any time during its tax year, one or more of its partners are United States persons who, in the aggregate, hold more than 50 percent of the income or capital interest in such partnership or (2) at any time during its tax year, it is engaged in the conduct of a trade or business in the United States, unless the broker has documentary evidence in its records that the beneficial owner of the disposed stock is a non-United States holder or an exemption is otherwise established, provided that the broker has no knowledge or reason to know that the beneficial owner is a United States person.

Payment of the proceeds from a disposition by a non-United States holder of common stock made by or through the United States office of a broker is generally subject to information reporting and backup withholding unless the non-United States holder certifies as to its non-United States holder status under penalties of perjury or otherwise establishes an exemption from information reporting and backup withholding, provided that the broker has no knowledge or reason to know that the beneficial owner is a United States person.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be allowed as a refund or a credit against a non-United States holder s United States federal income tax liability provided the required information is furnished timely to the IRS.

88

Description of capital stock

The following is a description of the material terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws as each will be in effect as of the consummation of this offering. We refer you to our amended and restated articles of incorporation and bylaws, copies of which have been filed as exhibits to the registration statement relating to this offering.

Common stock

Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we will be authorized to issue up to 275,000,000 shares of common stock, \$0.01 par value per share. Holders of common stock will be entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders and will not have cumulative voting rights. Accordingly, holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of directors may elect all of the directors standing for election. Holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to any preferential dividend rights of outstanding preferred stock. Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably our net assets available after the payment of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior rights of any outstanding preferred stock. Holders of our common stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The outstanding shares of common stock are, and the shares offered by us hereby will be, when issued and paid for, fully paid and nonassessable. If we issue any preferred stock, the rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of our preferred stock. See Preferred stock.

Preferred stock

Pursuant to the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we will be authorized to issue up to 15,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Our board of directors will be authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by law, without further shareholder approval, to issue such shares of preferred stock in one or more series. Each such series of preferred stock shall have such rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, as shall be determined by our board of directors.

The purpose of authorizing our board of directors to issue preferred stock and determine its rights and preferences is to eliminate delays associated with a shareholder vote on specific issuances. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing desirable flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or of discouraging a third party from attempting to acquire, a majority of our outstanding voting stock. The existence of the authorized but undesignated preferred stock may have a depressive effect on the market price of our common stock.

Stockholders agreement

In connection with the Transactions, an affiliate of Apollo and the Goodman family trusts entered into a stockholders agreement. The stockholder agreement, as amended upon consummation of this offering, provides that so long as Apollo, any of its affiliates and the Goodman family trusts hold at least 50% of our outstanding common stock, Apollo and the

89

Goodman family trusts will vote their shares of common stock in favor of one director designated by the Goodman family trusts and such other directors as may by designated by Apollo. There is no limit on the number of directors that Apollo may designate. Upon consummation of this offering, Apollo and the Goodman family trusts will continue to own approximately 59% of our common stock assuming no exercise of the over-allotment option.

The stockholders agreement also provides for customary tag-along rights, drag along rights and registration rights which would apply to the shares of our capital stock.

Registration Rights. Under the terms of the stockholders agreement, as amended, we have agreed to register shares of our common stock owned by Apollo, certain of its affiliates and its permitted transferees, and the Goodman family trusts and other investors party to the agreement under the following circumstances:

Demand Rights. At any time upon the written request from Apollo, or at any time after six months from the date of this offering upon the written request from the Goodman family trusts and other investors party to the agreement, we will register shares of our common stock specified in such request for resale under an appropriate registration statement filed and declared effective by the SEC. We may defer a demand registration by up to 90 days if our board of directors determines it would be materially detrimental to us to file a registration statement.

Piggyback Rights. If at any time we file a registration statement for the purposes of making a public offering of our common stock, or register outstanding shares of our common stock for resale on behalf of any holder of our common stock, Apollo, certain of its affiliates and its permitted transferees may elect to include in such registration statement any shares of common stock such person holds. If Apollo, certain of its affiliates and its permitted transferees elect to include any of their shares in the registered offering, the Goodman family trusts and the other investors party to the agreement may elect to include in such registration statement any shares of common stock such person holds. The managing underwriter in the contemplated offering may exclude all or a part of the shares according to market factors pursuant to an order of priority set forth in the agreement.

Lockup. In consideration of these registration rights, the stockholders who are parties to the stockholders agreement, as amended, have agreed, if requested by us or the managing underwriters, not to sell shares of common stock for a period not to exceed 180 days following the consummation of this offering.

Management stockholders agreement

Apollo, we and certain members of management who invested in us entered into a management stockholders agreement. The management stockholders agreement provides for customary restrictions on transfer, put and call rights, tag-along rights, drag along rights and registration rights which would apply to the shares of our capital stock. Individuals who exercise options under the 2004 Stock Option Plan will either be a party to the management stockholders agreement, or party to another stockholders agreement with Apollo and certain other employee stockholders which provides for customary restrictions on transfer, call rights, tag-along rights and drag along rights, which apply to shares of our capital stock issued on exercise of any option. Upon consummation of this offering, the management stockholders agreement will terminate, and only the piggyback registration rights of the management stockholders party to the agreement will survive.

The piggyback registration rights in the management stockholders agreement provide that if at any time we file a registration statement for the purposes of making a public offering of our common stock, or register outstanding shares of our common stock for resale on behalf of any holder of our common stock, the management stockholders party to the agreement may elect to include in such registration statement any shares of our common stock such person holds. We or the managing underwriter in the contemplated offering may exclude all or a part of the shares according to market factors pursuant to an order of priority set forth in the agreement.

Certain corporate anti-takeover provisions

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws will contain a number of provisions relating to corporate governance and to the rights of shareholders. Certain of these provisions may be deemed to have a potential anti-takeover effect in that such provisions may delay, defer or prevent a change of control of the company. These provisions include:

Preferred stock

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for up to 15,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock. Our board of directors may by resolution establish one or more series of preferred stock, having such number of shares, designation, relative voting rights, dividend rates, liquidation or other rights, preferences and limitations as may be fixed by our board of directors without any further shareholder approval. Such rights, preferences, privileges and limitations as may be established may have the effect of impeding or discouraging the acquisition or control of the company.

Classified board: number of directors

Our board of directors will be classified into three classes. Each director will serve a three year term and will stand for re-election once every three years. In addition, the number of directors on our board may be fixed only by the majority of our board of directors. The classification of our board of directors and the sole power to fix the number of directors, combined with the limitations on the ability of our shareholders to remove directors and fill vacancies, as described below, may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of the company.

Removal of directors, vacancies

Our shareholders will be able to remove directors only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote in the election of directors. Vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by a majority of our board of directors.

No cumulative voting

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will provide that shareholders do not have the right to cumulative votes in the election of directors. Cumulative voting rights would have been available to the holders of our common stock if our amended and restated articles of incorporation had not negated cumulative voting.

91

No shareholder action by written consent; calling of special meetings of shareholders

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will not permit shareholder action without a meeting by consent except for the unanimous consent of all holders of our common stock. They also will provide that special meetings of our shareholders may be called only by our board of directors or the chairman of our board of directors.

Advance notice requirements for shareholder proposals and director nominations

Our amended and restated bylaws will provide that shareholders seeking to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring business before an annual meeting of shareholders must provide timely notice of their proposal in writing to the corporate secretary. Shareholders at an annual meeting may only consider proposals or nominations specified in the notice of meeting or brought before the meeting by or at the direction of our board of directors or by a shareholder of record on the record date for the meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has delivered timely written notice in proper form to our secretary of the shareholder s intention to bring such business before the meeting. These provisions, combined with the provisions governing shareholder action by written consent, may have the effect of delaying until the next shareholder meeting shareholder actions that are favored by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities.

Delaware takeover statute

Our amended and restated articles of incorporation will provide that we are not governed by Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of Delaware which, in the absence of such provisions, would have imposed additional requirements regarding mergers and other business combinations.

Transfer agent and registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for the common stock is Mellon Investor Services. LLC.

Exchange listing

We have applied for listing of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol GGL.

92

Shares eligible for future sale

We cannot predict what effect, if any, market sales of shares of common stock or the availability of shares of common stock for sale will have on the market price of our common stock. Nevertheless, sales of substantial amounts of common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock and could impair our future ability to raise capital through the sale of our equity or equity-related securities at a time and price that we deem appropriate.

Upon the closing of this offering, we will have outstanding an aggregate of approximately 68,889,837 shares of common stock. Of the outstanding shares, the shares sold in this offering will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act, except that any shares held by our affiliates, as that term is defined under Rule 144 of the Securities Act, may be sold only in compliance with the limitations described below. The remaining outstanding shares of common stock will be deemed restricted securities as that term is defined under Rule 144. Restricted securities may be sold in the public market only if registered or if they qualify for an exemption from registration under Rule 144 or 144(k) under the Securities Act, which are summarized below.

Rule 144

In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, any person, including an affiliate, who has beneficially owned shares of our common stock for a period of at least one year is entitled to sell, within any three-month period, a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of:

1.0% of the then-outstanding shares of common stock; and

the average weekly trading volume in the common stock on the New York Stock Exchange during the four calendar weeks preceding the date on which notice of sale is filed with the SEC.

Sales under Rule 144 are also subject to provisions relating to notice, manner of sale, volume limitations and the availability of current public information about us.

Rule 144(k)

In addition, a person who is not deemed to have been an affiliate of ours at any time during the 90 days preceding a sale and who has beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at least two years would be entitled to sell those shares under Rule 144(k) without regard to the manner of sale, public information, volume limitation or notice requirements of Rule 144. To the extent that our affiliates sell their shares, other than pursuant to Rule 144 or a registration statement, the purchaser sholding period for the purpose of effecting a sale under Rule 144 commences on the date of transfer from the affiliate.

Rule 701

Under Rule 701, common stock acquired upon the exercise of certain currently outstanding options granted under our stock plans may be resold, to the extent not subject to lock-up agreements, (1) by persons other than affiliates, beginning 90 days after the effective date of this offering, subject only to the manner-of-sale provisions of Rule 144, and (2) by affiliates, subject to the manner-of-sale, current public information and filing requirements of Rule 144, in each case, without compliance with the one-year holding period requirement of Rule 144.

93

Form S-8 registration statements

We intend to file one or more registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act following this offering to register our shares of common stock that are issuable pursuant to our stock option plans. These registration statements are expected to become effective upon filing. Shares covered by these registration statements will then be eligible for sale in the public markets, subject to any applicable lock-up agreements and to Rule 144 limitations applicable to affiliates.

Registration rights

Pursuant to our stockholders agreement and our management stockholders agreement, subject to certain limitations, an affiliate of Apollo, the Goodman family trusts and other investors party to the stockholders agreement have the right to demand that we register their shares of our common stock in a public offering, and Apollo, the Goodman family trusts, the management investors and other equity syndicate investors have piggy-back registration rights through which they can require us to include their shares in any registered offering of common stock that we make.

Lock-up agreements

We, our officers, directors and the holders of substantially all of our outstanding common stock and stock equivalents have agreed with the underwriters not to sell, dispose of or hedge any of their common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of common stock, during the lock-up period beginning on the date of this prospectus continuing through the date 180 days after the date of this prospectus, subject to limited exceptions and except with the prior written consent of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.

J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. may, in its sole discretion and without prior notice, permit early release of the shares of our common stock subject to the descriptions detailed above prior to the expiration of the lock-up period, although it has no present intention or understanding to do so. Prior to granting an early release of our common stock, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. would consider factors including the number of shares requested to be released, market conditions, the possible impact on the market for our common stock, the trading price of our common stock, historical trading volumes of our common stock and the reasons for the request.

The 180-day restricted period described in the preceding paragraph will be automatically extended if: (1) during the last 17 days of the 180-day restricted period we issue an earnings release or announce material news or a material event; or (2) prior to the expiration of the 180-day restricted period, we announce that we will release earnings results during the 16-day period beginning on the last day of the 180-day period, in which case, the restrictions described in the preceding paragraph will continue to apply until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the issuance of the earnings release or the announcement of the material news or material event. See Underwriting.

94

Underwriting

J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and Goldman, Sachs & Co. are acting as representatives for this offering.

We and the underwriters named below have entered into an underwriting agreement covering the common stock to be sold in this offering. Each underwriter has severally agreed to purchase, and we and the selling shareholders have agreed to sell to each underwriter, the number of shares of common stock set forth opposite its name in the following table.

Name
J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated

Goldman, Sachs & Co.

Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC.

Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.

Lehman Brothers Inc.

KeyBanc Capital Markets, a division of McDonald Investments Inc.

The underwriting agreement provides that if the underwriters take any of the shares presented in the table above, then they must take all of the shares. No underwriter is obligated to take any shares allocated to a defaulting underwriter except under limited circumstances. The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the underwriters are subject to certain conditions precedent, including the absence of any material adverse change in our business and the receipt of certain certificates, opinions and letters from us, our counsel and our independent auditors.

The underwriters are offering the shares of common stock, subject to the prior sale of shares, and when, as and if such shares are delivered to and accepted by them. The underwriters will initially offer to sell shares to the public at the initial public offering price shown on the front cover page of this prospectus. The underwriters may sell shares to securities dealers at a discount of up to \$ per share from the initial public offering price. Any such securities dealers may resell shares to certain other brokers or dealers at a discount of up to \$ per share from the initial public offering price. After the initial public offering, the underwriters may vary the public offering price and other selling terms.

If the underwriters sell more shares than the total number shown in the table above, the underwriters have the option to buy up to an additional 3,529,411 shares of common stock from the selling shareholders to cover such sales. They may exercise this option during the 30-day period from the date of this prospectus. If any shares are purchased with this option, the underwriters will purchase shares in approximately the same proportion as shown in the table above. If any additional shares of common stock are purchased, the underwriters will offer the additional shares on the same terms as those on which the shares are being offered.

The following table shows the per share and total underwriting discounts that we and the selling shareholders will pay to the underwriters. These amounts are shown assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters option to purchase additional shares.

		Paid by Go	odman Global, Inc.	Paid by	selling shareholders
	ove	Without With full overallotment exercise exercise		Without overallotment exercise	With full overallotment exercise
Per share	\$		\$	\$	\$
Total	\$		\$	\$	\$

The underwriters have advised us that they may make short sales of our common stock in connection with this offering, resulting in the sale by the underwriters of a greater number of shares than they are required to purchase pursuant to the underwriting agreement. The short position resulting from those short sales will be deemed a covered short position to the extent that it does not exceed the shares subject to the underwriters overallotment option and will be deemed a naked short position to the extent that it exceeds that number. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the trading price of the common stock in the open market that could adversely affect investors who purchase shares in this offering. The underwriters may reduce or close out their covered short position either by exercising the overallotment option or by purchasing shares in the open market. In determining which of these alternatives to pursue, the underwriters will consider the price at which shares are available for purchase in the open market as compared to the price at which they may purchase shares through the overallotment option. Any naked short position will be closed out by purchasing shares in the open market. Similar to the other stabilizing transactions described below, open market purchases made by the underwriters to cover all or a portion of their short position may have the effect of preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of our common stock following this offering. As a result, our common stock may trade at a price that is higher than the price that otherwise might prevail in the open market without notice.

The underwriters have advised us that, pursuant to Regulation M under the Securities Act, they may engage in transactions, including stabilizing bids or the imposition of penalty bids, that may have the effect of stabilizing or maintaining the market price of the shares of common stock at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. A stabilizing bid is a bid for or the purchase of shares of common stock on behalf of the underwriters for the purpose of fixing or maintaining the price of the common stock. A penalty bid is an arrangement permitting the underwriters to claim the selling concession otherwise accruing to an underwriter or syndicate member in connection with the offering if the common stock originally sold by that underwriter or syndicate member is purchased by the underwriters in the open market pursuant to a stabilizing bid or to cover all or part of a syndicate short position. The underwriters have advised us that stabilizing bids and open market purchases may be effected on the New York Stock Exchange, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

One or more of the underwriters may facilitate the marketing of this offering online directly or through one of its affiliates. In those cases, prospective investors may view offering terms and a prospectus online and, depending upon the particular underwriter, place orders online or through their financial advisor. The information on any such website is not part of this prospectus.

Table of Contents 148

96

We estimate that our share of the total expenses of this offering, excluding underwriting discounts, will be approximately \$5.0 million

We and the selling shareholders have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

We and our executive officers and directors and the holders of substantially all of our outstanding common stock and common stock equivalents have agreed that, during the lock-up period beginning on the date of this prospectus and continuing to and including the date 180 days after the date of this prospectus, none of them will, subject to certain limited exceptions, directly or indirectly, offer, sell, offer to sell, contract to sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common stock without the prior written consent of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.

J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. may, in its sole discretion and without prior notice, permit early release of the shares of our common stock subject to the descriptions detailed above prior to the expiration of the lock-up period, although it has no present intention or understanding to do so. Prior to granting an early release of our common stock, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. would consider factors including the number of shares requested to be released, market conditions, the possible impact on the market for our common stock, the trading price of our common stock, historical trading volumes of our common stock and the reasons for the request.

The 180-day restricted period described in the preceding paragraph will be automatically extended if: (1) during the last 17 days of the 180-day restricted period we issue an earnings release or announce material news or a material event; or (2) prior to the expiration of the 180-day restricted period, we announce that we will release earnings results during the 16-day period beginning on the last day of the 180-day period, in which case, the restrictions described in the preceding paragraph will continue to apply until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the issuance of the earnings release of the announcement of the material news or material event.

At our request, the Underwriters have reserved for sale, at the initial public offering price, up to 1,176,470 of the shares offered hereby to be sold to certain directors, officers, employees and persons having relationships with us. The number of shares of common stock available for sale to the general public will be reduced to the extent such persons purchase such reserved shares. Any reserved shares which are not orally confirmed for purchase by 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time on the first day of trading will be sold by the Underwriters to the general public on the same terms as the other shares offered hereby.

We may issue shares of common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of common stock for the benefit of our employees, directors and officers under benefit plans described in this prospectus provided that, during the term of the lock-up, we will not file a registration statement covering shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of options outstanding on the date we enter into the underwriting agreement.

The underwriters have informed us that they do not intend sales to discretionary accounts to exceed 5% of the total number of shares of our common stock offered by them and that no sales to discretionary accounts may be made without prior written approval of the customer.

We intend to apply to list our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol GGL. The underwriters intend to sell shares of our common stock to a minimum of 2,000 beneficial owners in lots of 100 or more so as to meet the distribution requirements of this listing.

97

There has been no public market for the common stock prior to this offering. We, we the selling shareholders and the underwriters will negotiate the initial public offering price. In determining the initial public offering price, we, the selling shareholders and the underwriters expect to consider a number of factors in addition to prevailing market conditions, including:

the history of and prospects for our industry;
an assessment of our management;
our present operations;
our historical results of operations;
the trend of our revenues and earnings; and
our earnings prospects.
We, the selling shareholders and the underwriters will consider these and other relevant factors in relation to the price of similar securities of generally comparable companies. None of the Company, the selling shareholders and the underwriters can assure investors that an active trading market will develop for the common stock, or that the common stock will trade in the public market at or above the initial public offering price.
From time to time in the ordinary course of their respective businesses, certain of the underwriters and their affiliates perform various financial advisory, investment banking and commercial banking services from time to time for us and our affiliates. Affiliates of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. acted as joint book-running manager in our December notes offering and as joint lead arranger and lender for our senior secured credit facilities; affiliates of Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated acted as co-manager in our December notes offering; and affiliates of Goldman Sachs & Co. acted as financial advisor to the Goodman family trusts in connection with the Acquisition.
Each of the underwriters has represented and agreed that:
(a) it has not made or will not make an offer of shares to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of section 102B of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) (FSMA) except to legal entities which are authorised or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not so authorised or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities or otherwise in circumstances which do not require the publication by the company of a prospectus pursuant to the Prospectus Rules of the Financial Services Authority (FSA);

Table of Contents 151

(b) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of FSMA) to persons who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial

Promotion) Order 2005 or in circumstances in which section 21 of FSMA does not apply to the company; and

(c) it has complied with, and will comply with all applicable provisions of FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the shares in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

98

European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a Relevant Member State), each Underwriter has represented and agreed that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the Relevant Implementation Date) it has not made and will not make an offer of Shares to the public in that Relevant Member State prior to the publication of a prospectus in relation to the Shares which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of Shares to the public in that Relevant Member State at any time:

- (a) to legal entities which are authorised or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not so authorised or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities;
- (b) to any legal entity which has two or more of (1) an average of at least 250 employees during the last financial year; (2) a total balance sheet of more than 43,000,000 and (3) an annual net turnover of more than 50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or consolidated accounts; or
- (c) in any other circumstances which do not require the publication by the Issuer of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an offer of Shares to the public in relation to any Shares in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Shares, as the same may be varied in that Relevant Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State and the expression Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State.

The shares may not be offered or sold by means of any document other than to persons whose ordinary business is to buy or sell shares or debentures, whether as principal or agent, or in circumstances which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong, and no advertisement, invitation or document relating to the shares may be issued, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to professional investors within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong and any rules made thereunder.

This prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this prospectus and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the shares may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the shares be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the SFA), (ii) to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in

accordance with the conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where the shares are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 by a relevant person which is: (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary is an accredited investor, shares, debentures and units of shares and debentures of that corporation or the beneficiaries—rights and interest in that trust shall not be transferable for 6 months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the shares under Section 275 except: (1) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the SFA or to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA; (2) where no consideration is given for the transfer; or (3) by operation of law.

The securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities and Exchange Law of Japan (the Securities and Exchange Law) and each underwriter has agreed that it will not offer or sell any securities, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organized under the laws of Japan), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to a resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the Securities and Exchange Law and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

Switzerland

Shares of our common stock may be offered in Switzerland only on the basis of a non-public offering. This prospectus does not constitute an issuance prospectus according to articles 652a or 1156 of the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations or a listing prospectus according to article 32 of the Listing Rules of the Swiss exchange. The shares of our common stock may not be offered or distributed on a professional basis in or from Switzerland and neither this prospectus nor any other offering material relating to shares of our common stock may be publicly issued in connection with any such offer or distribution. The shares have not been and will not be approved by any Swiss regulatory authority. In particular, the shares are not and will not be registered with or supervised by the Swiss Federal Banking Commission, and investors may not claim protection under the Swiss Investment Fund Act.

Legal matters

The validity of the shares sold in this offering will be passed upon us by Latham & Watkins LLP, New York, New York. Certain legal matters relating to the validity of this offering will be passed upon for the underwriters by Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP, New York, New York.

Experts

The consolidated financial statements of Goodman Global, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 appearing in this prospectus and Registration Statement have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon appearing elsewhere herein, and are included in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

100

Where you can find more information

This prospectus is part of a registration statement on Form S-1 that we have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act of 1933 covering the common stock we are offering. As permitted by the rules and regulations of the SEC, this prospectus omits certain information contained in the registration statement. For further information with respect to us and our common stock, you should refer to the registration statement and to its exhibits and schedules. We make reference in this prospectus to certain of our contracts, agreements and other documents that are filed as exhibits to the registration statement. For additional information regarding those contracts, agreements and other documents, please see the exhibits attached to this registration statement.

You can read and copy the registration statement and the exhibits and schedules filed with the registration statement or any reports, statements or other information we have filed or file, at the public reference facilities maintained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also obtain copies of the documents from such offices upon payment of the prescribed fees. You may call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference room. You may also request copies of the documents upon payment of a duplicating fee, by writing to the SEC. In addition, the SEC maintains a web site that contains reports and other information regarding registrants (including us) that file electronically with the SEC, which you can access at http://www.sec.gov.

In addition, you may request copies of this filing and such other reports as we may determine or as the law requires at no cost, by telephone at (713) 861-2500, or by mail to Goodman Global, Inc., 2550 North Loop West, Suite 400, Houston, Texas 77092. Our website address is http://www.goodmanglobal.com. Information on our website is not considered part of this prospectus.

101

Index to consolidated financial statements

Availted as a clidated financial statements	Page
Audited consolidated financial statements	
Years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003	
Report of independent registered public accounting firm	F-2
Consolidated balance sheets	F-3
Consolidated statements of income	F-4
Consolidated statements of shareholders equity	F-5
Consolidated statements of cash flows	F-6
Notes to consolidated financial statements	F-7

F-1

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Goodman Global, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Goodman Global, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2005, the period December 23, 2004 to December 31, 2004, the period January 1, 2004 to December 22, 2004 (Predecessor), and the year ended December 31, 2003 (Predecessor). These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Goodman Global, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2005, the period December 23, 2004 to December 31, 2004, the period January 1, 2004 to December 22, 2004 (Predecessor) and the year ended December 31, 2003 (Predecessor) in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Houston, Texas

March 9, 2006, except as to Note 14, as to which the date is April 4, 2006.

F-2

Goodman Global, Inc.

Consolidated balance sheets

		December 3		mber 31,
	_	2005		2004
			(In the	ousands)
Assets				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	23,779	\$	3,856
Restricted cash		2,600		2,600
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts (\$7.8 million in 2005; \$8.1 million in 2004)		220,123		160,832
Inventories		303,295		300,971
Deferred tax assets		14,089		
Other current assets		12,786		14,277
Total current assets		576,672		482,536
Property, plant, and equipment, net		160,549		141,779
Goodwill		391,287		339,842
Identifiable intangibles		416,437		436,316
Deferred tax assets		46,235		106,687
Deferred financing costs		30,357		35,598
Other assets	_			1,837
Total assets	\$	1,621,537	\$ 1	,544,595
	_			
Liabilities and shareholders equity				
Current liabilities:				
Trade accounts payable	\$	156,870	\$	55,365
Accrued warranty		58,068		59,479
Deferred tax liabilities				12,350
Other accrued expenses		105,341		56,609
Current portion of long-term debt	_	3,500		3,500
Total current liabilities		323,779		187,303
Long-term debt, less current portion		957,875		996,500
Revolving credit facility		,		24,135
Other long-term liabilities		6,498		8,938
Preferred stock, 9.5% Series A cumulative, par value \$.01, 250,000 shares authorized, 225,570 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 225,000 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2004; liquidation preference of \$1,000 per share		225,570		225,000
Common stock, par value \$.01, 275,000,000 shares authorized, 47,972,190 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 47,850,928 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2004		480		479

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

Accumulated other comprehensive income Additional paid-in capital	2,088 108,073	107,434
Retained deficit	(2,826)	(5,194)
Total shareholders equity	107,815	102,719
Total liabilities and shareholders equity	\$ 1,621,537	\$ 1,544,595
1 otal nabilities and shareholders—equity	Ψ 1,021,001	Ψ 1,544

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Goodman Global, Inc.

Consolidated statements of income

					January 1 to		Predecessor January 1 to December 22,		January 1 to		January 1 to		_	
	Si	uccessor 2005		2004		2004	Pr	edecessor 2003						
							(In t	housands)						
Sales, net	\$ -	1,565,406	\$	20,285	\$	1,297,295	\$	1,192,671						
Costs and expenses:														
Cost of goods sold	-	1,243,408		18,471		1,005,955		915,272						
Selling, general, and administrative expenses		170,077		7,661		144,145		147,687						
Acquisition-related expenses						68,745								
Depreciation expense		17,838		549		18,101		14,851						
Amortization expense		19,879		237										
Operating (loss) profit		114,204		(6,633)		60,349		114,861						
Interest expense		74,213		1,601		10,877		26,381						
Interest income								(300)						
Other income, net		(706)				(1,406)		(331)						
Earnings (losses) before taxes		40,697		(8,234)		50,878		89,111						
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes		15,817		(3,568)		(1,481)		1,745						
Net income (loss)	\$	24,880	\$	(4,666)	\$	52,359	\$	87,366						
Less: Preferred stock dividends		22,512		528										
N	_													
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders	\$	2,368	\$	(5,194)	\$	52,359	\$	87,366						
	_					04.000		00.500						
Less: Proforma provision for income taxes						21,069		32,563						
Proforma net income (loss) available to common														
shareholders	\$	2,368	\$	(5,194)	\$	31,290	\$	54,803						
Net income (loss) per share:														
Basic	\$	0.05	\$	(0.11)	\$	1.09	\$	1.83						
Diluted	\$	0.05		(0.11)	\$	1.09	\$	1.83						
Proforma tax effect	\$	0.05	\$	(0.11)	\$	0.65	\$	1.15						
Average outstanding common shares:														
Basic		7,931,700		47,850,928		47,850,928		47,850,928						
Diluted		8,182,096		47,850,928		47,850,928		47,850,928						
Proforma tax effect	48	8,182,096		47,850,928		47,850,928		47,850,928						

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

F-4

Goodman Global, Inc.

Consolidated statements of shareholders equity

	Common Stock	Additional Paid-In Capital	Retained Earnings (Deficit)	Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income		Total
-						(In thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2002	\$ 187	\$	\$ 91,959	\$	(14,514)	\$ 77,632
Net income	,	•	87,366	•	()- /	87,366
Minimum pension liability adjustment			,		(1,070)	(1,070)
Change in fair value of derivatives					3,649	3,649
Loss on derivative instruments reclassified into					1.001	1 001
earnings					1,261	1,261
Comprehensive income						91,206
Equity contribution adjustment			(7,544)			(7,544)
Distributions			(11,015)			(11,015)
Balance at December 31, 2003	187		160,766		(10,674)	150,279
Net income	107		52,359		(10,074)	52,359
Minimum pension liability adjustment			32,000		(591)	(591)
Change in fair value of derivatives					1,335	1,335
Loss on derivative instruments reclassified into					,	,,,,,,
earnings					663	663
Comprehensive income						F2 766
Comprehensive income Equity contribution			83,790			53,766 83,790
Distributions			(30,815)			(30,815)
Distributions			(50,015)			(50,613)
Balance at December 22, 2004	\$ 187	\$	\$ 266,100	\$	(9,267)	\$ 257,020
Successor						
Common stock issued on December 23, 2004						
(reflects the new basis of 47,850,928 common						
shares in connection with the acquisition)	\$ 479	\$ 252,021	\$	\$		\$ 252,500
Preferred stock dividend			(528)			(528)
Predecessor basis adjustment		(144,587)	(4.000)			(144,587)
Net loss			(4,666)			(4,666)
Balance at December 31, 2004	479	107,434	(5,194)			102,719
Net income			24,880			24,880
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax					(673)	(673)
Foreign currency translation					325	325
Change in fair value of derivatives, net of tax					2,436	2,436
Comprehensive income						26,968
Preferred stock dividend			(22,512)			(22,512)
Common stock issued	1	639	, , ,			640

Balance at December 31, 2005	\$ 480	\$ 108,073	\$ (2,826)	\$ 2,088	\$ 107,815

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Goodman Global, Inc.

Consolidated statements of cash flows

	Successor 2005	Dece	Successor mber 23 to cember 31, 2004	•	decessor January 1 to ember 22, 2004	Pre	decessor 2003
						(In the	ousands)
Operating activities							
Net income (loss)	\$ 24,880	\$	(4,666)	\$	52,359	\$	87,366
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net							
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:							
Adjustments to goodwill	(2,260)						
Depreciation	17,838		549		18,018		14,851
Amortization	19,879		4,753		-,		,
Deferred tax provision	(5,872)		(3,170)		(2,940)		(163)
Interest accrued on related-party notes	(-)-		(-, -,		() /		349
Gain on derivatives					(4,925)		(5,133)
Gain on disposal of assets	(294)				(896)		(916)
Amortization of inventory step-up in basis	39,586				()		()
Amortization of deferred financing costs	5,241						
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of	ĺ						
effects of acquisition:							
Accounts receivable	(63,842)		10,209		(21,013)		(9,760)
Inventories	(41,919)		11,369		(41,935)		61,416
Other assets	(3,050)		1,388		21,382		(7,891)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	115,332		(17,992)		(41,048)		10,688
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	105,519		2,440		(20,998)		150,807
Investing activities							
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment	(28,806)				(27,772)		(16,801)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant, and	(=0,000)				(=: ,: : =)		(10,001)
equipment	3,810				1,106		5,042
Restricted cash	5,6.5				(100)		15,080
Acquisition, net of cash			(1,451,486)		(100)		. 0,000
Other assets and liabilities	39		(1,101,100)		630		568
Purchase of life insurance							(4,700)
Net cash used in investing activities	(24,957)		(1,451,486)		(26,136)		(811)
•	(24,007)		(1,101,100)		(20,100)		(011)
Financing activities			1 000 000				
Proceeds from long-term debt	(00.005)		1,000,000		(0.000)		(04 504)
Repayments of long-term debt	(38,625)				(3,000)		(91,521)
Net borrowing (payments) under revolving line facility	(24,135)		24,135				
Principal payments on capital lease obligations					(266)		(379)
Distributions					(30,813)		(11,015)
Stock purchase	1,210				·		
Equity contribution (adjustment)			477,500		83,790		(7,544)
Working capital adjustment	1,330						

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

Other transaction costs	(419)	(21,732)		
Repayment of subordinated debt	` ,	,		(40,000)
Deferred finance charges		(34,912)		(3,381)
Payment on notes payable to related parties			(25)	(14,016)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	(60,639)	1,444,991	49,686	(167,856)
Net increase (decrease) in cash	19,923	(4,055)	2,552	(17,860)
Cash at beginning of period	3,856	7,911	5,359	23,219
Cash at end of period	\$ 23,779	\$ 3,856	\$ 7,911	\$ 5,359
Non-cash item: Accrual for purchases of property,				
plant and equipment	\$ 10,431	\$	\$	\$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements

1. Nature of operations

Goodman Global, Inc. (the Company) owns all of the common stock of Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. (Delaware), which is the second-largest U.S. manufacturer of heating, ventilation, and air-conditioning (HVAC) products for residential and light commercial uses based on unit sales. The Company s activities include engineering, manufacturing, and marketing of an extensive line of heating, air-conditioning, and related products in the United States and in certain international markets. Branded products manufactured and marketed by the Company include primarily Goodman[®], Amana[®], and Quietflex[®]. The company sells its products to numerous types of customers, including distributors, installing contractors, national accounts and original equipment manufacturers with no single customer accounting for more than 7% of consolidated 2005 net revenues. Less than 5% of the 2005 consolidated revenues were derived from external customers outside the United States.

The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 131, *Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information*. As the Company s consolidated financial information is reviewed by the chief decision makers, and the business is managed under one operating and marketing strategy, the Company operates under one reportable segment. Long-lived assets outside the United States have not been significant.

Basis of presentation

On December 23, 2004, the Company was acquired under an Asset Purchase Agreement (the Agreement) by affiliates of Apollo Management L.P. (Apollo), Company senior management and certain trusts associated with members of the Goodman family (the Goodman Trusts) (the Acquisition). Under the Agreement, Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., a Texas corporation, sold all of its equity interest in its subsidiaries as well as substantially all of its assets and liabilities for \$1,477.5 million plus a working capital adjustment of \$29.8 million. The Acquisition was financed with the net proceeds of a private offering of senior unsecured notes, borrowings under a new senior secured credit facility, and \$477.5 million of equity contributions by affiliates of Apollo, the Goodman Trusts, and certain members of senior management. The Goodman Trusts and members of senior management have invested approximately \$101.0 million and \$18.2 million, respectively. The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004, have been presented to reflect the Company prior to the Acquisition (Predecessor) and subsequent to the Acquisition (Successor).

The Acquisition was recorded as of December 23, 2004, in accordance with SFAS No. 141, *Business Combinations*, and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 88-16, *Basis in Leveraged Buyout Transactions*. As such, the acquired assets and assumed liabilities have been recorded at fair value for the interests acquired and estimates of assumed liabilities by the new investors and at the carrying basis for continuing investors.

The acquired assets and assumed liabilities were assigned new book values in the same proportion as the residual interests of the continuing investors and the new interests acquired by the new investors. Under EITF 88-16, the Company revalued the net assets at the acquisition date to the extent of the new investor s ownership of 79%. The remaining 21% ownership is accounted for at the

continuing investors carrying basis of the Company. An adjustment of

F-7

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

\$144.6 million to record this effect is included as a reduction of stockholders equity under the caption Predecessor basis adjustment. The excess of the purchase price over the historical basis of the net assets acquired has been applied to adjust net assets to their fair market values to the extent of the new investors 79% ownership, with the remainder of \$339.8 million allocated to goodwill. The purchase price includes a transaction fee paid to Apollo (see note 8) and other transaction costs of \$21.8 million. The increase in basis of the assets has and will continue to result in non-cash charges in future periods, principally related to the step-up in the value of inventory, property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets.

2. Significant accounting policies

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents represent short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the restricted cash pertains to the Company s extended warranty program.

Inventories

Inventory costs include material, labor, depreciation, logistics, and plant overhead. The Company s inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. As a result of the Acquisition, the Company s 2004 inventory was increased by \$44.0 million to reflect the fair value to the extent of the new investors ownership of in process and finished goods inventory. As of December 31, 2005, this fair market value adjustment has been effectively reversed as the related inventory was sold and replaced by manufactured inventory valued at cost. The impact to our statement of income was an increase to our cost of goods sold of \$39.6 million and \$4.4 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 and the nine day period ended December 31, 2004, respectively.

Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant, and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. As a result of the Acquisition, the Company s property, plant, and equipment has been increased by \$44.7 million to reflect the fair value to the extent of the new investors ownership. Expenditures for renewals and betterments are capitalized and expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Buildings are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which is 39 years. Prior to the Acquisition, equipment was depreciated using the double-declining balance method over the

estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 3 to 15 years. Following the Acquisition, equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets remaining useful lives. The effect is not material in the Successor consolidated financial statements.

Interest attributable to construction in progress assets is capitalized. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, the Company capitalized \$0.9 million in interest and none in prior years.

F-8

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Impairment of long-lived assets

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 144, *Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets*. The statement establishes the accounting for impairment of long-lived assets other than goodwill. The Company periodically evaluates whether current facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of its depreciable assets to be held and used may not be recoverable. If such circumstances are determined to exist, an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows produced by the long-lived asset is compared to the carrying value to determine whether impairment exists. If an asset is determined to be impaired, the loss is measured based on a quoted market price or the fair value based on various valuation techniques. The adoption of the statement did not have an impact on the Company.

Deferred financing costs

Debt issuance costs are capitalized and amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the period the related debt is anticipated to be outstanding.

Identifiable intangible assets

The values assigned to amortizable intangible assets are amortized to expense over their estimated useful lives and are reviewed for potential impairment. The estimated useful lives are based on an evaluation of the circumstances surrounding each asset, including an evaluation of events that may have occurred that would cause the useful life to be decreased. In the event the useful life would be considered to be shortened, or if the asset s future value were deemed to be impaired, an appropriate amount would be charged to amortization expense. Future operating results and residual values could therefore reasonably differ from the Company s current estimates and could require a provision for impairment in a future period. Indefinite lived intangible assets are reviewed along with other long-lived assets for impairment.

At the time of the acquisition the Company assigned a value of approximately \$11.0 million to a particular renewable sales contract. During the fourth quarter of 2005, a decision was made not to renew this agreement before its expiration. As a result, the net balance of this intangible, approximately \$10.3 million, was taken as a charge to the income statement in the fourth quarter of 2005.

Amounts allocated to identifiable intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Trade names	Indefinite
Customer relationships	40 years
Technology	10 years
Contracts	15 years

Absent an impairment charge, the amortization related to the amortizable intangible assets in the aggregate will be approximately \$8.9 million per year over the next five years. Additionally, there will be a continuing effect beyond five years.

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

The useful life of our customer relationships was determined based on the total life of a distributor. Factors that contribute to this total life are the nature of the relationship with these distributors, the quality of the service and merchandise that we provide, the territorial preferences given to these distributors and the low turn over rates.

Identifiable intangible assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004, consists of the following (in thousands):

	2005		ımulated ization &	2005
	Gross	lm	pairment	Net
Intangible assets subject to amortization:				
Customer relationships	\$ 291,560	\$	7,468	\$ 284,092
Technology	15,760	•	1,615	14,145
Contracts	11,033		11,033	,
Total intangible assets subject to amortization	318,353		20,116	298,237
Total indefinite-lived trade names	118,200			118,200
Total identifiable intangible assets	\$ 436,553	\$	20,116	\$ 416,437
Total identifiable intangible assets	Ψ 1 30,333	Ψ	20,110	φ +10,+37
	2004			2004
	2004	_		2004
	Accumulated Gross Amortization			Net
	Gross	Amo	rtization	Net
Intangible assets subject to amortization:				
Customer relationships	\$ 291,560	\$	180	\$ 291,380
Technology	15,760	·	39	15,721
Contracts	11,033		18	11,015
			-	
Total intangible assets subject to amortization	318,353		237	318,116
Total indefinite-lived trade names	118,200			118,200
Total identifiable intangible assets	\$ 436,553	\$	237	\$ 436,316
y		•		+,

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the cost of an acquired company over the amounts assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Effective January 1, 2002, with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*, goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would indicate the carrying amount could be impaired. Impairment testing for goodwill is done at the reporting unit level, which is one level below the business segment level. Under the criteria set forth by SFAS No. 142, the Company has 2 reporting units based on the structure in place as of December 23, 2004. Goodwill was allocated to these reporting units based on the net assets acquired. An impairment charge generally would be recognized when the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair market value of the reporting unit. The Company performed its annual test as of October 1, 2005 and determined that no impairment exists.

F-10

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

Financial instruments include cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, revolving loans payable, long-term debt, and interest rate swap agreements. Management believes the fair value of cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature. The fair value of revolving loans payable and long-term debt is estimated based on anticipated interest rates that management believes would currently be available to the Company for similar issues of debt, taking into account the current credit risk of the Company and other market factors, and arms length trades for debt securities, which are traded. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated to approximate the carrying amount at December 31, 2005. Interest rate swaps are recorded at fair value.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of products is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, sale price is fixed and determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenues are recorded net of rebates to certain distributors, contractors and builders. These rebates relate to several programs and are designed to stimulate sales of the Company s products. Provisions are made for warranties at the time revenues are recognized. Costs associated with shipping and handling of the Company s products is included in costs of goods sold.

The Company consigns certain products to independent distributors. Product inventories shipped on consignment terms are maintained under a bonded warehousing arrangement on the premises of independent distributors. Revenues and cost of sales are recognized at the time consigned inventory is sold by the independent distributor to a third party.

Trade and other receivables

The Company s receivables are recorded when billed or accrued and represent claims against third parties that will be settled in cash. The customer s financial position is periodically reviewed and no collateral is required. The carrying value of the Company s receivables, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts, represents their estimated net realizable value. The Company estimates its allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical collection trends, type of customer, the age of outstanding receivables, and existing economic conditions. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that specific receivable balances may be impaired, further consideration is given to the collectibility of those balances, and the allowance is adjusted accordingly. The Company does not have significant credit risk concentrations and historically has not experienced significant losses related to its receivables.

A rollforward of the allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, follows:

	2005 Successor	2004 Predecessor		2003 Predecessor		
				(In the	usands)	
At the beginning of the year	\$ 8,130	\$	2,850	`\$	3,995	
Current-year accruals	9,367		9,414		3,145	
Current-year write-offs	(9,702)		(4,134)		(4,290)	
At the end of the year	\$ 7,795	\$	8,130	\$	2,850	

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Warranty costs

Warranty costs are accrued at the time of sale based on estimated future warranty claims. The Company s estimated future warranty claims are determined based on historical failure rates and other factors. The Company also sells extended warranty contracts for certain of its products with terms of up to ten years. Revenues from extended warranty contracts are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contracts. Expenses related to obtaining and servicing these contracts are expensed as incurred.

A rollforward of the liabilities for warranties as of December 31, follows:

	Suc	2005 Successor		2004 decessor	2003 Predecessor	
					(In th	ousands)
At the beginning of the year	\$	59,479	\$	61,366	\$	62,685
Current-year accruals		32,503		34,145		34,087
Current-year uses		(33,914)		(36,032)		(35,406)
At the end of the year		E0.000	Φ	E0 470	Φ	01.000
At the end of the year	3	58,068	\$	59,479	\$	61,366
						_

Accrued self-insured insurance reserves

The Company is self-insured up to certain stop-loss amounts for workers compensation, product liability, general liability, auto liability, group health, and physical damage. The expense and liabilities are determined based on historical company claims information, as well as industry factors and trends in the level of such claims and payments. Our self-insurance reserves, calculated on an undiscounted basis, as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, represent the best estimate of the future payments to be made on incurred claims reported and unreported. Based on historical payment patterns, the Company expects payments of undiscounted ultimate losses related to workers compensation as of December 31, to be made as follows (in thousands):

	\$ 5,830
2007	2,404

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

2008	1,007
2008 2009	762
2010 Thereafter	446
Thereafter	<u>170</u>
Total	\$ 10,619

Stock compensation plans

The Predecessor issued stock appreciation rights to certain key employees. The underlying intrinsic value of the rights was based on the financial performance of the Company and was accrued to expense over the vesting period of the rights. The plan was terminated on December 22, 2004, and all shares vested as a result of the Acquisition of the Company. The Company recognized \$36.0 million and \$5.9 million in compensation expense for the periods ended December 22, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. The predecessor shareholders contributed \$83.8 million to the Predecessor to fund the payments related to the termination of the stock appreciation rights and other Acquisition-related costs during 2004.

F-12

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

After the Acquisition, the Company adopted the 2004 Stock Option Plan, Under this plan, as amended, 4,798,752 shares of the Company s authorized but unissued shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance. The plan permits the grant of options to purchase shares of common stock to eligible employees, consultants, and directors. On December 23, 2004, the Company granted approximately 3,472,192 options with a grant price of \$5.28 per share. On March 1, 2005, the Company granted approximately 458,611 options with a grant price of \$5.28 per share. On April 18, 2005 and May 2, 2005, the Company granted approximately 15,160 options and 7,580 options, respectively, each with a grant price of \$5.28 per share. The vesting period for the options granted between December 23, 2004 and May 2, 2005 will be in equal installments through 2008 for 50% of the options, with the remaining 50% vesting as certain performance measures are met through the eighth anniversary of the grant date. On December 29, 2005, the Company granted approximately 716,343 options with a grant price of \$14.52 per share, based on valuations performed at the grant date. Options to purchase 18,950 shares were terminated during 2005. The vesting period of these options will be in equal installments through 2009. Subsequent to year end, the Company has amended certain options granted on December 23, 2004 to provide that the installment, which would otherwise become vested with respect to the fiscal year 2009 upon attaining certain financial performance targets, shall become vested upon consummation of an initial public offering. The amendment also allows for the payment of the exercise price through the surrender of previously owned shares of our common stock. This amendment is expected to have an impact of approximately \$0.7 million on the statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2006.

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees*, and related interpretations (APB 25) and has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS No. 123), *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, as amended. Under APB 25, no stock-based compensation cost is reflected in net income for grants of stock options to employees because the Company grants stock options with an exercise price equal to the estimated market value of the stock on the date of grant.

F-13

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

The following table illustrates the pro-forma effect on net income and earnings per share as if the Company had used the fair-value-based accounting method for stock compensation expense described by SFAS No. 123:

			2004			
		Successor ecember 23 to December 31	Jan	decessor uary 1 to ember 22	Pre	decessor 2003
		(In	thousand	s, except f	or per sh	are data)
Net Income, as reported	\$ 24,880	\$ (4,666)	\$	52,359	\$	87,366
Add: Reported stock-based compensation expense, net of taxes						
Deduct: Fair-value-based compensation expense, net of						
taxes	1,087					
Pro-forma net income	23,793	(4,666)		52,359		87,366
Deduct:						
Preferred stock dividend	22,512	528				
Pro-forma provision for income taxes				21,069		32,563
Pro-forma net income available to common shareholders stock option compensation and provision						
for income taxes	\$ 1,281	\$ (5,194)	\$	31,290	\$	54,803
Earnings per share:						
Basic and diluted, as reported	\$ 0.05	\$ (0.11)	\$	1.09	\$	1.83
Basic and diluted, proforma	\$ 0.03	\$ (0.11)	\$	0.65	\$	1.15

Pensions and other postretirement benefits

The Company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans and its defined benefit postretirement medical plan in accordance with SFAS No. 87, *Employers Accounting for Pensions*, and SFAS No. 106, *Employers Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions*, respectively. These standards require that amounts recognized in the financial statements be determined on an actuarial basis. Significant assumptions involved in determining the Company's pension and other postretirement benefit expense include the expected return on plan assets, expected healthcare cost and the discount rate for calculating future liability. The assumed long-term rate of return on assets is applied to a calculated value of plan assets which results in an estimated return on

plan assets that is included in current year pension income or expense. Adjustments to the minimum pension liability are recorded in other comprehensive income.

Research and development

Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred. Research and development expense was \$8.8 million, \$8.0 million, and \$7.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

F-14

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Income taxes

Prior to the Acquisition, income of the Company, except for a small portion of the Company s operations, was reported for federal and state income tax purposes by the former shareholders. Generally, the Company made distributions to these shareholders to fund such taxes. Subsequent to the Acquisition, the Successor Company reports the consolidated operations of the Company for federal and state income tax purposes. For operations subject to income taxes, the Company uses the liability method of accounting for taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted marginal tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such differences reverse.

The Company regularly evaluates valuation allowances established for deferred tax assets for which future realization is uncertain. The Company performs this evaluation at least quarterly and at the end of each fiscal year. The estimation of required valuation allowances includes estimates of future taxable income. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets at December 31, 2005, the Company considered whether it was more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets would not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. The Company considers the schedule reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. If actual future taxable income is different from the estimates, the Company is results could be affected.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was \$2.5 million, \$2.0 million, and \$1.7 million for the years ended December 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share have been computed using the weighted-average number of common share outstanding. The average number of outstanding common shares used in computing diluted earnings per share was equal to the average number of outstanding common shares used in computing basic earnings per share plus any incremental shares, primarily from the assumed exercise of stock options issued under the Company s stock option plan that were dilutive for the year.

For comparability purposes, the average shares outstanding used to compute earnings per share for the Predecessor Company for the periods ending December 22, 2004 and December 31, 2003 are the average shares outstanding of the Successor Company as of the date of Acquisition.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

F-15

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

New accounting pronouncements

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 151, *Inventory Costs an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4.* (SFAS 151) This standard provides clarification that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and spoilage should be recognized as current-period charges. Additionally, this standard requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of this standard are effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of the new standard will not have a material effect on the consolidated results of operation and financial position of the Company.

In December 2004, FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), *Share-Based Payment* (SFAS 123(R)). This standard addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions in which an enterprise receives employee services in exchange for (a) equity instruments of the enterprise or (b) liabilities that are based on the fair value of the enterprise s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of such equity instruments. SFAS 123(R) eliminates the ability to account for share-based compensation transactions using the intrinsic value method under APB No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees*, and generally would require instead that such transactions be accounted for using a fair-value-based method. SFAS 123(R) is effective for the Company beginning in 2006. The Company adopted this standard as of January 1, 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2006, the effect on the Statement of Income is expected to be approximately \$2.0 million.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in the prior year s consolidated financial statements to conform to the current-year presentation.

Derivatives and hedging activities

SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities, requires that all derivatives be recognized as assets and liabilities and measured at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting designation.

3. Significant balance sheet accounts

Inventories as of December 31, consist of the following:

	2005	2004
	(In	thousands)
Raw materials and parts	\$ 29,125	\$ 28,161
Finished goods	274,170	272,810
-		
	\$ 303,295	\$ 300,971

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Property, plant, and equipment as of December 31, consist of the following:

	Usef Lives Yea	in	2005	2004	
			(In	thousands)	
Land			\$ 12,162	\$ 13,153	
Buildings and improvements	10	39	55,465	53,181	
Equipment	3	10	83,041	68,292	
Construction-in-progress			27,335	7,702	
			178,003	142,328	
Less: Accumulated depreciation			(17,454)	(549)	
			\$ 160,549	\$ 141,779	

Other accrued expenses as of December 31, consist of the following significant items:

	2005	2004
	(In ti	housands)
Accrued rebates	\$ 21,682	\$ 15,067
Accrued self insurance reserves	17,970	19,207
Dividends payable	23,040	528
Other	42,649	21,807
	\$ 105,341	\$ 56,609

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of the following (in thousands):

	Minimum Pension Liability	Cumulative Transition Adjustment	Change in Fair Value of Derivatives	Acquisition	Foreign Currency Translation	Total
Predecessor						
December 31, 2002	\$ (6,326)	\$ (6,349)	\$ (1,839)	\$	\$	\$ (14,514)
Net Change During 2002	(1,070)	1,261	3,649			3,840
December 31, 2003	(7,396)	(5,088)	1,810			(10,674)
Net Change Through						
December 22, 2004	(591)	663	1,335	9,267		10,674
December 22, 2004	(7,987)	(4,425)	3,145	9,267		
Successor						
December 23, 2004						
Net Change Through						
December 31, 2004						
December 31, 2004						
Net Change Through						
December 31, 2005	(673)		2,436		325	2,088
December 31, 2005	\$ (673)	\$	\$ 2,436	\$	\$ 325	\$ 2,088

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

4. Business combinations

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets and liabilities as of December 23, 2004, the date of the Acquisition, and as of December 23, 2005, following the finalization of the purchase price allocation (in thousands):

	A	chase Price Ilocation at cember 23, 2004	Adjı	Adjustments		Purchase Price Allocation as of December 23, 2005	
Current assets	\$	515,118	\$	(3,221)	\$	511,897	
Property, plant, and equipment		142,328				142,328	
Deferred taxes		88,618		(41,800)		46,818	
Intangible assets		436,552				436,552	
Deferred finance costs		35,715				35,715	
Other assets		1,837		(519)		1,318	
Goodwill		339,842		51,445		391,287	
Total assets acquired		1,560,010		5,905		1,565,915	
Current liabilities		187,060		5,905		192,965	
Other liabilities		8,902				8,902	
Debt		1,031,135				1,031,135	
					-		
Total liabilities assumed		1,227,097		5,905		1,233,002	
Net assets acquired	\$	332,913	\$		\$	332,913	

Management estimated the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities using several generally accepted valuation techniques. Trade names, customer relationships, technology and other contracts were valued using the income approach, whereby the fair value of an asset is based on the present value of its estimated future economic benefits. Tangible assets were valued using the cost approach, or if a ready market for similar assets could be identified and relied upon, the market approach. The cost approach measures fair value as the cost to construct or replace the asset with another asset of like utility. The market approach establishes fair value based on recent sales of comparable property. The acquired trade names consist principally of the Goodman and Amana trade names. During the one-year purchase price allocation period, the Company made adjustments to the purchase price allocation estimated as of December 23, 2004. These adjustments primarily related to the realizability of accounts receivable, liabilities of the Predecessor Company, and adjustments to the deferred tax assets.

The Company recorded significant goodwill, as a result of the estimated value of the assembled workforce and the ability to earn a higher rate of return from the acquired business than would be expected if those net assets had to be acquired or developed separately. It is expected that most goodwill recorded in the acquisition is deductible for income tax purposes.

F-19

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Unaudited pro forma operation results of the Company assuming the Acquisition was completed on January 1, 2004 and 2003, is summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Year ended D	Year ended December 31,			
	2004	2003			
Sales	\$ 1,317,580	\$ 1,192,671			
Net income (loss) Earnings per share	\$ 15,508 \$ 2.46	\$ (19,144) \$ (3.03)			

5. Income taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

					2004		
	Year Ended December 31, 2005		December 23 to December 31 Successor		January 1 to December 22 Predecessor		 r Ended nber 31, 2003
Current expense (benefit):							
U.S.							
Federal	\$	19,156	\$	(28)	\$	(645)	\$ 313
State		2,533		(370)		1,345	1,389
Total U.S.		21,689		(398)		700	1,702
Foreign						759	206
Total current		21,689		(398)		1,459	1,908
Deferred expense (benefit):							
U.S.							
Federal		(5,338)	(;	3,170)		(2,940)	

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

State	(534)			(163)
Total U.S.	 (5,872)	(3,170)	(2,940)	(163)
Foreign				
Total deferred	(5,872)	(3,170)	(2,940)	(163)
Total provision for income taxes	\$ 15,817	\$ (3,568)	\$ (1,481)	\$ 1,745

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

A reconciliation between the provision for (benefit from) income taxes and income taxes computed by applying the statutory rate is as follows (in thousands):

	2004						
	D Year Ended December 31, 2005		December 23 to December 31			to er 22 Year Ended December 31,	
			Successor Prede		decessor		
Tax provision at statutory rate at 35%	\$	14,244	\$ (2,882)	\$	17,807	\$	31,190
Add (deduct):							
State income tax		1,999	(240)		1,345		1,389
Goodwill and other permanent items		136	,		69		451
Change in valuation allowance					2,276		(2,176)
Items not taxed at corporate level					(20, 138)		(29,315)
Foreign taxes at rates other than 35% and miscellaneous other		(562)	(446)		(2,840)		206
	\$	15,817	\$ (3,568)	\$	(1,481)	\$	1,745

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

	Years End	Years Ended December 31,		
	2005		2004	
		(In tho	usands)	
Deferred tax assets:				
Accrued liabilities	\$ 13,308	\$	1,414	
Identifiable intangible assets	37,553		45,217	
Goodwill	23,694		74,651	
Net operating loss carryforward	5,328		11,130	
Less: Valuation allowance	(3,358)	(3,941)	

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

	76,525	128,471
Deferred tax liabilities:		
Inventory		(16,934)
Property, plant, and equipment	(16,201)	(17,200)
	(16,201)	(34,134)
Total deferred tax asset	\$ 60,324	\$ 94,337

Deferred tax assets were decreased by a net \$41.8 million to adjust the Acquisition purchase price allocation to reflect that SFAS No. 109, *Accounting for Income Taxes*, does not allow tax assets attributable to goodwill in a business combination. Additionally, the deferred tax asset was decreased by approximately \$1.0 million as the result of the tax effect of the minimum pension liability and change in fair market value of the derivatives.

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

The effective tax rate is impacted by numerous factors that may result in variations from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate, including the mix of income earned in the various U.S. federal and state and Canadian federal and provincial jurisdictions. Prior to December 22, 2004, the organizational structure was comprised mainly of flow-through entities such as partnerships and an S corporation at the parent level, and the effective tax rate varied from the statutory rate because most of the operations of the Company was taxable directly to the shareholders.

The Acquisition included the purchase of stock of certain corporations for which tax attributes carried over. At the time of the Acquisition, one of the companies acquired had a net operating loss carryforward of \$15.8 million, which expires beginning in 2014 through 2019. Of this amount, \$8.7 million is subject to the Separate Return Limitation Year (SRLY) provisions and therefore, may only be utilized to offset prospective income earned by the particular SRLY subgroup. The Acquisition caused an Ownership Change pursuant to Internal Revenue Code section 382. Thus, the \$15.8 million net operating loss is also subject to an annual limitation. The Company has calculated the cumulative loss allowable under IRC section 382 to approximate \$10 million. However, given the SRLY limitation, and that the prospective income of the SRLY subgroup is uncertain, the Company has a valuation allowance of \$3.4 million to offset the \$8.7 million SRLY net operating loss at December 31, 2005.

The Company does not believe that a valuation allowance is warranted on the remaining deferred tax assets, as it is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will be realized.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 the Company paid taxes of \$8.0 million, \$1.8 million, and \$2.1 million, respectively.

Deferred income taxes have not been provided for on unremitted foreign earnings reinvested abroad. Currently, we do not expect these unremitted earnings to reverse and become taxable to us in the future. Due to the timing and circumstances of repatriation of such earnings, if any, it is not practicable to determine the unrecognized deferred tax liability relating to such amounts.

6. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt as of December 31, consists of the following:

2005 2004

	(I:	n thousands)
Senior Floating Rate Notes	\$ 250,000	\$ 250,000
Senior Subordinated Notes	400,000	400,000
Term credit facility	311,375	350,000
Revolving credit facility		24,135
Current maturities	(3,500)	(3,500)
Total long-term debt (including revolving credit facility), less current maturities	\$ 957,875	\$1,020,635

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

On December 23, 2004, in connection with the Acquisition, the Company issued \$250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its senior floating rate notes, maturing in 2012, and \$400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its 7⁷/8% senior subordinated notes, maturing in 2012, in a private placement under Rule 144A and Regulation S of the Securities Act (Note Offering). The senior floating rate notes under the Note Offering bear interest at LIBOR plus 3%. This rate was 7.49% as of December 31, 2005.

In connection with the Note Offering, the Company also entered into senior secured credit facilities consisting of a term loan in the principal amount of \$350.0 million and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of up to \$175.0 million, with staggered maturities through December 23, 2011 (2004 Facility). The 2004 Facility is secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and provides for term loan and revolving borrowings at LIBOR, plus a margin based upon a financial ratio as specified in the agreement. The borrowing rate for the 2004 Facility was 6.38% as of December 31, 2005. The Company had unused revolving credit under the 2004 Facility of \$137.8 million at December 31, 2005. Outstanding commercial and standby letters of credit issued under the 2004 Facility totaled \$37.2 million as of December 31, 2005.

As a result of the Note Offering and 2004 Facility, the Company incurred financing charges of approximately \$35.7 million. These costs have been capitalized on the consolidated balance sheet, and are amortized over the maturity of the notes.

The Note Offering and 2004 Facility contain financial and operating covenants with which the Company must comply during the term of the agreement, including maintaining certain financial ratios, restricting the incurrence of certain indebtedness and investments, and creating or permitting the existence of certain liens.

All of the existing and future restricted U.S. subsidiaries of Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. (other than AsureCare Corp., a Florida corporation) will guarantee its floating rate notes and fixed rate notes. The Company is structured as a holding company and substantially all of its assets and operations are held by its subsidiaries. There are currently no significant restrictions on the ability of Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. to obtain funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan. The Company s and the non-guarantor subsidiaries independent assets, revenues, income before taxes, and operating cash flows in total are less than 3% of the consolidated total. The separate financial statements of the guarantors are not included herein because (i) the subsidiary guarantors of Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. have fully and unconditionally, jointly and severally guaranteed the senior floating rate notes and the senior subordinated notes, and (ii) the aggregate assets, liabilities, earnings, and equity of the subsidiary guarantors is substantially equivalent to the assets, liabilities, earnings, and equity of the Company on a consolidated basis. As a result, the presentation of separate financial statements and other disclosures concerning the subsidiary guarantors is not deemed material.

Also, as a result of the Acquisition, the revolving line and term credit agreement (the 2003 Agreement) dated November 21, 2003, among the Company and a lender group, which provided \$400 million in senior secured credit facilities (the 2003 Facilities) was eliminated. The 2003 Facilities consisted of a \$150 million revolving credit facility, which includes a \$40 million letter of credit, and a \$30 million swing line facility, expiring November 21, 2008, and \$250 million of term

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

loan facilities with staggered maturities through November 21, 2009. The 2003 Agreement provided for term loan and revolving borrowings under the 2003 Facilities at either LIBOR or an alternative base rate, plus a margin based upon a financial ratio as specified in the 2003 Agreement. The borrowing rate for the swing line cannot exceed the alternative base rate. The borrowing rates were 3.25% and 4.75% as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The 2003 Agreement was secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company.

Future scheduled maturities of the Note Offering and 2004 Facility at December 31, 2005, are as follows (in thousands):

2006	\$	3,500
2007		3,500
2008		3,500
2009		3,500
2010		3,500
Thereafter	9	43,875
Total	\$ C	61,375
Total	Ψυ	701,070

Interest paid was \$62.6 million, \$15.0 million, and \$28.1 million during December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. See Note 11 regarding derivative instruments.

Amana Appliance Company, L.P. (Amana), which was an affiliate of the Company through common ownership, sold substantially all of its assets and liabilities to Maytag Corporation and Maytag Worldwide, N.V. (Maytag), on July 31, 2001, for estimated net proceeds of approximately \$285.2 million in cash and 500,000 registered shares of common stock of Maytag Corporation. The proceeds of the sale were contributed to the Company. A promissory note, with a balance at the time of approximately \$159.2 million from Amana in favor of the Company, was deemed repaid. Excess proceeds of \$136.3 million were treated as an equity contribution. The contribution was subject to adjustment based upon the final determination of the adjusted working capital as of the closing date of the transaction. During 2003, a final determination was made, resulting in a reduction to the equity contribution of \$7.5 million.

7. Redeemable preferred stock

As of December 31, 2005, the Company s authorized capital stock included 250,000 shares of preferred stock. The preferred shares are 9.5% Series A Cumulative Senior Redeemable Exchangeable Preferred Stock, \$.01 par value per share, with a liquidation preference of \$1,000 per share. These shares do not have voting rights except as required by law. Dividends are paid as declared on a cumulative basis from the date of issuance and will be paid quarterly in arrears on December 1, March 1, June 1, and September 1 of each year, commencing on March 1, 2005. These shares may be redeemed by the Company at its option, at a price equal to the liquidation preference and all unpaid dividends. The Company may also at its option exchange any or all of the outstanding Series A Preferred Shares for 9.5% Senior Subordinated Discount Notes (the Subordinated Notes). The shareholders would be entitled to receive \$1.00 of initial accreted value

F-24

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

of Subordinated Notes for each \$1.00 of liquidation preference plus all unpaid dividends. As a result of the redemption clause of the preferred stock, the preferred stock is considered mezzanine financing and therefore is recorded outside of Shareholders Equity in the Company s balance sheet. The dividends attributable to these shares have been excluded from net income in determining net income available to common shareholders for purposes of computing earnings per share.

8. Related-party transactions

During 2001, the Company issued junior subordinated notes of \$40.0 million to various shareholders and related entities. The note proceeds were used to pay amounts owed under the prior credit facilities. The junior subordinated notes were repaid in November 2003. Interest expense incurred and paid on the notes was \$-0- million, \$-0- million, and \$4.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Prior to the Acquisition, there were notes payable to related parties that represented notes to limited partners of the Company and a related party bearing interest at competitive variable rates. Interest expense incurred on the notes for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 was \$-0- million, \$-0- million, and \$.5 million, respectively. Interest paid was \$-0- million, \$-0- million, and \$9.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

As part of the transaction costs in 2004, the Company paid Apollo a one-time transaction fee of \$20.0 million for structuring the transaction. The Company also has an agreement with Apollo for an annual monitoring fee. This agreement also provides that in the event of a change in control or initial public offering, Apollo may elect to receive a lump sum payment in lieu of the annual monitoring fee. The annual monitoring fee is the greater of \$2.0 million or 1% of the Company s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization as defined in the agreement and is for a twelve year period. During 2005, the Company paid \$2.0 million to Apollo for the annual monitoring fee.

During 2005, the Company paid \$0.2 million to a related party for an operating lease.

9. Leases

The Company leases vehicles, computer and office equipment, and office and warehouse facilities from various third parties that are accounted for as operating leases and have expiration dates through 2011.

The Company also leases a warehouse facility under an operating lease with shareholders of the Company. The lease expires in 2014.

F-25

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2005, are as follows (in thousands):

	Third Party		lated Party
2006	\$ 17,301	\$	198
2007	14,418		198
2008	12,496		198
2009	9,461		198
2010	4,875		198
Thereafter	5,909		776
Total	\$ 64,460	\$ 1	1,766

Rent expense on the operating leases was \$18.4 million, \$14.1 million, and \$11.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

10. Employee benefit plans

401(k) plans

The Company sponsors two 401(k) savings plans, with one covering all nonunion employees of the Company and one covering union employees of the Company who have completed a requisite term of service. Nonunion employees of the Company may defer up to 17% of their salaries and wages with the Company matching 100% of amounts deferred, up to a maximum matching contribution of 6% of the employee s salary or \$3,000. Union employees may defer up to 17% of their salaries and wages with the Company matching 50% of amounts deferred, up to a maximum matching contribution of 3% of the employee s salary or \$4,500. Employer-matching contributions for all plans were approximately \$2.9 million, \$3.3 million, and \$2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Pension and other employee benefit plans

The Company sponsors a defined benefit plan, which covers union employees who have both attained age 21 and completed one year of service. The Company has 1,495 employees who are members of the collective bargaining unit, representing approximately 30% of the Company s employees. Effective December 14, 2002, the defined benefit plan was amended to freeze participation for all employees except those hired on or before December 14, 2002. Benefits are provided at stated amounts based on years of service, as defined by the plan. Benefits vest after completion of five years of service. The Company s funding policy is to make contributions in amounts actuarially determined by an independent consulting actuary to fund the benefits to be provided. Plan assets consist of primarily equity and fixed-income securities.

F-26

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

The funded status of the plan is as follows:

	Pension Benefits					
	2005	2004	2003			
		(In t	housands)			
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 26,804	\$ 24,952	\$ 21,123			
Service cost	474	446	450			
Interest cost	1,546	1,519	1,458			
Actuarial losses	170	780	2,690			
Benefit payments	(944)	(893)	(769)			
Benefit obligation at end of year	\$ 28,050	\$ 26,804	\$ 24,952			
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	\$ 20,272	\$ 19,039	\$ 16,990			
Actual return on plan assets	742	1,437	2,818			
Employer contributions	1,482	689				
Benefit payments	(944)	(893)	(769)			
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	\$ 21,552	\$ 20,272	\$ 19,039			
Funded status of the plan	\$ (6,498)	\$ (6,532)	\$ (5,913)			
Unrecognized amounts:						
Prior service cost			570			
Net losses	1,096		7,397			
Adjustment required to recognize minimum liability	(1,096)		7,007			
Total			7,967			
			,,,,,			
Net prepaid (accrued) benefit cost	\$ (6,498)	\$ (6,532)	\$ 2,054			
Components of net periodic benefit expense:		A 440	4.50			
Service cost	\$ 474	\$ 446	\$ 450			
Interest cost	1,546	1,519	1,458			
Expected return on plan assets	(1,667)	(1,581)	(1,493)			
Net amortization of prior service cost		383	345			
Net periodic benefit expense	\$ 353	\$ 767	\$ 760			

Weighted-average assumptions as of December 31:			
Discount rate	5.75%	6.00%	6.25%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets	8.25%	8.50%	9.00%

The intangible asset related to the pension plan was \$0 as of December 31, 2005 and \$0.5 million as of December 31, 2004.

F-27

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

The Company does not anticipate making a contribution to the plan during 2006. The Company expects to pay benefits related to its pension plan over the next five years and in the aggregate for the five years thereafter as follows (in thousands):

2006	\$1,006
2007	1,062
2008	1,112
2009	1,169
2010	1,243
2011-2014	\$ 7,550

The weighted-average asset allocation for the Company s pension plan assets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, as well as the target allocation for the year ended December 31, 2006, follows:

	2005	2004	Target 2006 Allocation
Equities	59%	63%	65%
Fixed income	40%	30%	30%
Cash equivalents	1%	7%	5%
Total	100%	100%	100%

The investment strategy for pension plan assets is to utilize a diversified blend of equity and fixed income portfolios to earn a long-term investment return that meets or exceeds the long-term expected rate of return for actuarial purposes of 8.25%. Active investment management strategies are used to measure each investment portfolio s returns and risk levels against applicable market indices.

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Company considers the historical returns and the future expectations for returns for each asset category, as well as the target asset allocation of the pension portfolio and the effect of periodic rebalancing.

The Company also provided unfunded postretirement benefits for union employees, covering medical benefits. The collective bargaining agreement was renegotiated in December of 2004 and these postretirement medical benefits were terminated in the new collective bargaining agreement that expires December 2009. Employees were eligible for these benefits when they reached

age 55 and had completed five years of service with the Company. As of the date of termination, the plan had one participant who was grandfathered into the plan, therefore any disclosures subsequent to the end of 2004 are not deemed material.

F-28

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

		Other Postretirement Benefits				
		2004		2003		
		(In	thou	sands)		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$	4,432	\$	3,967		
Service cost		184		200		
Interest cost		213		252		
Actuarial losses		(796)		21		
Benefit payments		(29)		(8)		
Plan curtailments		(3,960)				
Benefit obligation at end of year		44		4,432		
Unrecognized amounts:						
Net losses		31		(1,523)		
Accrued benefit cost		75	\$	2,909		
	<u>-</u>		•			
Components of net periodic benefit:						
Service cost	\$	184	\$	200		
Interest cost		213		252		
Net amortization of prior gains		11		46		
Curtailment gain		(3,214)				
Net periodic cost (benefit)	\$	(2,806)	\$	498		
Weighted everage accumption as of December 21:	_					
Weighted-average assumption as of December 31: Discount rate		6.00%		6.25%		

The annual assumed healthcare cost trend rate used in measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation starts at 10% in 2003 and declines ratably to 5% in 2015, remaining constant thereafter. The assumed healthcare cost trend rates will not have a significant effect on the amounts reported for healthcare plan due to the termination of the plan.

11. Accounting for derivative instruments

During the first quarter of 2005, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with a notional amount of \$250.0 million to manage variable rate exposure on the floating rate debt that expire in 2007 and 2008. These interest rate derivative instruments have been designated as cash flow hedges. For these qualifying hedges, SFAS No. 133, *Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities*, allows changes in the fair market value of these hedged instruments to be reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. The Company has assessed the effectiveness of the transactions that received hedge accounting. Any ineffectiveness, which generally arises from minor differences between the terms of the swap and terms of the underlying hedged debt, would be recorded in other income, net in the statement of income. Any such differences, for the year ended December 31, 2005 were immaterial.

Prior to the Acquisition, the Company had \$75 million notional amount of interest rate swaps, cancelable swaps, caps, floors, and collars to manage variable interest rate exposure on their

F-29

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

floating rate debt. Approximately \$25 million of the Company s floating rate debt was designated as hedged items to an interest rate swap agreement prior to the Acquisition of the Company in December of 2004. This interest rate swap was designated as a cash-flow hedge and has been highly effective during the periods ended December 22, 2004 and December 31, 2003. Ineffectiveness, which generally arises from minor differences between the terms of the swap and the terms of the underlying hedged debt, is recorded in interest expense and was not material during the periods ended December 22, 2004 and December 31, 2003. The remaining cancelable swaps, caps, floors, and collars have not been designated as hedging instruments and, during the periods ended December 22, 2004, and 2003, the Company recognized a gain of \$4.7 million and \$5.1 million, respectively, related to these derivatives. This amount is included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of income of the predecessor company.

During 2005, the Company also entered into a derivative commodity instrument related to its copper supply with a notional amount of approximately \$44.7 million. This hedge was marked to market in cost of sales and it expired on December 31, 2005. Other current assets reflects a receivable from our counterparty in the amount of \$1.3 million.

12. Contingent liabilities

In October 2003, the Consumer Product Safety Commission staff issued a preliminary determination that a discontinued design of certain Package Terminal Air Conditioner/Heat Pump (PTAC) units manufactured by one of the Company subsidiaries presents a substantial product hazard under the Consumer Product Safety Act, requiring corrective action. In September of 2004, the Company implemented a voluntary corrective action plan (CAP) under which the Company will provide a new thermal limit switch to commercial/institutional PTAC owners. Installation of such switch will be at the commercial/institutional owners expense, except in special and limited circumstance (e.g., financial hardship, etc.). Under the CAP, the Company agreed to pay the cost of installing the replacement switch for any individual homeowner having a PTAC unit in their residence. The Company has established a reserve that it believes to be adequate with respect to this matter based on current evaluations and its experience in these types of matters. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had a reserve balance of \$1.8 million for future claims against the CAP. Nevertheless, future developments could require material changes in the recorded reserve amount.

In December 2001, over 70 Hispanic workers filed suit against certain subsidiaries of the Company in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Texas alleging employment discrimination, retaliation, and violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act. The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission has since intervened in the lawsuit on the plaintiffs behalf. The Company s insurers have agreed to defend the Company against these allegations and indemnify the Company for any pecuniary losses incurred. The Company does not believe that this litigation will have a material adverse effect on its business.

As part of the equity contribution associated with the sale of Amana in July 2001, the Company agreed to indemnify Maytag for certain product liability, product warranty, and environmental claims. In light of these potential liabilities, the Company has purchased insurance that the Company expects will shield it from incurring material costs to such potential claims.

F-30

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

Pursuant to a March 15, 2001 Consent Order with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection, or FDEP, Pioneer Metals Inc., or Pioneer, is continuing to investigate and pursue, under FDEP oversight, the delineation of groundwater contamination at and around the Pioneer facility in Fort Pierce, Florida. Remediation has not begun. The contamination was discovered through environmental assessments conducted in connection with a Goodman subsidiary s acquisition of the Fort Pierce facility in 2000, and was reported to FDEP, giving rise to the Consent Order.

The ultimate cost for the investigation, remediation and monitoring of the site cannot be predicted with certainty due to the variables relating to the contamination and the appropriate remediation methodology, the evolving nature of remediation technologies and governmental regulations, and the inability to determine the extent to which contribution will be available from other parties, all of which factors are taken into account to the extent possible in estimating potential liability. A reserve appropriate for the probable remediation costs, which are reasonably susceptible to estimation, has been established.

Based on analyses of currently available information it is probable that costs associated with the site will be \$1.0 million. Therefore, we have reserved \$1.0 million as of December 31, 2005, although it is possible that costs could exceed this amount by up to approximately \$2.8 million. Management believes any liability arising from potential environmental obligations is not likely to have a material adverse effect on our liquidity or financial position as such obligations could be satisfied over a period of years. Nevertheless, future developments could require material changes in the recorded reserve amount.

Notably, this contamination predated Pioneer s involvement with the Fort Pierce facility and Pioneer has not caused or contributed to the contamination. Accordingly, Pioneer is pursuing litigation against former owners of the Fort Pierce facility in an attempt to recover its costs. At this time we cannot estimate probable recoveries from this litigation.

The Company is party to a number of other pending legal and administrative proceedings, and is subject to various regulatory and compliance obligations. The Company believes that these proceedings and obligations will not have a materially adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations. To the extent required, the Company has established reserves that it believes to be adequate based on current evaluations and its experience in these types of matters. Nevertheless, an unexpected outcome in any such proceeding could have a material adverse impact on the Company's consolidated results of operations in the period in which it occurs. Moreover, future adverse developments could require material changes in the recorded reserve amounts.

F-31

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

13. Quarterly financial information (unaudited)

Unaudited quarterly information for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively (in thousands, except per share data):

Quarters ended 2005

	First Quarter(1)		Second Quarter			Third Quarter		Fourth Quarter	
Sales, net	\$	296,307	\$	421,134	\$	451,272	\$	396,693	
Operating profit (loss)		(15,694)		47,426		56,057		26,415	
Net income (loss)		(20,960)		18,128		22,633		5,079	
Net income available to common shareholders	(26,305)			12,584		16,892		(803)	
Net income per common share:									
Basic	\$	(0.55)	\$	0.26	\$	0.35	\$	(0.02)	
Diluted	\$	(0.55)	\$	0.26	\$	0.35	\$	(0.02)	
Average number of common shares:									
Basic	47,850,928		47,931,770		47,972,191		4	7,972,191	
Diluted	4	7,850,928	4	7,931,770	4	7,972,191	4	7,972,191	

Quarters ended 2004

	First Quarter		Second Quarter						Oct. 1 to Dec. 22(2)		Dec. 23 to Dec. 31(1)	
Sales, net	\$ 268,030	\$	389,775	\$	376,266	\$	263,224	\$	20,285			
Operating profit (loss)	20,027	•	45,233		53,497	•	(58,408)	·	(6,633)			
Net income (loss)	17,187		42,394		51,168		(58,389)		(4,666)			
Net income available to common shareholders	17,187		42,394		51,168		(58,389)		(5,194)			
Net income (loss) per common share:												

Basic	\$	0.36		0.89	\$	1.07	\$	(1.22)	\$	(0.11)
Diluted	\$	0.36	\$	0.89	\$	1.07	\$	(1.22)	\$	(0.11)
Average number of common shares(3):										
Basic	47,	850,928	47,	850,928	47,	850,928	47	,850,928	47	,850,928
Diluted	47,	850,928	47,	850,928	47,	850,928	47	,850,928	47	,850,928

- (1) For the quarter ended March 31, 2005 and the period ended December 31, 2004, the operating profit and net income reflect a \$39.6 million and \$4.4 million charge, respectively for the effect of the inventory valuation step-up resulting from the Acquisition.
- (2) For the period ended December 22, 2004, the operating profit and net income reflect a \$68.8 million charge related to acquisition related expenses.
- (3) For comparability purposes, the average shares outstanding used to compute earnings per share for the predecessor company quarters in 2004 are the average shares outstanding of the successor company as of the date of the Acquisition.

F-32

Goodman Global, Inc.

Notes to consolidated financial statements (continued)

14. Subsequent Event

The financial statements give retroactive effect to a 7.580345-for-1 stock split of the Company s common stock that was effective April 4, 2006.

F-33

23,529,411 shares

Common stock

Prospectus

JPMorgan Merrill Lynch & Co. Goldman, Sachs & Co.

Credit Suisse

Deutsche Bank Securities

Lehman Brothers

KeyBanc Capital Markets

, 2006

No action is being taken in any jurisdiction outside the United States to permit a public offering of the common shares or possession or distribution of this prospectus in that jurisdiction. Persons who come into possession of this prospectus in jurisdictions outside the United States are required to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions as to this offering and the distribution of this prospectus applicable to that jurisdiction.

Until , 2006 (25 days after the date of the prospectus), all dealers that buy, sell or trade in our common shares, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This requirement is in addition to the dealers obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.

Part II

Information not required in the prospectus

Item 13. Other expenses of issuance and distribution.

Set forth below is a table of the registration fee for the Securities and Exchange Commission, the filing fee for the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., the listing fee for the New York Stock Exchange and estimates of all other expenses to be incurred in connection with the issuance and distribution of the securities described in the registration statement, other than underwriting discounts and commissions.

SEC registration fee	\$ 49,220
NASD filing fee	46,000
Exchange listing fee	175,000
Printing and engraving expenses	250,000
Legal fees and expenses	2,000,000
Accounting fees and expenses	250,000
Transfer agent and registrar fees	10,000
Miscellaneous	1,000,000
Total	\$3,780,220
	. , ,

Item 14. Indemnification of directors and officers.

We are incorporated in Delaware. Under Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation has the power, under specified circumstances, to indemnify its directors, officers, employees and agents in connection with actions, suits or proceedings brought against them by a third party or in the right of the corporation, by reason of the fact that they were or are such directors, officers, employees or agents, against expenses incurred in any such action, suit or proceeding. Our restated and amended certificate of incorporation will require indemnification of directors and officers to the full extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law and provide that, in any action by a claimant, we shall bear the burden of proof that the claimant is not entitled to indemnification. Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law also allows a corporation to provide contractual indemnification to its directors, and we will enter into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and our executive officers whereby we are contractually obligated to indemnify the director and officer and advance expenses to the full extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law.

Section 102(b)(7) of the Delaware General Corporation Law provides that a certificate of incorporation may contain a provision eliminating or limiting the personal liability of a director to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director provided that such provision shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a director (i) for any breach of the director s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) under Section 174 (relating to liability for unauthorized acquisitions or redemptions of, or dividends on, capital stock) of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will contain the provisions permitted by

Section 102(b)(7) of

II-1

the Delaware General Corporation Law. The effect of these provisions is to eliminate our and our stockholders rights (through stockholders derivative suits on behalf of us) to recover monetary damages against a director for breach of the fiduciary duty of care as a director (including breaches resulting from negligent or grossly negligent behavior) except in the situations described in clauses (i) through (iv) above. The limitations described above, however, do not affect the ability of us or our stockholders to seek non-monetary based remedies, such as an injunction or rescission, against a director for breach of his fiduciary duty nor would such limitations limit liability under the federal securities laws.

Item 15. Recent sales of unregistered securities.

During the past three years, we have issued unregistered securities to a limited number of persons, as described below. None of these transactions involved any underwriters or any public offerings and we believe that each of these transactions was exempt from registration requirements pursuant to Section 3(a)(9) or Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, Regulation D promulgated thereunder, Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Rule 701 of the Securities Act of 1933 pursuant to compensatory benefit plans and contracts related to compensation as provided under Rule 701. The recipients of the securities in these transactions represented their intention to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates and instruments issued in these transactions.

- 1. In connection with the acquisition of the company by Apollo Management, L.P. on December 23, 2004, we issued 216,411 shares of 9.5% Series A Cumulative Senior Redeemable Exchangeable Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$225.0 million. The issuance of these securities was exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as transactions by the issuer not involving a public offering. We determined that the purchasers of the securities in this transaction were either accredited or sophisticated investors and were provided access to all relevant information necessary to evaluate the investment.
- 2. In connection with the acquisition of the company by Apollo Management, L.P. on December 23, 2004, we issued 6,071,531 shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$252.5 million. The issuance of these securities was exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as transactions by the issuer not involving a public offering. We determined that the purchasers of the securities in this transaction were either accredited or sophisticated investors and were provided access to all relevant information necessary to evaluate the investment.
- 3. On December 23, 2004, our subsidiary, Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., issued \$250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2012 and \$400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 7⁷/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2012 to UBS Securities LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., Credit Suisse First Boston LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, the initial purchasers, who subsequently resold the notes to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act and to non-U.S. persons outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act.
- 4. On December 23, 2004, we issued to certain employees and members of our management options pursuant to our 2004 Stock Option Plan exercisable for 3,472,192 shares of our common stock at a price of \$5.28 per share. The issuance of these options was exempt from registration

Table of Contents 221

II-2

under the Securities Act in reliance on Rule 701 of the Securities Act, as we were not subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act at the time the options were issued, the options were issued pursuant to our 2004 Stock Option Plan, a copy of which was made available to each recipient of options in connection with this transaction, and the aggregate sales price of the options issued during any consecutive 12-month period in reliance of Rule 701 did not exceed 15% of our total assets, measured as of our most recent balance sheet date.

- 5. On December 23, 2004, we issued 240,969 shares of common stock and 8,589 shares of preferred stock to certain members of senior management. The purchase price of our common stock was \$40.00 per share, without giving effect to the stock split, and the purchase price of our preferred stock was \$1,000 per share. The issuance of these securities was exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as transactions by the issuer not involving a public offering. We determined that the purchasers of the securities in this transaction were either accredited or sophisticated investors and were provided access to all relevant information necessary to evaluate the investment.
- 6. On April 18, 2005, we issued 15,997 shares of common stock and 570 shares of preferred stock to certain members of management. The purchase price of our common stock was \$40.00 per share, without giving effect to the stock split, and the purchase price of our preferred stock was \$1,000 per share. The issuance of these securities was exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as transactions by the issuer not involving a public offering. We determined that the purchasers of the securities in this transaction were either accredited or sophisticated investors and were provided access to all relevant information necessary to evaluate the investment.
- 7. Between March 1, 2005 and May 2, 2005, we issued to certain employees, members of our management and our directors options pursuant to our 2004 Stock Option Plan exercisable for 462,401 shares of our common stock at a weighted average price of \$5.28 per share. The issuance of these options was exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Rule 701 of the Securities Act, as we were not subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act at the time the options were issued, the options were issued pursuant to our 2004 Stock Option Plan, a copy of which was made available to each recipient of options in connection with this transaction, and the aggregate sales price of the options issued during any consecutive 12-month period in reliance of Rule 701 did not exceed 15% of our total assets, measured as of our most recent balance sheet date.
- 8. On December 29, 2005, we issued to certain employees and members of our management, options pursuant to our 2004 Stock Option Plan exercisable for 716,343 shares of our common stock at a price of \$14.52 per share. The issuance of these options was exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Rule 701 of the Securities Act, as we were not subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act at the time the options were issued, the options were issued pursuant to our 2004 Stock Option Plan, a copy of which was made available to each recipient of options in connection with this transaction, and the aggregate sales price of the options issued during any consecutive 12-month period in reliance of Rule 701 did not exceed 15% of our total assets, measured as of our most recent balance sheet date.

II-3

Item 16. Exhibits and financial statement schedules.

(A) Exhibits

Exhibit no.	Description of exhibit
1.1*	Form of Underwriting Agreement.
1.2*	Form of Side Letter to Underwriting Agreement.
2.1	Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, by and among Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., Frio Holdings, Inc. and Frio, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
3.1*	Form of Amended and Restated Amended Certificate of Incorporation of Goodman Global, Inc.
3.2*	Form of Amended and Restated By-laws of Goodman Global, Inc.
4.1*	Specimen Stock Certificate
5.1*	Opinion of Latham & Watkins LLP special counsel to Goodman Global, Inc., dated March 30, 2006.
10.1	Credit Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2004 among Goodman Global, Inc., Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., the Lenders party thereto from time to time, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders, UBS Securities LLC, as syndication agent, Credit Suisse First Boston, acting through its Cayman Islands branch, as documentation agent, and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and UBS Securities LLC as joint lead arrangers and joint book managers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.2	Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, among Goodman Global, Inc., Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.3	Management Consulting Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Apollo Management V L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.4	Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Charles A. Carroll (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.5	Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Lawrence M. Blackburn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.6	Certificate of Designation for the 9 1/2% Series A Cumulative Senior Redeemable Exchangeable Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).

11-4

Exhibit no.	Description of exhibit
10.7	Stockholders Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, by and among the investors listed thereto, Frio Holdings, LLC and Goodman Global, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Exhibit 10.7 on Amendment No. 2 on Form S-4, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.8	Syndicate Investors Stockholders Agreement, dated February 17, 2005, by and among Goodman Global, Inc., Frio Holdings LLC and each of the purchasers who become parties thereto. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 on Amendment No. 2 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.9	Management Stockholders Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, by and among Goodman Global, Inc., Frio Holdings, LLC and each of the individual purchasers who become party thereto. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 on Amendment No. 2 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.10	Senior Floating Rate Indenture, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., as issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.11	Form of Senior Floating Rate Initial Note (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.12	Form of Senior Floating Rate Exchange Note (included as Exhibit B to Exhibit 4.1) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.13	7 ⁷ /8% Senior Subordinated Indenture, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., as issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.14	Form of 7 ⁷ /8% Senior Subordinated Initial Note (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.4) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.15	Form of 7 ⁷ /8% Senior Subordinated Exchange Note (included as Exhibit B to Exhibit 4.4) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.16	Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, by and among Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., as issuer, the Guarantors named therein, UBS Securities, LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. as initial purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.17	2004 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).

II-5

Exhibit no.	Description of exhibit
10.18	First Amendment to 2004 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.19	Second Amendment to 2004 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.20	2006 Incentive Award Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.21	First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global, Inc. and Charles A Carroll (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.22	First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global, Inc. and Lawrence M. Blackburn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.23	Form of Executive Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.24	Form of First Amendment to Executive Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.25*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Ben D. Campbell.
10.26*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Donald R. King.
10.27*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Peter H. Alexander.
10.28*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Samuel G. Bikman.
10.29*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Gary L. Clark.
10.30*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and James L. Mishler.
10.31*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Terrance M. Smith.
10.32*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and William L. Topper.
10.33*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated April 18, 2005, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Michael J. Bride.

II-6

Exhibit no.	Description of exhibit
10.34*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated April 18, 2005, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Mark M. Dolan.
10.35*	Lease Agreement, dated December 1, 1994, between the Daniel Childrens 1991 Trust, the Lucy Hughes Abell 1991 Trust, the Sam Houston Abell 1991 Trust, the JBG Childrens 1991 Trust, the Hutton Gregory Goodman 1990 Trust, the Hannah Jane Goodman 1990 Trust, the Mary Jane Goodman 1990 Trust and the Harold Viterbo Goodman, II 1990 Trust and Goodman Manufacturing Company, L.P.
10.36*	Form of First Amendment to Stockholders Agreement by and between John B. Goodman and Apollo Management V, LP.
10.37*	First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated March 17, 2006, among Goodman Global, Inc., Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., the Lenders party thereto from time to time, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders, UBS Securities LLC, as syndication agent, Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch, as documentation agent, and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. as lead arranger and sole bookrunner.
21.1*	Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
23.1*	Consent of Latham & Watkins LLP, special counsel to Goodman Global, Inc. (included in Exhibit 5.1).
23.2	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
23.3*	Power of Attorney.
99.1*	Consent of Michael D. Weiner.
99.2*	Consent of David W. Oskin.

Filed herewith.

* Filed in previous filing.

(B) Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements are omitted because the information called for is not required or is shown either in the Registrant s consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto

Item 17. Undertakings

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrants pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrants have been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrants in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrants will, unless in the opinion of their counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that:

- (1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or Rule 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.
- (2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriters at the closing specified in the Underwriting Agreement, certificates in such denomination and registered in such names as required by the underwriters to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.

II-8

Signature

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Houston, State of Texas, on April 5, 2006.

_	Charles A. Carroll
Ву:	/s/ Charles A. Carroll
Good	lman Global, Inc.

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Charles A. Carroll	President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)	April 5, 2006
Charles A. Carroll	Birodor (Fillopar Exceditive Officer)	
/s/ Lawrence M. Blackburn	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)	April 5, 2006
Lawrence M. Blackburn	contact (consequently	
*	Director	April 5, 2006
Laurence M. Berg		
*	Director	April 5, 2006
Anthony M. Civale		
*	Director	April 5, 2006
John B. Goodman		
*	Director	April 5, 2006
Steven Martinez		
*/s/ Lawrence M. Blackburn		
Lawrence M. Blackburn		

Edgar Filing: Goodman Global Inc - Form S-1/A

Attorney-in-Fact

II-9

Exhibits and financial statement schedules.

Exhibit no.	Description of exhibit
1.1*	Form of Underwriting Agreement.
1.2*	Form of Side Letter to Underwriting Agreement.
2.1	Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, by and among Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., Frio Holdings, Inc. and Frio, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
3.1*	Form of Amended and Restated Amended Certificate of Incorporation of Goodman Global, Inc.
3.2*	Form of Amended and Restated By-laws of Goodman Global, Inc.
4.1*	Specimen Stock Certificate
5.1*	Opinion of Latham & Watkins LLP special counsel to Goodman Global, Inc., dated March 30, 2006.
10.1	Credit Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2004 among Goodman Global, Inc., Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., the Lenders party thereto from time to time, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders, UBS Securities LLC, as syndication agent, Credit Suisse First Boston, acting through its Cayman Islands branch, as documentation agent, and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and UBS Securities LLC as joint lead arrangers and joint book managers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.2	Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, among Goodman Global, Inc., Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., the Guarantors party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.3	Management Consulting Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Apollo Management V L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.4	Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Charles A. Carroll (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.5	Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Lawrence M. Blackburn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.6	Certificate of Designation for the 9 1/2% Series A Cumulative Senior Redeemable Exchangeable Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).

Exhibit no.	Description of exhibit
10.7	Stockholders Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, by and among the investors listed thereto, Frio Holdings, LLC and Goodman Global, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Exhibit 10.7 on Amendment No. 2 on Form S-4, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.8	Syndicate Investors Stockholders Agreement, dated February 17, 2005, by and among Goodman Global, Inc., Frio Holdings LLC and each of the purchasers who become parties thereto. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 on Amendment No. 2 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.9	Management Stockholders Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, by and among Goodman Global, Inc., Frio Holdings, LLC and each of the individual purchasers who become party thereto. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Amendment No. 2 on Form S-4, filed with the SEC on December 19, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.10	Senior Floating Rate Indenture, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., as issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.11	Form of Senior Floating Rate Initial Note (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.12	Form of Senior Floating Rate Exchange Note (included as Exhibit B to Exhibit 4.1) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.13	7 ⁷ /8% Senior Subordinated Indenture, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., as issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.14	Form of 7 ⁷ /8% Senior Subordinated Initial Note (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.4) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.15	Form of 7 ⁷ /8% Senior Subordinated Exchange Note (included as Exhibit B to Exhibit 4.4) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.16	Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, by and among Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., as issuer, the Guarantors named therein, UBS Securities, LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. as initial purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on September 21, 2005, File No. 333-128462).
10.17	2004 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).

Exhibit no.	Description of exhibit
10.18	First Amendment to 2004 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.19	Second Amendment to 2004 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.20	2006 Incentive Award Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.21	First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global, Inc. and Charles A Carroll (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.22	First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2004, between Goodman Global, Inc. and Lawrence M. Blackburn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.23	Form of Executive Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.24	Form of First Amendment to Executive Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 on Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2006, File No. 333-128462).
10.25*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Ben D. Campbell.
10.26*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Donald R. King.
10.27*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Peter H. Alexander.
10.28*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Samuel G. Bikman.
10.29*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Gary L. Clark.
10.30*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and James L. Mishler.
10.31*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Terrance M. Smith.
10.32*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated November 18, 2004, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and William L. Topper.
10.33*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated April 18, 2005, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Michael J. Bride.

Exhibit no.	Description of exhibit
10.34*	Non-Competition Agreement, dated April 18, 2005, between Goodman Global Holdings, Inc. and Mark M. Dolan.
10.35*	Lease Agreement, dated December 1, 1994, between the Daniel Childrens 1991 Trust, the Lucy Hughes Abell 1991 Trust, the Sam Houston Abell 1991 Trust, the JBG Childrens 1991 Trust, the Hutton Gregory Goodman 1990 Trust, the Hannah Jane Goodman 1990 Trust, the Mary Jane Goodman 1990 Trust and the Harold Viterbo Goodman, II 1990 Trust and Goodman Manufacturing Company, L.P.
10.36*	Form of First Amendment to Stockholders Agreement by and between John B. Goodman and Apollo Management V, LP.
10.37*	First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated March 17, 2006, among Goodman Global, Inc., Goodman Global Holdings, Inc., the Lenders party thereto from time to time, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders, UBS Securities LLC, as syndication agent, Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch, as documentation agent, and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. as lead arranger and sole bookrunner.
21.1*	Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
23.1*	Consent of Latham & Watkins LLP, special counsel to Goodman Global, Inc. (included in Exhibit 5.1).
23.2	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
23.3*	Power of Attorney.
99.1*	Consent of Michael D. Weiner.
99.2*	Consent of David W. Oskin.

Filed herewith.

 ^{*} Filed in previous filing.